FEB - FRESENIUS ENVIRONMENTAL BULLETIN

Founded jointly by F. Korte and F. Coulston Production by PSP - Vimy Str. 1e, 85354 Freising, Germany in cooperation with PRT-Parlar Research & Technology - Vimy Str 1e, 85354 Freising Copyright© by PSP and PRT, Vimy Str. 1e, 85354 Freising, Germany

All rights are reserved, especially the right to translate into foreign language or other processes - or convert to a machine language, especially for data processing equipment - without written permission of the publisher. The rights of reproduction by lecture, radio and television transmission, magnetic sound recording or similar means are also reserved.

Printed in Germany-ISSN 1018-4619



FEB-EDITORIAL BOARD

CHIEF EDITOR:

Prof. Dr. H. Parlar Parlar Research & Technology-PRT Vimy Str.1e 85354 Freising, Germany

CO-EDITORS:

Environmental Spectroscopy Prof. Dr. A. Piccolo Universita di Napoli "Frederico II" Dipto. Di Scienze Chemica Agrarie Via Universita 100, 80055 Portici, Italy **Environmental Biology** Prof. Dr. G. Schuurmann UFZ-Umweltzentrum Sektion Chemische Ökotoxikologie Leipzig-Halle GmbH, Permoserstr.15, 04318 04318 Leipzig, Germany Prof. Dr. I. Holoubek Recetox-Tocoen Kamenice126/3, 62500 Brno, Czech Republic Prof. Dr. M. Hakki Alma Igdir Universitesi 76000, Igdir, Turkey Prof. Dr. A. Reichlmayr-Lais Technical University of Munich Arcisstraße 31 80333 Muenchen, Germany Environmental Management Dr. K. I. Nikolaou Env.Protection of Thessaloniki OMPEPT-54636 Thessaloniki Greece **Environmental Toxicology** Prof. Dr. H. Greim

Senatkommision - DFG / TUM 85350 Freising, Germany

ADVISORY BOARD

Dr. D. C. G. Muir University of Guelph School of Environmental Sciences 50 Stone Road East Guelph,Ontario,N1G 2W1,Canada

Dr. J. P. Lay Environmental Biologist Wittlagerstraße.20 49152 Bad Essen

Prof. Dr. R. Nießner Institut für Wasserchemie und Chemische Balneologie

Lehrstuhl für analytische Chemie der TU München Marchioninisraße 17 81377 München, Germany

Prof. Dr. W. Vetter Institute für Lebensmittelchemie Universität Stuttgart 70593 Stuttgart, Germany

Marketing Manager Cansu Ekici, MSC. of B.A. PRT-Research and Technology Vimy Str 1e 85354 Freising, Germany

MANAGING EDITOR:

Dr. P. Parlar Parlar Research & Technology-PRT Vimy Str.1e 85354 Freising, Germany

Environmental Analytical Chemistry

Prof. Dr. M. Bahadir Lehrstuhl für Ökologische Chemie und Umweltanalytik TU Braunschweig Lehrstuhl für Ökologische Chemie Hagenring 30, 38106 Braunschweig, Germany Dr. D. Kotzias Via Germania29 21027 Barza(Va), Italy Prof. Dr. R. Kallenborn Norwegian University of Life Sciences Universitetstunet 3 1430 As, Norway Environmental Education Prof. Dr. C. Bayat Yeni Yüzyil Üniversitesi 34010 Zeytinburnu, Istanbul, Turkey **Environmental Medicine** Prof. Dr. I. Tumen Bandirma 17 Eylül Üniversitesi 10200 Bandirma, Turkey Dr. J. Burhenne Universitaet Klinikum Im Neuenheim Feld 410 69120 Heidelberg, Germany **Environmental Proteomic** Dr. A. Fanous Halal Control GmbH Stahlstraße 44 D-65428 Rüsselsheim, Germany

Prof. Dr. C. E. W. Steinberg

Institute für Biologie Arbeitsgruppe Gewässerökologie Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin Späthstraße 80/81 12437 Berlin, Germany

Prof. Dr. L. O. Ruzo EAG Laboratories GmbH Eislelauer Weg 4 89081 Ulm, Germany

Prof. Dr. K. Fischer Analytische und Ökologische Chemie Universität Trier Beringstraße 21, 54296 Trier

Prof. Dr. K. Bester Environmental Chemistry Aarhus Universitet Nordre Ringgade 1,8000 Aarhus ,Denmark

E-Mail: harun.parlar@tum.de parlar@prt-parlar.de Phone: +49/8161887988



Fresenius Environmental Bulletin is abstracted/indexed in:

Biology & Environmental Sciences, C.A.B. International, Cambridge Scientific Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts, Current Awareness, Current Contents/ Agriculture, IBIDS database, Information Ventures, Research Alert, SciSearch, Selected Water Resources Abstracts, EBSCO



CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PAPERS

APPLICATION OF HACCP SYSTEM AT THE LEVEL OF A CENTRAL UNIVERSITY CATERING IN SAIDA CITY (MICROBIOLOGICAL STUDY)	3293
Didaoui Hayat, Bassou Djilali, Douha Kawter, Ayadi Chahinez	
DEGRADATION OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS USING MICRO / NANOROD MOLECULAR SIEVE IN A COMBINED REACTOR	3305
Chiu-Hsuan Lee, Je-Lueng Shie, Yen Li, Yun-Jie Lu, Min-Hao Yuan, Yi-Hung Chen, Hung-Te Hsu, Ching-Yuan Chang	
MONITORING SUMMER CHLLOROPHYLIAN ACTIVITY, ALGEA BLOOMS AND SUSPENDED MATTER USING SENTINEL-3 DATA IN GOOGLE EARTH ENGINE IN THE MEDITERANEAN COAST (WESTERN ALGERIA)	3317
Abdelkader Boumelik, Abbassia Ayache, Mohamed Islem Bouacha, Hamza Mohammed Belkebir	
COMPARATIVE TOXIC EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL AND BOTANICAL INSECTICIDES ON THE REPRODUCTION AND OXIDATIVE STRESS PARAMETERS IN THE <i>Wistar</i> MALE RAT	3332
Tektak Mohamed, Mallem Leila, Renault David, Chouabia Amel	
ASSESSMENT OF SUB-ACUTE ORAL ADMINISTRATION OF AN AQUEOUS EXTRACT OF <i>Drimia Maritima's</i> BULB AND LEAVES ON LIVER AND KIDNEY FUNCTION IN ALBINO WISTAR RATS	3343
Rania Soual, Leila Kirane Amrani, Bochra Baali, Youcef Islam Hamida, Chaima Smili, Abdelmadjid Bairi	
STUDY OF THE REPRODUCTION AND GROWTH OF <i>Sander Lucioperca</i> FROM BOUHAMDANE DAM, GUELMA, ALGERIA Rezaiguia Wafa, Oudainia Salah Eddine, Kaizouri Mohamed, Allalgua Amel, Khacha Nadjette, Rachedi Mounira, Menasria Amel, Kaouachi Nouha	3355
PHYSICOCHEMICAL, BIOCHEMICAL AND MICROBIOLOGICAL QUALITY OF DRIED AND SALTED CAMEL MEAT (KADID) FROM THE SOUTHWESTERN REGIONS OF ALGERIA Elhassan Benyagoub, Abdelouahab Mammeri	3370
THE BENEFIT EFFECT OF SALICYLIC ACID ONPHYSIO-BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERS OF FABA BEAN (<i>Viciafaba</i> L.) UNDER LEAD STRESS Naima Layachi, Zine Kechrid	3387
•	

FEB

APPLICATION OF HACCP SYSTEM AT THE LEVEL OF A CENTRAL UNIVERSITY CATERING IN SAIDA CITY (MICROBIOLOGICAL STUDY)

Didaoui Hayat^{1,*}, Bassou Djilali^{2,3}, Douha Kawter¹, Ayadi Chahinez¹

¹Department of Biology, Faculty of Natural and Life Sciences, University Dr Moulay Tahar, Saida, Algeria,
 ² Physical and Macromolecular Organic Chemistry Laboratory
 ³Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Exact Sciences, Djillali Liabes University, Sidi Bel Abbes, Algeria

ABSTRACT

HACCP is a systematic approach to the identification, evaluation, and control of food safety hazards. Hygiene of food refers to is the measures and conditions necessary to control the dangers (biological, chemical and physical) and to guarantee the specific character of the food.

Human consumption of food taking into account the intended use and also is defined as a set of simple rules to help prevent food poisoning so that food can be consumed without in complete safety. The implementation of this system at the Student Cafeteria (University of Saida), has allowed us to retain some CCPs linked to microbiological risks at the preparation and distribution levels, as well as surfaces, materials, air and personnel. The results show non-compliance with hygiene practices for the premises, materials and equipment. The hygiene and behavior of staff during the preparation and the distribution of food was unsatisfactory. The storage conditions for raw foods were unacceptable. In order to guarantee student safety, we have proposed certain corrective measures to remedy any malfunctions. Employee awareness and training in food quality and safety is essential.

KEYWORDS:

HACCP, Food, CCP, Microbiological risks, meals, Hy-giene

INTRODUCTION

The HACCP system is a food hazard analysis and control system that was perfected at the end of the 1960s. The Pillsbury Company (United States) developed it at the request from NASA who wanted to avoid food poisoning for astronauts on mission. Since then, the method has continued to evolve, improve and respond [1], [2]. It was in 1971 that the HACCP concept was presented publicly for the first time by The Pillsbury Company. The completion of the use of the principles of the HACCP system by the Food and Drug Administration in the USA was carried out in 1974, for the elaboration of the health regulations for weakly acidic products. In 1993, the Codex Alimentarius published guidelines for the application of HACCP system. The same year, through Directive 93/43/EC, the European Union made it mandatory to apply the principles of HACCP in the food businesses of its Member States [3], [4].

In 1995 France introduced the HACCP concept of catering. Since the year 2000 the majority of companies (large, medium and small) have adopted the food safety system in Europe [5], [6]. In 2005, the ISO 22000 standard incorporated the HACCP system among its principles [7]. Since 2009, Algerian legislation on food safety has provided that companies must carry out a risk analysis according to the principles of the HACCP of the codex alimentarius [8], [9]. HACCP is the English abbreviation of «Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points», that is to say "risk analysis and critical control points" is a method used to identify, assess and control hazards that threaten product safety based on scientific and coherent bases [10], [11].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Presentation of the internship location. We carried out our study in the central university catering headquarter, which was inaugurated in 2014, and meets the needs of 800 students. Daily visits for 3 weeks were carried out to check on site the progress of the various culinary preparation operations.

Description of central university restaurant. The following apply to the restaurant which served only lunch:

Two positive cold rooms (one of which was working): for the storage of yogurt, juice, kosher food and eggs;

Vegetable storage room: for storing potatoes, onions, carrots and tomatoes;

 \Box Food storage room: for the storage of spices, olives, concentrated tomatoes, pulses and oil;

FEB

		ABLE 1 sity Catering Checklist
	Headings	Ascertainment
	Cold room	Existing: yes x no
		Cleaning: yes X no
Storage of food	Feeding chamber	The food items are placed: Good X by
items	The vegetable room	Cleaned: yes X no
	The butcher's shop	Cleaned: yes X no
	Food Items	Separation Respected: yesX no
	Transportation	Respect of the cold chain: Yes no x
		Refrigerated car: yes no x
	Follow-up register	Existence :yes no x
		Recording Regulation: yes no x
	Temperature	Control: yes no x
	The preparation culinury room	Vast: yes x no
	Preparation	Disinfection :Adequate no x/ Quality of water used: Adequate no x
Preparation	Preparation medium	Respect of hygienic conditions: yes no x
methodology		place of preparation: Table x floor
-	D.F and D.P products used	Verification : yes x no
	Method of preparation	Professional: yes no x
		Wearing work clothes: The blouse: yes x no/
		Headgear yes no x
	Clathing	Non-slip shoes: yes no x
	Clothing	Shaved beards: yes no x
		hand washed: yes no x nail clipped: yes no
		nail clipped: yes no For some people x
-		Graduate staff: yes no x
	Personal hygiene	Medical monitoring: yes x no
	i ersonar nygiene	Periodicity of the control: every 6 months
	Training	Existing Non-existent x
	Local	Aération : Good Average Bad x
		Presence of pets: yes no x
Service	Drinking Water	Availability: yes x no
	Walls	Cleaned: Certain
	Ceiling	Cleaned: yes no/ Sign of deterioration: yes x
Local	Coning	no
	Doors and windows	Cleaned: yes no x
	Floor	Cleaned: Good Bad x
	Lighting	Sufficient: yes no x
	Aeration	Sufficient: yes no
	Health facility	Presence of sinks: yes no x
	2	Presence of soap dispenser yes no x
		Notices are posted in appropriate places calling on
		employees to wash their hands: yes no x
		Displayed notices of protection against coronavirus: yes no
		notices displayed for the bib holder: yes no x
	Drains	Sufficient number: yes no x
	Trash can	Closed : yes no x
	Animals	Pets: yes no x
Equipment		Flies and mosquitoes yes no z
	Dishes	Cleaning: Good bad
	Thermometer	Presence: yes no x
	butcher's table	Presence of holes: yes x no x
Deven di	Utensils	Arranged: yes no
Preparation	Meat cutter	Respect hygiene rules: yes no x
methodology		



□ Two changing rooms (for women and men); Student dining room; kitchen; butchery for washing, chopping, cutting and boning of fresh meat ; Sanitary installation.

Description of catering staff. The restaurant had with a single team which is made up of 1 cook, 7 waiters (3 women and 4 men), 2 cleaners and 2 controllers.

Restoration Inspection. We carried out a control at the level of the restoration (Table 1)

Analysis of the operation of the restoration. A. The kitchen and the distribution area are not cleaned which allows for the spread of bacteria;

B. The kitchen floor is deteriorated;

C. There are water leaks (broken faucets);

D. The butcher's table is poorly cleaned and contains holes that promote the growth of pathogenic bacteria;

E. Food items: there is no storage room for bread;

F. Clothing: staff do not wear caps and gloves during distribution (hair is a source of contamination);

G. Personal hygiene: beards, dirty hands and nails: allow contamination between the raw food and the personnel;

H. The same person may be used for different tasks in different sectors;

I. Ceiling: existence of spiders;

J. Trash can: always open and is right next to dishes (dishes) with an unpleasant smell, no waste management system;

K. Cleaning of dishes: it is done in poor hygienic conditions;

L. The absence of air conditioners for ventilation

Material. The material on which our study focused concerns ready meals intended for students. We chose the first course cooked at lunch.

The cooked dish chosen is composed of:

✓ Lentil soup; Beet salad; Green salad; Chicken; Kosher and Juice.

A. Lentil soup: this soup is made up of: Lentils; Oil; Vegetables: onions, tomatoes, carrots and potatoes; Spices: Salt, Cumin, Black pepper, Red pepper and Concentrated tomato.

B. Beet salad: Beet; Vinaigrette (oil, salt and vinegar).

C. Green salad: Green salad;Tomato; Vinaigrette (oil, salt and vinegar).

D. Chicken: Chicken; Oil; Spices: salt, cumin, black pepper and saffron.

E. Kosher: packaged marketed product. **F. Dessert Juice**

Methods. We carried out two methods to carry out our study in order to verify the rules of hygiene:

□ Methods of microbiological analysis;

 \Box Methods of application of HACCP.

Microbiological analysis method. We carried out the microbiological analyzes at the level of the hygiene laboratory in Saida, the CACQE laboratory in Saida and the microbiology laboratory at the level of our Biology department.

Microbiological analysis of food (the selected cooked dish). Microbiological analysis of the preparation water. We carried out microbiological analysis of the preparation water at the Saida hygiene laboratory.

□ Sample collection

For the microbiological analyses, the sample was taken according to the following steps:

 \Box Clean the tap and disinfect it by flame;

 \Box Prepare clean glass bottles for sampling;

 \Box Open the sampling valve and allow water to flow for at least 2 minutes before collection;

 \Box Uncork the bottle, flambé its neck;

 \Box Fill the bottle slowly at a low rate to avoid turbulence;

Release the cap from its casing;

 $\hfill\square$ Close and label the sample bottles determining the sampling point, date and time.

Microbiological analysis of the surface and material. We took the sample using the wet swab method:

 \Box Moisten the swabs with sterile distilled water;

 \Box Rub the swab on the surface and the material;

□ Inoculate on the culture media already poured into the petrie dishes.

We carried out the control of the surfaces "after cleaning" on:

 \Box Kitchen wall;

 \Box Kitchen floor;

 \Box The bench of the distribution chain;

 \Box Wall of the butchery;

 \Box Floor of the butchery;

 $\hfill\square$ The butcher's table.

Concerning the control of the material we carried out the sampling on:

□ A cooked dish and the knife "after cleaning"

Microbiological analysis of the air. We carried out the air control on the following media:

□ "Positive" storage chamber; Food storage room; The kitchen and the butcher's room.

Method of application of HACCP. Our experiment involves the application of the HACCP

system at the level of the central university catering in Saïda. Our study took place during the period of January - March 2022.

HACCP steps. -Constitution of the HACCP team

The HACCP team was structured as follows: The project supervisor; Trainees: two students enrolled in the "master 2" applied microbiology program; The head of the catering service (Biologist); The chef.

-Field of study

 \Box Product of the "cooked meal" study;

 \Box The nature of the microbiological hazards;

 $\hfill\square$ Level of application: from the receipt of raw materials to the release for consumption of ready meals.

-Description of the product (cooked meal)

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



We chose the first dish of the week consisting of:

□ Lentil soup; Beet salad; Green salad; Chicken; Kosher; Juice.

Expected use. Consumption by students as a hot meal (on site and at mealtimes);

The consumption of cooked dishes must allow an energy balance, the dishes will be consumed preferably at a temperature of 35°C-50°C;

On-site verification of manufacturing diagram. This step consists of on-site verification of the preparation diagram for the lentil, chicken, beet salad, green salad, kosher and juice soup.

We compared the flow of activities to the diagram of operations during working hours.

Washing; cutting and draining of the material are carried out in poor hygienic conditions.

CCPs	for the	prepai	ration (of lentil s	oup	
Step 1						
Decision tree	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation
Critical point						
Receiving the ingredient "onion "	Yes	Yes			CCP	Contamination step
Storage	Yes	Yes			CCP	Contamination step
Onion washing and cutting	Yes	Yes			CCP	Contamination step
Add oil + spices + concentrated tomato + salt	Yes	No	No		No CCP	No contamination step
Cooking	Yes	No	Yes	s Yes	No CCP	No contamination step
Add water	Yes	No	No		No CCP	No contamination step
Cooking	Yes	No	Yes	s Oui	No CCP	No contamination step
Transfer	No	No			No CCP	No contamination step
Step 2						,
Decision tree Critical point	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	ССР	Observation
Reception of potato and carrot vegeta- bles	Yes	Yes			ССР	contamination step
Storage	Yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step
Potato and carrot washing and cutting	Yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step
Transfer	No	No			No CCP	No contamination step
Step 3						
Decision tree	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation
Critical point						
Reception of the 1st "lentils" material	No	No			No CCP	No contamination step
Storage	No	No			No CCP	No contamination step
Lentils sorting Oui Oui		CCP	contamination step			
Lentils washing	Oui	Oui			CCP	contamination step
Transferring lentils to the pot	Oui	No	No		No CCP	No contamination step
Adding water	Oui	No	No		No CCP	No contamination step
Cooking	Oui	No	Oui	Oui	No CCP	No contamination step
Distribution	Oui	Oui			CCP	contamination step

 TABLE 2

 CCPs for the preparation of lentil sour

.



The CC	The CCPs of the preparation of beetroot salad						
Decision tree	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation	
Critical point							
Reception of the raw material "beet-	yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step	
root"							
Storage	yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step	
Washing	yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step	
Cooking	yes	No	Yes	yes	no CCP	No contamination step	
Cutting into small squares	yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step	
Transferring to a dish	No	No			no CCP	No contamination step	
Addition of dressing	yes	No	No		No CCP	No contamination step	
Distribution	yes	Yes			CCP	contamination step	

TABLE 3The CCPs of the preparation of beetroot sa

TABLE 4						
The CCPs of the	preparation of the green salad					

Step 1						
Decision tree Critical point	Q1	Q2	Q.	3	Q4 C	CP Observation
Receipt of the 1st ingredient "to- mato"	yes	Yes			С	CP contamination step
Storage	yes	Yes			С	CP contamination step
Washing	yes	Yes			С	CP contamination step
Cutting	yes	Yes			С	CP contamination step
Transfer	No	No			no	CCP No contamination step
tep 2						*
Decision tree Critical point	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	ССР	Observation
Receipt of the raw material "green salad"	yes	yes			ССР	contamination step
Storage	yes	yes			CCP	contamination step
Cutting	yes	yes			CCP	contamination step
Transfer to a large pool	No	No			no CCP	No contamination step
Wash 2 times with water and bleach	yes	yes			CCP	contamination step
Drain in a large colander	yes	No	No		no CCP	No contamination step
Transfer to a large container	Non	No			no CCP	No contamination step
Addition of dressing	yes	No	No		no CCP	No contamination step
Distribution	yes	yes			CCP	contamination step

TABLE 5

	IAD						
Chicken preparation CCPs.							
Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation		
-	-	-	-				
yes	yes			CCP	contamination step		
yes	yes			CCP	contamination step		
yes	yes			CCP	contamination step		
yes	yes			CCP	contamination step		
yes	Non	Non		No CCP	No contamination step		
yes	Non	yes	yes	No CCP	No contamination step		
yes	yes			CCP	contamination step		
	Q1 yes yes yes yes yes yes	Chicken prepQ1Q2yesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesNonyesNon	Q1Q2Q3yesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesNonyesNonyesNon	Chicken preparation CCPs.Q1Q2Q3Q4yesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesyesNonNonyesNonyes	Chicken preparation CCPs.Q1Q2Q3Q4CCPyesyesCCPyesyesCCPyesyesCCPyesyesCCPyesyesNonNo CCPyesNonyesyesyesNonyesyesyesNonYesYesyesNonYesYesyesYesYesYesyesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes		

Hazard analysis. The hazards may constitute CCPs, are determined in several ways:

 \Box The dangers related to the storage conditions (time and Temperature);

 \Box The dangers related to the lack of hygiene (equipment and food items);



Microbiological hazards. To identify the hazards, we used the "5M" method. □ The material: represented the initial source of food contamination;

□ Equipment: represents the different equipment used in catering: knives, cooked dishes, pots, robots, ladles, strainers and containers;

 \Box The environment: represented the premises and the surfaces for preparing and cutting the distribution;

 $\hfill\square$ The method: consists of analyzing the preparation, the handling and the distribution operations;

The workforce: represented by the people who are in the preparation site (waiters and cooks).

Among the sources of microbial contamination are: hands, clothes and hair.

Determine the critical points for the control of CCP hazards

CCPs (Critical Control Points) are essential to prevent, eliminate or reduce a food safety risk to an acceptable level.

We used the decision tree to check the possible CCPs of the different stages of the ready meal preparation diagram (see Tables 2, 3, 4, 5,6 and 7).

Establish critical limits for each CCP. Critical limits are criteria that help distinguish safe products from unsafe products. In our study we determined critical limits for each of the CCPs, and are represented in Tables 2,3, 4,5,6,7.

Establish a monitoring system for each CCP. Consists of performing a series of observations or measurements to determine if a CCP has been controlled.

The existence of a representative dish representative of each dish consumed at the necks of the week, the latter is kept in a special refrigerator at a temperature of 4° C for 3 days. **Establish corrective actions.** Specific pre-established activities must be planned for each CCP to ensure risk control. We have summarized the corrective actions in Tables 8 and 9.

Establish a recording and documentation system. Like any quality approach, HACCP uses the records that are necessary. Two types of documents can be distinguished:

Documentation on the implementation: procedures, operating modes, work instructions, these documents constitute the "HACCP plan"

Records, results, observation, reports, records of decisions.

Establish verification procedures. Verification confirms that the HACCP plan is working effectively.

We performed microbiological analyzes on the selected cooked dish, surface, air, materials and preparation water for verification.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results and interpretations of microbiological analyzes. Results and interpretations of the microbiological analyzes of the selected cooked dish. The results obtained (see tables 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15) are compared with the national standards of the Official Journal of the Algerian Republic N°39 Interministerial decree of 2 Muharram 1438 corresponding to October 4, 2016 setting the microbiology criteria of food items [12].

The number of colonies obtained on each specific medium is expressed in CFU/g for the five samples analyzed.

			TA	BLE	6			
CCPs of kosher preparation								
Decision tree		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation	
Critical point								
Reception of the 1st "kosher" n	nate-	yes	No	No)	No CCP	No contamination step	
rial								
Storage		yes	yes			CCP	contamination step	
Cutting		yes	yes			CCP	contamination step	
Distribution		yes	yes			CCP	contamination step	
				BLE				
		Juic	e prep	arati	on CCPs	6		
Decision tree	Q1	Q2	(Q3	Q4	CCP	Observation	
Critical point								
Reception of the raw mate-	Yes	No]	No		No CCP	No contamination step	
rial "juice"							-	
Storage	Yes	Yes	5			CCP	contamination step	
Distribution	No	No				No CCP	No contamination step	

FEB

	Results of	of microbiological analysis	s of lettuce	
Germs		Results	Microbiologica	l limits (ufc/g)
Yeast an	d mold	3.10^{3}	10	10 ²
Aerobic		Uncountable colony		3.10^{6}
Staphyloco	cci aureus	2.10^{3}	10 ²	10 ³
Clostridium sul	lphite-reducer	Uncountable colony	50	5.10^{2}
Enterobac	teriaceae C	CYellow C Purple	C Red 10	10 ²
		TABLE 9		
	Results of micro	biological analysis of the	preparation water	
Germs		Results	Microbiological lin	nits (ufc/g)
Total co		Negative results		
Faecal c		Negative results		
Faecal stre	ptococcus	Negative results		
		TABLE 10		
	The results of the m	icrobiological analyzes of	the surfaces analyzed	
Surfaces ana-	Culture medium	Number of colonies	Appearance & color	of colonies
lyzed	used	70		
The butcher's	GN SAB	79 4	Small size in White and	vallow color
			Small size in White and	
wall	Hectoen	No colonies	Large size in Whit	e color
	Chapman	26	/	
	VF	Uncountable	Big and small size in Wh	ite and yellow
The floor of the	GN	Uncountable	Large size in White and	vellow color
butcher's shop	SAB	Uncountable	Large size in White and Large size in Whit	
butcher s shop	Hectoen	12	Bench and yellow cold	
	Chapman	Uncountable	Small size in White an	-
	VF			
The hardele ente		Uncountable	Large size in Military	
The butcher's table	GN	/	Big and small size in Wh	ite and yellow
table	CAD	The second shifts		1
	SAB	Uncountable	Small size in Whit	e color
	Hectoen	/		11 1
	Chapman	Uncountable	Small size in White and	•
	VF	/	Small size in Whit	
	GN	10	Big and small size in V	
The kitchen	SAB	4	Large size in Whit	e color
wall	Hectoen	No colonies	/	
	Chapman	4	Large size in Whit	
	VF	Uncountable	Large size in Whit	
	GN	Uncountable	small size in Whit	
	SAB	Uncountable	Big and small size in Wh color	ite and yellow
	Hectoen	No colonies	/	
	Chapman	16	Big and small size in V	White color
	VF	Uncountable	Large size in Whit	
The kitchen	GN	Uncountable	0	
floor	SAB	Uncountable	Big and small size in Wh color	ite and yellow
	Hectoen	No colonies	Big and small size in V	White color
		50		
	Chapman VF	50 Uncountable	Big and small size in Wh	ite and yellow

TABLE 8	
Results of microbiological analysis of	of lettu



Materials ana- lyzed	Culture medium used	Number of colonies	Appearance and color of colonies
The dish	GN	Uncountable	Small size in White and yellow color
-	SAB	Uncountable	Small size in White color
-	Hectoen	No colonies	/
-	Chapman	45	Small size in White color
-	VF	Uncountable	Big and small size in White color
	GN	Uncountable	Big and small size in White and yellow color
	SAB	Uncountable	large size in white and yellow color
-	Hectoen	9	large size in Black color
Knives		Uncountable	large size in yellow color
		Uncountable	large size in Red color
	Chapman	26	Big and small size in White color
-	VF	Uncountable	Small size in White color

 TABLE 11

 Results of microbiological analyzes of materials

No observed value exceeds the "M" limit. So the results of microbiological analysis of lentil soup, beetroot salad, chicken, kosher and juice are satisfactory and of accepted quality for the health of students

According to the analysis results mentioned in table 8, we noted the presence of yeasts, molds, aerobic germs, Staphylococci aureus and Clostridium Sulfito-reducer, so this non-compliance with standards is mainly due to the lack of equipment, personnel and air hygiene. According to Belomaria *et al*, 2007; Durieux; 1978)_[13], [14] a poor hygienic quality of lettuce results mainly from a lack of hygiene and non-compliance with good practices, is the cause of a large number of food poisoning cases.

Results and interpretations of microbiological analyzes of the preparation water. We compared our results obtained with the ISO standard, according to Table 9, the results of the preparation water analysis comply with the standards

Results and interpretations of microbiological analyzes of surfaces.

Results of microbiological air analyzes							
Media analyzed	Culture medium used	Number of colonies	Appearance and color of colonies				
	GN	20	Small size in White color				
The cold room	SAB	No colonies	/				
	Hectoen	No colonies	/				
	Chapman	3	small size in White color				
	VF	No colonies	/				
The feeding cham-	GN	10	small size in yellow color				
ber	SAB	No colonies	/				
	Hectoen	No colonies	/				
	Chapman	1	small size in yellow color				
	VF	3	Large size in color White sur-				
			rounded by black				
The butcher's shop	GN	Uncountable	Small size in White color				
	SAB	2	Large size in White color				
	Hectoen	1	Small size in Military Green				
			color				
	Chapman	5	Small size in Yellow color				
	VF	No colonies	/				
The kitchen	GN	40	Small size in White and yellow				
			color				
	SAB	1	Large size in White color				
	Hectoen	8	size small in Military Green				
			color				
	Chapman	11	small size in white and yellow				
			color				
	VF	No colonies	/				

TABLE 12 Results of microbiological air analyzes



HACCP control "lentil soup" step 1							
Step 1	Hazards	Preventive	Critical Lim-	Surveillance	Corrective ac-		
		measures	its		tions		
Receipt of the first	Microbial con-	Control of the	Correct con-	Visual con-	Control be-		
ingredient "onion "	tamination	separation be-	ditions	trol	fore receipt		
		tween food	From recep-		from the sup-		
		products	tion		plier		
Storage	Microbial con-	Temperature	Correct con-	Visual con-	Repair of the		
	tamination	and humidity	ditions	trol	vegetable		
		control	From recep-		room (venti-		
			tion		lation system)		
			Temperature,				
			wet weather				
Washing and cut-	Microbial con-	Cleaning proce-		Visual con-	Cutting room		
ting	tamination (sur-	dure		trol	addition		
	face, equipment						
	and personnel)						
Addition of	No dangers			Visual con-			
oil+spices=tomato				trol			
paste+salt							
Cooking	No hazards						
Add water	No hazards						
Cooking	No hazards						
Transfer	No hazards						

 TABLE 13

 HACCP control "lentil soun" sten 1

TABLE 14 HACCP control "lentil soup" step 2

			n soup step -		
Step 2	Hazards	Preventive measures	Critical Limits	surveillance	Corrective actions
Preparing the veg- etables	Microbial con- tamination	Control of the separation be- tween food products	Correct conditions From re- ception	Visual con- trol	Control before re- ceipt from the sup- plier
Storage	Microbial con- tamination	Temperature and humidity control	Correct conditions From re- ception Tempera- ture, wet weather	Visual con- trol	Repair of the vege- table room (venti- lation system)
Washing and cut- ting	Microbial con- tamination (sur- face, equipment and personnel)	Cleaning pro- cedure		Visual con- trol	Cutting room addi- tion
Transfer	No hazards				

Results and interpretation of microbiological analyzes of materials. Microbiological analyzes of the work surface and equipment (see Tables 10 and 11) reveal an increase in fungal flora and other pathogenic germs which indicates that:

 \Box The washing of the dish and the knife is done in poor hygienic conditions ;

The cleaning of the bench, floor, wall and butcher's table does not comply with hygiene rules.

The presence of yeast on the surface of foods can, in some cases, lead to spoilage of these foods.

When they grow on food in too high a concentration, taste, texture and appearance can be impaired [15], [16].

Results and interpretations of microbiological air analyzes. From Table 12, we have seen an increase:

Total mesophilic aerobic flora, this is favored by several factors such as: Temperature, and humidity, which causes organoleptic changes in foods; Some pathogenic germs. The prevention of contamination requires good organization of work, in order to limit and manage the trips of staff to the waste room. The evacuation of the waste room must be done outside the period of preparation of the dishes in the kitchen and before the disinfection of the premises [17], [18]. The air can be loaded with microorganisms responsible for deterioration or even disease. Indeed, airborne dust and particles are likely to contaminate work surfaces as well as food [19]

Results and interpretations of the HACCP system. The results obtained are mentioned in tables 13,14 and 15:

From tables 13,14 and 15, we noticed that:

The steps in the preparation of the selected cooked dish represent microbiological hazards; these dangers are mainly due to:

□ Lack of application of good hygiene practices; Storage of non-compliant product; Contamination by personnel, surfaces and materials.

We have proposed a few "corrective actions" for each stage of preparation and distribution of the selected cooked meal.



Our study aimed to apply the HACCP system and to estimate the good hygiene practice at the level of the central university catering in Saida.

This study showed that it had a set of failures:

□ Non-compliance with hygiene rules, in particular: - During the preparation of cooked meals; In premises, surfaces, equipment and the air, Personal; no ventilation system in storage rooms; Un qualified personnel. The HACCP system takes into account all the potential risks and factors that can harm the health of the consumer and is also applied to the determination of the critical control points necessary to control the dangers [20], [21], [22].

CONCLUSION

This study exposed a set of failures:

 $\hfill\square$ Non-compliance with hygiene rules, in particular :

 \Box During the preparation of cooked meals ;

 \Box In premises, surfaces, equipment and the air

	H A	ACCP control "le	entil soup [~] step	3	
Step 3	Hazards	Preventive measures	Critical Limits	surveillance	Corrective ac- tions
Receipt of "lens"	No hazards	Control of the separation be- tween food products	Correct con- ditions From recep- tion	Visual control	
Storage	No hazards	Temperature and humidity control	Correct con- ditions From recep- tion Tempera- ture, wet weather	Visual control	
Lens sorting	Physical danger presence of for- eign bodies (glass; stones) Contamination of personnel and equipment	Sanitary con- dition clean- ing of equip- ment	Cleaning procedure	Visual control	Staff training
Lens washing	Microbial con- tamination (sur- face, equipment and personnel)		Correct hy- gienic con- ditions		Respect hygien rules
Transfert Addi- tion of water	No hazards				
Cooking	No hazards				
Distribution	Contamination microbial (sur- face; servers)	Staff hygiene and disinfec- tion of equip- ment	Medical ex- amination Perfect cleanliness	Visual and mi- crobiological control	Staff training an application of hygiene rules Carriages

 TABLE 15

 HACCP control "lentil soup" step 3



- Personal;

- \Box No ventilation system in the storage rooms;
- \Box Unqualified personnel.

These bad practices are characterized by the presence of spoilage germs, faecal contamination germs and mainly Escherichia coli and fungal flora in food.

REFERENCES

- Andjongo Efandene, G. (2006) Study of surface contamination in fishing products processing industries in Senegal: case of the blue pirogue. Thèse : Méd. Vét. Dakar. 24.
- Belomaria, M., Ahami, A.O.T., Aboussaleh, Y., Elbouhali, B., Cherrah, Y., Soulaymani, A. (2007) Environmental origin of collective food poisoning in Morocco: Case of the Gharb Chrarda Bni Hssen region, Antropo. 14, 83-88. www.didac.ehu.es/antropo (Accessed 03/21/2020)
- [3] Corpet, D. (2005) Food quality. Handout. National Veterinary School of Toulouse, Educational Unit for Hygiene and the Food Industry of Animal Origin. Pp 11.
- [4] Dajonm, L. (2004) Guide to visiting a catering company, dissertation for the issuance of the diploma of specialized studies in occupational medicine. 25-42.
- [5] Dansou Sally, S. (2009) Study of the microbiological quality of meals served at the university center in Dakar. Diploma thesis for in-depth studies of animal productions. Cheikh Anta Diop University of Dakar. Pages 15-19.
- [6] Delacharleris, S., Chèné, C., Snindic, M., Deroane, C. (2008) Organoleptic HACCP, practical guide. Edition : Tec et Doc. LAVOISIER. Paris. Pp173.
- [7] Diouf, L. (2013) Assessment of the level of hygiene and proposal for a traceability system in collective catering: Case of kiki stiffeur sarl. Pp110.
- [8] Dupuis, L., Tardif, R., Verge, J., Drapeau, R., Ducharme, B., Hébert, J. (2002) Hygiene and safety in the dairy industry. In: Vignola C L. (Eds.), Milk Science and Technology.Polytechnique, Canada. 527-573. Juin.
- [9] Durieux, H. (1978) Hygienic aspects of production and processing of foods of animal origin. RTVA, 1978. 29-38.
- [10] Eves, A. (2005) Experiences of the implementation and operation of hazard analysis critical control points in the food service sector. International Journal of Hospitality Management. 24, 3-19.
- [11] Featherstone, S. (2015) Hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP)systems in food canning. Microbiology, Packaging, HACCP and Ingredients. 2, 215-234.

- [12] Fedali, Y. (2014) Contribution to risk management in certain sectors of activity in Algeria – case of the agri-food industry Thèse Doctorat, El Hadj Lakhdar University, Batna, Algeria. Pages 10-16
- [13] Guiraud, J.P. (2012) Food microbiology, Paris: Dunod. Pp 576.
- [14] Inrst: National Institute for Research and Security, Company restaurant.
- [15] INRS (2006) Consulter le 01/06/2017 sur le lien www.inrs.fr/dms/inrs/CataloguePapier/ED/TI-TJ-10/tj10.pd.
- [16] The Algerian Republic (year) Executive Decree No. 17-140 of 14 Rajab 1438 corresponding to April 11, 2017 setting the conditions. hygiene and safety during the process of releasing foodstuffs for human consumption. Official Journal of the Algerian Republic. 24.
- [17] Jund, A. (2010) Implementation of the Health Control Plan on the UCP of Grand Sauvoy. Master Thesis in Microbiology. Université Henri Poincare Nancy 1, France. Pp73.
- [18] Kohilavani, W.Z. (2013) Embedding Islamic dietary requirements into HACCP approach. Food Contrôl. 607-612.
- [19] Maillotet, E. (2009) Veterinary, Microbiology, Food. Académie vétérinaire de France, Paris (FRA). Pages 34.
- [20] Nothias, J.L. (2008). Can you eat moldy food?. Le figaro. le 11/12/2009, sur http:// www.lefigaro.fr/sciences/2009/02/11/01008-20090211ARTFIG00589-peut-on-manger-desaliments-moisis-nettoyes-.php. (page consulted on 03/12/2013).
- [21] Paquet d'hygiène (2006) food safety. Consulter sur le lienagriculture.gouv.fr/sécurité-sanitairele-paquet-hygiène. (Accessed date: 14/02/2013).
- [22] Rechtmane, J. (2005) HACCP :from the Codex Alimentarius to the draft standard ISO DIS 22000. sur le lien: http://www.bdsp.tm.fr/ base/script/ShowA.bs ?bqRef=31727. Consult on: 05/05/2017.
- [23] Youssef, M.K. (2013) Survival of acid-adapted Escherichia coli 0157: H7 and not-adapted E.coli on beeftreated with 2% or 5% lactic acid. Food Control. 13-18.



Received:09.10.2023Accepted:28.10.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Didaoui Hayat

Department of Biology University Dr Moulay Tahar Saida – Algeria

e-mail: newsnature@yahoo.com



DEGRADATION OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS USING MICRO / NANOROD MOLECULAR SIEVE IN A COMBINED REACTOR

Chiu-Hsuan Lee¹, Je-Lueng Shie^{2,*}, Yen Li², Yun-Jie Lu², Min-Hao Yuan³, Yi-Hung Chen⁴ Hung-Te Hsu⁵, Ching-Yuan Chang⁶

¹Department of Environmental Engineering and Management, Chaoyang University of Technology, Taichung City 41349, Taiwan
 ²Department of Environmental Engineering, National I-Lan University, I-Lan City, 26041, Taiwan
 ³Department of Occupational Safety and Health, China Medical University, Taichung 404, Taiwan
 ⁴Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology, National Taipei University of Technology, Taipei 106, Taiwan
 ⁵Institute of Marine Environment and Ecology, National Taiwan Ocean University, Keelung 202, Taiwan
 ⁶Graduate Institute of Environmental Engineering, National Taiwan University, Taipei 106, Taiwan

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study is to prepare the micro/nanorod materials in low middle temperature to remove the volatile organic compound (taking toluene as target) in the waste air pollution stream using a combined reactor with photo- and thermo-reaction at the same time. The micro/nanorod molecular sieve (Octahedral manganese cryptomelanes, K-OMS-2) are fabricated and coated on support of Al₂O₃, and the catalyst is used in the combined reactor with light and heat sources at feasible temperature to convert the target. The decomposition/removal efficiency of toluene in photo- and thermos-reactor as well as the photoelectric characteristic analyses are evaluated. The operation parameters of temperature of reactor and initial concentrations etc. are carried out, meanwhile, the characteristic analyses (EA, TEM-EDS, XRD, LaB6-TEM, XPS, FTIR etc.) are also examined in order to find the optimum conditions. In the performance of the photodegradation reaction, the optimum n is the catalyst of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ calcination temperature of 523 K with UVLED of 633 hr-¹ space velocity (SV), and the maximum value is 95.56%. However, the CO₂ conversion is not obvious in the photodegradation reaction due to the not complete degradation. In the photo- and thermosdegradation reactor, the situation can be improved and the maximum η of 95.25% and CO2 conversion of 95% can reach at 873K with UVLED. The result proves that the combined reactor for photo- and thermos-degradation can work in both industrial or domestic application in air pollution control.

KEYWORDS:

Nanorod molecular sieve, thermoelectric material, photothermo-catalyst, Octahedral manganese cryptomelanes, air pollutant, photo-thermal-catalytic reaction,

INTRODUCTION

The report of the World Health Organization in 2014 showed that 7 million deaths worldwide were related to air pollution in 2012. With the rapid development of industry and commerce, a large number of volatile organic gases (VOCs) are emitted into the atmosphere during the operation of factories, such as benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene, and other BETXs, which are mainly used as solvents and adhesives in the plastics and tire industries, printing houses, and various chemical plants; however, these gases will cause the deterioration of the working environment and the surrounding air quality, further affecting the health of factory employees and nearby residents.

Photodegradation is a common degradation method to remove air pollutants. Catalysts that use light energy to catalyze the reaction are called photocatalysts, which will not be consumed by participating in the reaction and can continuously catalyze the degradation reaction. Under light irradiation, it can be excited to generate electron-hole pairs, which can react with water and oxygen to generate hydroxyl radicals, so as to decompose various volatile organic compounds (VOCs). A molecular sieve is a material with numerous small pores of precise and uniform size. These pores are large enough to stop macromolecules but allow small molecules with pore sizes falling within the specified range to pass through. Common molecular sieves include desiccant, activated carbon, and silica gel. According to the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC), porous materials are classified into three categories by the pore diameter, namely micropores, mesopores, and macropores. Mesoporous molecular sieves have pore sizes ranging from 2 to 50 nm and have the advantages of high specific surface area, uniform pore distribution, and application in the technical fields of catalysis and separation, such as MCM-41[1], HMS [2], MnO₂-based catalysts [3, 4] and SBA-15 [5].

Manganese is a transition metal that occurs widely in nature (the tenth most abundant element in the earth's crust) [6]. The nano-sized manganese metal oxides have many advantages, such as large specific surface area, porous structure, many active sites, good thermal stability, easy recovery, high environmental compatibility, and low toxicity [7, 8]. It is pointed out in the literature that the cryptomelanetype manganese oxide-based octahedral molecular sieve (K-OMS-2) made of micro/nanorod material has great benefits for catalytic activity, so the application of K-OMS-2 in catalytic oxidation technology is widely studied [9]. Some cations, such as Li⁺, K⁺, and Na⁺, can enter the channel of K-OMS-2 to adjust their chemical and physical properties [10]. It substantially influences the catalytic activity by adding different concentrations of K⁺ into OMS-2 to determine the most appropriate dosage [11, 12]. Studies have proposed that K-OMS-2 is implanted onto TiO₂ to form K-OMS-2/TiO₂[13] and toluene is degraded under the photodegradation by using a ultraviolet (UV) lamp, which has a better result than that of commercial TiO₂. The hierarchically magnetic K-OMS-2/TiO₂/Fe₃O₄ heterojunction exhibits good photocatalytic activity for the degradation of humic acid under solar light [14]. The reasons are that it can form OH functional groups on the catalyst surface to assist the adsorption and decomposition of toluene, so K-OMS-2 can also be regarded as a molecular sieve photocatalyst [15].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Material preparation. Preparation process of OMS-2. OMS-2 was dissolved in D.I. water by combining MnSO₄, H₂O, $(NH_4)_2S_2O_8$, and $(NH_4)_2$ SO₄. After being fully dissolved, the mixture was calcined at 393 K in a high-temperature and highpressure reaction reactor for 20 hours. The highpressure reaction reactor was used for solid-liquid separation after being cooled to room temperature, and the solid is dried through 4-hour illumination by the infrared lamp and then ground for 40 minutes to complete the preparation of OMS-2.

Preparation process of K-OMS-2. MnSO₄ •H₂O 2.3521 g, $(NH_4)_2S_2O_8$ 1.8256 g, and $(NH_4)_2$ SO₄ 1.9821 g were added into D.I. water for mixing for 10 minutes, and then KNO₃ was added for dissolution to form the mixture. Finally, the mixture was calcined at 393 K in a high-temperature and high-pressure reaction kettle for 20 hours. The high-pressure reaction kettle was cooled to room temperature for solid-liquid separation, dried by 4-hour illumination of the infrared lamp, and then ground for 40 minutes to complete the preparation of K-OMS-2.

Preparation catalyst process of K-OMS-2/

Al2O3. Take a proper amount of K-OMS-2 and Al2O3 in alcohol, heat, stir, and soak them with a magnetic stirrer, and then put them in a dryer for drying to complete the preparation of K-OMS- $2/Al_2O_3$ catalyst.

Characteristic analyses of photocatalysts. The sample mass used was 0.5 g and dried for 24 h before characteristic analyses. The analysis instruments used were thermal field emission scanning electron microscope (FESEM) (JSM-7000F), transmission electron microscope (LaB6-TEM /FEI Tecnai G2 T20 200kV), energy dispersive spectrometer (EDS) (LEO 1530, Germany), element analyzer (EA) (Elementar VarioEL-III, Germany), Brunauer Emmett Teller (BET) surface measurement device (Micromeritics ASAP2020, Micromeritics, USA), X-ray single-crystal diffractometer (XRD) (Rigaku TTRAX III, Japan), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analyzer (XPS) (VG MICROTECH, MT-500, UK), ultraviolet-visible (UV/Vis) spectroscopy (UV/Vis spectrophotometer, EVOLUTION-220, Thermo Scientific, USA) and Fourier transform infrared spectrometry (FTIR) (Thermo Fisher IS10), photoluminescence spectrum (PL) (JOBIN-YVON T64000 Micro-PL/Raman Spectroscopy), Thermal Image Camera (Thermo Gear G100EX / G120EInfrared Camera).

Thermo-Photo-Degeneration Characteristics Experimental preparation of thermo- photodegradation. Target pollutants. Toluene was target air pollutant in this study. It was prepared by transporting saturated toluene vapor through a stable airflow into a mixing tank for reaction and then into a continuous first-stage reactor for photodegradation reaction.

Characteristics of light intensity for Thermo-photo-degradation. The light sources used in this experiment were T8UVALED, T8WLED (color temperature 5,600–6,300 K), and T8BLED sold by vita LED Technologies Inc. Their light source characteristics are as follows Table 1. Measure the light source intensity of the first-stage photodegradation reaction lighting box at different positions, and the average illuminance could be obtained after the light source characteristics were corrected, as shown in Table S1 and Table S2.

Thermo-photo-degradation apparatus. In this study, a two-stage degradation reaction system was established, which was configured with a programmable tubular high-temperature furnace and a lighting box, the former of which exhibited the programmable temperature control function. A 4-inch stainless steel tube (inner diameter: 95 mm, outer diameter: 100 mm, length: 1,000 mm) in the programmable tubular high-temperature furnace body was connected to a 2-inch quartz tube (inner diameter: 46



mm, outer diameter: 50 mm, length: 1,000 mm) in the lighting box body, as shown in Figure 1. The incoming gas could flow into the lighting box for photodegradation after being heated by the programmable tubular high-temperature furnace.

In the first-stage photodegradation, the mass flowmeter of the photodegradation reaction system was set to be 1 L/min for incoming air, and the float flowmeter was set to be 0.06 L/min for incoming toluene. Turn on the lamp source when the concentration was stable after 35 minutes for sampling, and collect samples at 10-19, 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, and 50-59 minutes after the light was turned on, representing the average concentration at 15, 25, 35, 45, and 55 minutes, respectively. Use a 1 L gas sampling bag to collect the gas after the reaction. With an inflation needle, 150 µL gas was extracted from the sampling bag and injected into a gas chromatography mass spectrometer (GC-MS) for conversion of toluene concentration. The models of GC-MS included Thermo Scientific Focus GC and DSQ 12550080.

In the second-stage thermo-photo-degradation, the mass flowmeter of the photodegradation reaction system was set to be 1 L/min for incoming air. The float flowmeter was set to be 0.06 L/min for incoming toluene, and the heating box was turned on. The temperature in the box shall reach 423, 473, 573, 673, 773, 873, 973, and 1,073 K, respectively, within 35 minutes. After the gas concentration was stable, the lamp source was turned on for sampling. Samples were collected at 56-65 minutes after the light was on, representing samples of 1 hour after the thermo-photo-degradation. A 1 L gas sampling bag was used to collect the gas after the reaction. 150 µL gas was extracted from the sampling bag using an inflation needle and then injected into a gas chromatography mass spectrometer (GC-MS) for the conversion of toluene concentration or into a gas chromatograph-thermal conductivity detector (GC-TCD) for the analysis of the catalyst CO₂ conversion rate, with GC-TCD models including the Thermo Scientific Focus GC and DSQ 12550090.

	TABLE 1							
	Character	ristics	of light :	sources used in t	this study.			
T 7'	· 1	D		MUT d	$\langle \rangle$			

	Viewing angle	Power (W)	WL ^d range (nm)	llumination (Lux)
WLED ^a	120°	17	300~700	13,520
UVLED ^b	90°	17	380-390	129
BLED ^c	120°	17	465-475	1,399

^a.White visible light emitting diode. ^{b.} Ultraviolet light emitting diode; ^c. Blue light emitting diode ^d. Wavelength.



FIGURE 1

Schematic of the hybrid system of the thermodegradation and photodegradation reactors.

Air cylinder, 2. Moisture removing trap, 3. HC removing trap, 4. Mass flow controller, 5. Toluene liquid Erlenmeyer flask,
 Mixing box, 7. Sample output apparatus, 8. Thermometer, 9. Stainless steel vacuum sleeve for diameter of 4", 10. Muffle furnace, 11. Stainless steel vacuum sleeve for diameter of 2", 12. Light source, 13. Catalyst bed, and 14. Fume hood.



EA ^a and EDS analysis of copper modified photocatalysts ^b .								
EA					EDS			
Sample	Ν	С	Н	S	0	Κ	Mn	Si
SBA-12	0.37	0.46	1.13	-	65.88	-	-	32.15
OMS-2	9.48	0.11	2.8	7.76	61.16	-	20.20	-
K-OMS-2(393K)	4.79	0.08	1.3	3.30	62.24	2.55	27.70	-
K-OMS-2(423K)	7.61	0.09	2.18	9.81	36.50	6.69	37.12	
K-OMS-2(523K)	2.61	0.09	0.86	13.71	40.37	9.18	33.17	
K-OMS-2(623K)	1.76	0.09	0.53	18.44	41.34	11.07	26.78	-

 TABLE 2

 EA^a and EDS analysis of copper modified photocatalysts¹

^a. Accuracy: ±0.1%. Precision: ±0.2%. ^b. unit: wt.%

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section may be divided by subheadings. It should provide a concise and precise description of the experimental results, their interpretation, as well as the experimental conclusions that can be drawn.

Characteristic analyses of photocatalyst materials. Energy dispersive spectrometer (EDS) and element analyzer (EA). TEM-EDS can qualitatively and semi-quantitatively analyze the elements on the catalyst surface, so that the content of the elements can be known by measuring the intensity of spectral lines. In this study, TEM-EDS was used to analyze the surface elements, from which it could be known that K-OMS-2 was indeed covered with K. The analysis result is shown in Table 2. The weight percentages of N, C, H, O, S, K, and Mn in OMS-2 and K-OMS-2 were detected by EA and EDS. Because EDS could not analyze C and H, EA was obtained first to analyze the sum ratio of N, C, and H, and then the individual percentage measured by EDS was divided by the remaining percentage of EA to obtain the weight percentage of O, S, K, and Mn. The results showed that K, O, and Mn increased in K-OMS-2 compared with those in OMS-2, and the decrease of N% content may be due to the substitution of N by other ions. The bond of N could be determined by other instruments later.

It can be seen from the data that the increase in K, O, and Mn would lead to a decrease of C, H, and S contents. After K was covered, O content increased from 61.16% to 62.24%, S content decreased from 7.76% to 3.3%, and Mn content increased from 20.2% to 27.7%, showing that the changes of these elements were relatively greater than those of other elements. After K-OMS-2 was calcined at 423, 523, and 623 K, the results indicated that with the increase in calcination temperature, O content would first decrease and then increase, with the content decreasing by approximately 21%–26%; S and K contents would increase by 6.48%-15.11% and 4.14%-8.52%, respectively, with the increase in temperature. Mn content would first increase and then decrease. After K-OMS-2 was calcined at 423 K and 523 K, Mn content would decrease by 9.42% and 5.47%. After K-OMS-2 was calcined at 623 K, the Mn content would decrease by 0.92%. The changes in K and

Mn content indicated that when the calcination temperatures were 423 K and 523 K, both K and Mn contents increased, while K content at 523 K was higher than that at 423 K.

X-ray diffractometer (XRD). The catalyst was analyzed using X-ray diffraction (XRD). Compared with the database of the Joint Committee on Powder Diffraction Standard and the International Centre for Diffraction Data, Figure S1(a) is the diffraction pattern of SBA-15. A broad wave peak was identified at $2\theta = 15^{\circ}-30^{\circ}$ due to its mesoporous structure. OMS-2 (Figure S1 b)) and K-OMS-2 (Figure S1 c)) exhibited the same pattern of the synthetic material K1.49(NH₄)0.51Mn₂(SO₄)₃ of cryptomelane. OMS-2 and K-OMS-2 showed that there was an obvious wave peak at $25^{\circ}-30^{\circ}$, which was consistent with the crystalline phase of Pyrolusite MnO₂ [3, 16].

The ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV/Vis). Liua et al. (2011) proposed that K-OMS-2 exhibited a significant absorption value in the zone of about 400 nm [17]. Compared with the results of UV/Vis analysis in this study, as shown in Figure S2, K-OMS-2 and OMS-2 had favorable absorption values than that of SBA-15 in the excellent absorption zones for ultraviolet light and visible light, while K-OMS-2 exhibited a lower absorption value than that of SBA-15 in the zone of above 500 nm. The optimal absorption value was approximately 350-500 nm, falling in the zone between ultraviolet to visible light. The absorption value of K-OMS-2 was slightly improved after being calcined. The absorption zone of cryptomelane was the overlap zone of different valence states of manganese, namely, Mn²⁺, Mn³⁺, and Mn⁴⁺ in manganese crystal. The zone at about 250 nm was formed by charge transfer between O₂ and Mn²⁺, and the zone at about 300 nm was connected with Mn⁴⁺. The continuous absorption of the zone depended on $O_2 \rightarrow Mn^{3+}$ charge transfer and dd conversion into the d4 electron configuration [18, 19].

Photoluminescence spectrum analyzer (Micro-PL). Micro-PL was used to analyze the influence of catalyst structure. Because K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ was solid, the powder must be used in Micro-PL



measurements; therefore, K-OMS-2 powder was calcined at various temperatures in this study to measure its Micro-PL. From Figure 2(a), the peak value at 495 nm⁻¹ was the highest in the pattern, and the luminous intensity order was K-OMS-2 > SBA-15 > OMS-2. The FWHM of the peak showed that the smaller the FWHM, the less impact on the sample from impurities and defects, and the crystallization was relatively ideal, so the luminous intensity of OMS-2 was relatively weak but the crystallization was optimal. As for K-OMS-2 calcined at different calcination temperatures in Figure 2(b), K-OMS- 2(523K) exhibited the best crystallization, while the luminous intensity was the opposite. However, the luminous intensity of K-OMS-2 at different calcination temperatures was above a certain level. The pattern showed that the peak value of the catalyst at 415 and 526 nm⁻¹ was contributed by the stretching vibration of the Mn-O lattice, representing the 2×2 pore tunnel structure, and the external vibration caused by the parallel movement of the octahedron [20-22], in which when the central luminescent ion is Mn²⁺ or Mn⁴⁺, the corresponding transition is $3p \rightarrow 3d$ [21].



FIGURE 2 Micro-PL spectra of (a)K-OMS-2 (393K), OMS-2 and SBA-15 (b) K-OMS-2 in different calculation Temps.



The Brunauer, Emmett, and Teller (BET) analysis. Table 3 indicated the influence of different calcination temperatures on the pore structure of the catalyst based on the analysis and judgment of BET. The specific surface area of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ is 523 K>423 K>623 K, representing 279.78, 270.78, and $265.43 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$, respectively. Therefore, the BET of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst calcined at 523 K was the largest, and the calcination temperature was speculated to cause the change of the pores of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃, affecting the surface area. The low calcination temperature was insufficient to increase the surface area of catalysts, while the relatively high calcination temperature may lower the surface area. The average adsorption pore diameter of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ calcined at 423, 523, and 623 K is 51.82, 51.72, and 52.22 Å, and the average desorption pore diameter was 42.97, 43.38, and 43.67 Å, respectively. This indicated that no matter the average pore diameter for adsorption or desorption, the influence of the pore diameter difference at different calcination temperature was not obvious, and their standard deviations were lower than 1.

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometry (**FTIR**). FTIR pattern (Figure 3) showed that SBA-15 exhibited functional group primary aliphatic alcohols. Compounds with (R–CH₂–OH) double bonds and hydroxyl (-OH) groups were classified as primary, secondary, or tertiary according to the number of carbon atoms attached to the surface of the oxygen-bonded carbon. Primary aliphatic alcohols contained polar –OH groups. Because the boiling point of this hydrogen-bonded alcohol was much higher than that of corresponding alkanes with the same number of carbon atoms, hydrogen was bonded between molecules in the condensation phase. OMS-2 showed the Kaolin clays/alumino silicate bond at 1,021, 1,103, and 1,413 cm⁻¹ peaks, while –OH bond at 3,211 cm⁻¹. In addition to the Kaolin clays/alumino silicates at the K-OMS-2 peaks of 931, 1,092, and 1,419 cm⁻¹, a para substituted aromatic hydrocarbon (para substituted aromatic hydrocarbon) functional group was added, and -OH bond was formed at 3,180 cm⁻¹ (Figure 8 (c)). The characteristic analysis of EA and EDS indicated that C content and H content would increase after K-OMS-2 was calcined at 523 K, which may be the reason for the formation of aliphatic groups. The most essential vibration mode of this group was C-H of approximately 3,000 cm⁻¹ and -CH extending to about 1,460 cm⁻¹ and 1,380 cm⁻¹. The atoms directly connected to aliphatic groups could result in a significant change in the standard frequency due

to their relatively high electronegativity; in particular, neighboring atoms would move to higher frequencies.

8	nuir surface area of the cataly	
Sample	BET Surface Area	Langmuir Surface Area
Sample	$(m^2 g^{-1})$	$(m^2 g^{-1})$
K-OMS-2(423K) / Al ₂ O ₃	270.78	339.24
K-OMS-2(523K) / Al ₂ O ₃	279.78	378.55
K-OMS-2(623K) / Al ₂ O ₃	265.43	360.49



FTIR spectra of (a) SBA-15, (b) OMS-2, and (c) K-OMS-2 (393K).

FEB

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS). The chemical composition and structure of the catalyst could be known by XPS analysis, so the complete pattern and single pattern of the catalyst could be obtained. The full pattern in Figure S3 showed that the peaks of Si and O were found in SBA-15. The complete pattern in Figure S3 showed the S, C, N, O, and Mn peaks of OMS-2 and K-OMS-2, and K-OMS-2 also contained the K peak in addition to the peaks above. The single pattern in Figure S1(a) showed that the binding energy of Si and O in SBA-15 was found at 110.55 eV and 540.10 eV, which was similar to that (Si peak at 103.4 eV and the O peak at 532.9 eV) in the literature [23], proving that the SBA-15 used in this study exhibited the structure of SiO₂. (b) indicated that the binding energy of $Mn2p^{2/3}$ was at 641.9 eV and 642.5 eV, namely, Mn^{3+} and Mn⁴⁺, which was the same as the peaks of $Mn^{3+}(641 \text{ eV})$ and Mn^{4+} (642 eV) proposed in the literature [24]. (e) S2p showed that S was at 168.65 eV, while the metal sulfate was 166.5–169 eV, which may be the bond of Mn-S or Mn-K. The pattern in Figure S3 N1s showed that N was at 401.5 eV. The K2p peak values of (f) were found at 292.8 and 295.65 eV, similar to 291.5 and 294.5 eV proposed in the literature [25]. It could be inferred that OMS-2 and K-OMS-2 in this study contained S, C, N, O, and Mn; K-OMS-2 also contained the K element, which was consistent with that in the literature.

Thermo-photo-degradation test. First-stage photodegradation. Based on the results of the characteristics analysis of micro/nanorod K-OMS-2 and OMS-2, K-OMS-2 was selected as the photodegradation catalyst, which was applied on the surface of Al_2O_3 and then placed in a first-stage photodegradation system. The experimental parameters include, light source type, and catalyst calcination temperature, based on which the optimal photodegradation operating parameters were selected one by one.

Degradation reactions at different calcination temperatures and light sources. To explore the degradation effect of catalyst at different calcination temperatures, the calcination temperature was kept at 423 K, 523 K, and 623 K for one hour. The results are shown in Figure S4. When SV was 633 hr⁻¹, the optimal calcination temperature was measured to be 523 K by using UVLED as the light source, with an average of 95.56% and average values of 86.69 and 92.75% at 423 K and 523 K, respectively. The results indicated that the catalytic effect of the K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst would increase by 1.7% after being calcined at 523 K. Compared with the results of UVvis analysis, the increase of the absorption value of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst in the UV zone at this calcination temperature was consistent, so that the degradation effect increased. The degradation efficiency at different SVs was shown in Figures S5. First, the space velocity (SV) was taken as the parameter variable, and the calculation formula for SV was SV = reactant flow (L/min)/catalyst reactor volume (L). The SV of the incoming gas is maintained at 1.06 L/min, and the SV is changed based on the amount of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst. When SV was 633, 1,030, and 2,026 hr⁻¹, the catalyst K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ was illuminated with the light source WLED. When SV was 2,026 hr⁻¹, the toluene removal rate (η) was between 45.29% and 54.90%. Compared with other spatial velocities, the degradation effect was low, and the efficiency tended to decrease gradually. When SV was 1,030 hr⁻¹, the removal rate ranged from 80.31% to 87%, and then tended to decrease slightly. When SV was 633 hr⁻¹, the optimal removal efficiency could be maintained between 87.00% and 94.02%. Therefore, the optimal SV selected at this stage was found when SV is 633 hr⁻¹.

In view of the trend that traditional lamp lighting would be replaced by LED light sources in the future, three kinds of LED lamps—WLED, UVLED, and BLED—were selected as light sources, and the degradation reaction of K-OMS-2/ Al₂O₃ catalyst under different LED light sources was explored. In addition, the residual value of toluene that may be attached to the inner pipe wall of the equipment was obtained by taking glass beads as the background value. Figure 4 shows that when SV was 633 hr⁻¹, the removal efficiency is UVLED >WLED> BLED, and the optimal light source was UVLED, with an average of 93.86%. The average values of WLED and BLED were approximately 80.34% and 79.78%. In the absence of light source, the residual toluene in the inner pipe wall of the equipment was found to be below 5% by taking glass beads as the background value, implying that the removal rate was lower than 5% (blank). By comparing the photocatalytic toluene with three light sources in the absence of catalyst, the removal efficiency of the K-OMS-2 catalyst under the UVLED light source was found to be favorable, with the average removal rates of WLED being 3.97%, BLED being 5.05%, and UVLED being 8.68%. The optimal absorption value of the K-OMS-2 catalyst was approximately 350-500 nm, and the UV wavelength was approximately 380-390 nm. This proved that the optimal absorption wavelength exhibited an obvious influence on the removal rate, and the average photocatalytic efficiency without catalyst was lower than 10%.





Photodegradation removal efficiency of toluene using K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst at space velocities of 633 hr⁻¹under different LED.



FIGURE 5



Analysis of gas product of second-stage thermo-photo-degradation. Under the optimal parameters of photodegradation (K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ was calcined at 523 K and placed in a condition of SV of 633 hr⁻¹, and UVLED was used), second-stage thermo-photo co-catalysis was used to enhance the effect of the mineralization rate of CO₂ and to explore the mineralization rate of toluene–CO₂ conversion due to thermocatalysis under different temperatures of the reactor heat source. By comparing the removal rate of toluene by photodegradation, the optimal operating parameters of thermo-photo-degradation were obtained for toluene removal and complete conversion to CO₂. The formula for CO₂ mineralization rate was CO₂ conversion rate (%) = moles of CO₂ consumed / moles of CO₂ introduced x100%.

Thermo-photo-degradation characteristics under different thermo-catalysis conditions. When the K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst was placed in the first-stage (heating box) and the second-stage (lighting box) of the reactor and heated at 423, 473, 573, 673, 773, 873, 973, and 1,073 K, respectively, and



illuminated by a UVLED light source, the toluene removal rate was found gradually increase from 7% to 97.36% (Figure 5) at 423-973 K, and decrease to 91.81% at 1,073 K. When the heating temperature reaches 573 K, the catalyst could be used to remove toluene and convert CO₂ to coexistence. At 573-873 K, the conversion rate of CO₂ gradually increased from 2.93% to 95%. When the temperature was higher than 873 K, the conversion rate of CO₂ began to decrease to 47.13%, but the toluene removal rate was still as high as 91.81%. The possible reason was that toluene was converted into CO₂ after being heated. However, CO2 was reduced to CO and C at a temperature higher than 973 K, resulting in a decrease in the conversion rate of CO₂. Under this second-stage thermo-photo-degradation, the removal rate of toluene was even lower than that of the firststage photodegradation at some temperatures due to the reverse desorption of toluene attached to the catalyst, which showed that low temperatures would lead to a low toluene removal rate and a low mineralization rate.

In-depth discussion on thermo-photo-degradation. Table S3 summarizes the results of all the tests, including the, calcination temperature, heating temperature, initial concentration, residual concentration, C₇H₈ removal rate, and CO₂ mineralization rate. the UVLED light source could make the catalyst exert a favorable photodegradation effect, and the removal rate of C₇H₈ reached 93.86%. After being illuminated by UV light, electrons of the catalyst were excited from VB to CB, forming electron-hole pairs, and photons were collected on the catalyst surface to generate OH; at the same time, electrons can form O₂ by adsorbing oxygen molecules, and OH could also be generated by O₂⁻ + H⁺ \rightarrow HOO• and

2HOO → H₂O₂ +O₂, so that toluene could be oxidized by OH [20]. The optimal calcination temperature of the catalyst was 523 K, at which the removal rate of C₇H₈ increased to 95.01%, which may be due to the fact that the relatively low calcination temperature (423 K) was insufficient to increase the activity, while the relatively high calcination temperature (623 K) would increase the crystallinity of the catalyst, resulting in a decrease in the total oxidation activity [26].

Based on the aforementioned optimal photodegradation conditions for the removal rate of C_7H_8 , and taking different temperatures of heat sources as parameters, the optimal mineralization rate of CO_2 was explored to further obtain the thermal-photodegradation conditions. It was known that when the optimal heat source temperature was 873 K, the mineralization rate of CO_2 reached 95% and the removal rate of C_7H_8 also reached 95.25%. The removal rate of C7H8 at 423-773 K under the thermo-photo-degradation condition was lower than that of photodegradation, based on which it was speculated that the pressure in the reaction tube and the SV of gas molecules increased with the increase in temperature, while the optimal temperature range for the pyrolysis of aromatic hydrocarbons was between 773 K and 1473 K [27]. In the case of incomplete pyrolysis, a large amount of toluene gas was forced into the photolysis reactor, resulting in short-term contact between toluene and the catalyst and a limited photodegradation effect. In this study, the relatively higher heat source temperatures, such as 973 K and 1073 K, made the mineralization rate of CO₂ decrease; because toluene decomposition was an endothermic reaction, toluene could generate other gaseous products at relatively high temperatures [28-29]. The reaction of $C_7H_8+9O_2 \rightarrow 7CO_2+4H_2O$ was formed by heating toluene; however, CO₂ may be reduced to CO and C at a relatively high temperature, resulting in a decrease in the CO₂ conversion rate. Based on the research results, this study concluded that the optimal thermo-photo-degradation conditions were SV = 633 hr⁻¹, UVLED light source, and K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst. When the catalyst was calcined at 523 K and then reacted in a heat source condition of 873 K, the mineralization rate of CO₂ could reach 95%, and the removal rate of C₇H₈ could reach 95.25% of the thermo-photo-degradation effect.

Analysis of temperatures in the thermal image of thermo-photo-degradation system. This section explores the optimal catalyst conditions of K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ under calcination temperatures of 523 K and illumination with UVLED at heat source temperatures of 673 K and 873 K to understand whether the temperature change of the catalyst in the later stage was related to the thermal influence of light. The temperature of the catalyst after being calcined at 523 K was 307.71 K, and the standard deviation from the temperature of the catalyst that was not calcined was 1.11, indicating that no increase in heat energy absorbed from the light source was found due to the calcination of the catalyst. The temperatures of the heat sources were 673 K and 873 K, and the average temperatures were 309.34 K and 312.22 K. The temperature of the catalyst in the latter stage increased by 3.03 K when heated at 673 K and illuminated by UVLED. The temperature of the catalyst in the latter stage increased by 6.91 K when heated at 873 K. The thermal image distribution of the catalyst is shown in Figure 6. The results showed that the temperature of the catalyst was relatively low and displayed a green image when it was not illuminated. After being illuminated, it gradually turned into a yellow-red image.





FIGURE 6 Thermal images of catalysts in different source light.

CONCLUSION

In this study, the octahedral manganese ore material of potassium ions (K-OMS-2) was successfully prepared. Additionally, its pollutant removal capacity was studied in the second-stage thermal photocatalytic reaction system using toluene as the target pollutant. Relevant parameters included SV, light source, catalyst calcination temperature, and catalyst reaction temperature. The study showed that the optimal operating conditions of the catalyst were a calcination temperature of 523 K (K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃) and illumination with UVLED illumination at heat source temperatures of 673 K and 873 K. Furthermore, the calcination temperature of 523 K can increase the value of η to 95.56% at the same conditions. However, the CO₂ conversion is not obvious in the photodegradation reaction due to the not complete degradation. In the photo- and thermos-degradation reactor, the situation can be improved and the maximum η of 95.25% and CO₂ conversion of 95% can reach at 873K with UVLED. The result proves that the combined reactor for photo- and thermosdegradation can work in both industrial or domestic application in air pollution control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We express our sincere thanks to the Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan for its financial support, under grant number: MOST 109–2221E-197–004-MY3, MOST 110-2221-E-197 -018 -MY3, MOST 111-2622-E-197-004 and MOST 111-2923-E-197 -002 -MY3.

Funding. The research in this paper received funding from the Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan.

Author Contributions.C.-H. L. and J.-L. S. conceived and designed the experiments, J.-L.S. wrote the paper; Y.-J. Lu and Y. L. performed the experiments and instrument, J.-L. S., M.-H. Y, Y.-H, C. and H.-T. H. designed the process. J.-L. S. and C.-Y. C supervision. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Supplementary Materials. The following are available online, Figure S1. XRD patterns, Figure S2. UV/Vis absorption spectra, Figure S3. XPS spectra, Figure S4. Photodegradation removal efficiency of toluene using K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst at various calcination temperature under UVLED, Figure S5. Photodegradation removal efficiency of toluene using K-OMS-2/Al₂O₃ catalyst at various space velocities under WLED, Table S1. Illumination of light sources from the top view, Table S2. Illumination of light sources from the bottom view, Table S3 List of all experimental conditions.



REFERENCES

- Liu, Y., Li, C., Peyravi, A., Sun, Z., Zhang, G., Rahmani, K., Zheng, S., Hashisho, Z. (2021) Mesoporous MCM-41 derived from natural Opoka and its application for organic vapors removal. J. Hazard. Mater. 408, 124911.
- [2] Song, X., Pang, Y., Gao, L. (2021) Preparation of bimetal modified HMS molecular sieve and its desulfurization performance mechanism. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 35, e6393.
- [3] Li, H., Fu, B., Huang, H., Wu, S., Ge, J., Zhang, J., Li, F., Qu, P. (2022) Catalytic degradation of organic pollutants by manganese oxides: a comprehensive review. Environmental Pollutants and Bioavailability. 34, 395-406.
- [4] Gong, P., He, F., Xie, J., Fang, D. (2023) Catalytic removal of toluene using MnO₂-based catalysts: A review. Chemosphere. 318, 137938.
- [5] Blin, J.L., Michelin, L., Lebeau, B., Naydenov, A., Velinova, R., Kolev, H., Gaudin, P., Vidal, L., Dotzeva, A., Tenchev, K., Todorova, S. (2021) Co–Ce Oxides Supported on SBA-15 for VOCs Oxidation. Catalysts. 11, 366.
- [6] Lu, A., Li, Y., Liu, F., Liu, Y., Ye, H., Zhuang, Z., Li, Y., Ding, H., Wang, C. (2021) The photogeochemical cycle of Mn oxides on the Earth's surface. Mineral. Mag. 85(1), 22–38.
- [7] Yang, R., Fan, Y., Ye, R., Tang, Y., Cao, X., Yin, Z., Zeng, Z. (2021) MnO₂-Based materials for environmental applications. Adv. Mater. 33(9), 2004862.
- [8] Zhong, M, Li, M., Fan, Z., Huang, W., Hao, H., Xia, Z., Zhang, Q., Peng, H., Zhang, Y. (2023) Tuning the crystallinity of MnO₂ oxidant to achieve highly efficient pollutant degradation. Chin. Chem. Lett. 34(1), 107189-1-107189-7.
- [9] Santos, D.F.M., Soares, O.S.G.P., Figueiredo, J.L., Sanz, O., Montes, M., Pereira, M.F.R. (2020) Preparation of ceramic and metallic monoliths coated with cryptomelane as catalysts for VOC abatement. Cheml. Eng. J. 382, 122923.
- [10] Li, L., Liu, Y., Liu, J., Zhou, B., Guo, M., Liu, L. (2022) Catalytic degradation of toluene over MnO₂/LaMnO₃: effect of phase type of MnO₂ on activity. Catalysts. 12, 1666.
- [11]Li, Y., Hou, J., Liu, L., Lv, H., Zhao, X. (2013) Tuning the K⁺ concentration in the tunnel of OMS-2 nanorods leads to a significant enhancement of the catalytic activity for benzene oxidation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47 (23), 13730– 13736.
- [12] Hao, J., Ni, C., Ren, L., Yin, H., Wang, M., Tan, W. (2020) Simultaneous introduction of K⁺ and Rb⁺ into OMS-2 tunnels as an available strategy for substantially increasing the catalytic activity for benzene elimination. Environmental Research. 191, 110146.

- [13] Jothiramalingam, R., Wang, M.K. (2007) Synthesis, Characterization and photocatalytic activity of porous manganese oxide doped titania for toluene decomposition. J. Hazard. Mater. 147(1-2), 562–569.
- [14] Zhang, T., Yan, X., Sun, D.D. (2012) Hierarchically multifunctional K-OMS-2/TiO₂/Fe₃O₄ heterojunctions for the photocatalytic oxidation of humic acid under solar light irradiation. J. Hazard. Mater. 243, 302-310.
- [15] Said, S., Maghrabi, H.H.E., Raid, M., Mikhail, S. (2018) Photo-catalytic selective organic transformations by Fe-doped octahedral molecular sieves (manganese oxide) nano-structure. Journal of Asian Ceramic Societies. 6, 169-181.
- [16] Phuoc, H.H., Seong, C.L., Jieun, K., Doohwan, L., Hee, C.W. (2015) Properties of a manganese oxide octahedral molecular sieve (OMS-2) for adsorptive desulfurization of fuel gas for fuel cell applications. Fuel Processing Technology. 131, 238-246.
- [17] Liua, G., Liaob, S., Zhua, D., Cuia, J., Wenbing, Z. (2011) Solid-phase photocatalytic degradation of polyethylene film with manganese oxide OMS-2. Solid State Sciences. 13(1), 88–94.
- [18] Baldi, M., Milella, F., Gallardo-Amores, J.M., Busca, G. (1998) A study of Mn–Ti oxide powders and their behavior in propane oxidation catalysis. J. Mate. Chem. 8(11), 2525-2531.
- [19] Yu, C., Zhu, M.Q., Chen, J., Shen, Y.Y., Zhao, J., Tang, Y., Chen, X.Z. (2008) Solvent-free oxidation of cyclohexene over catalysts Au/OMS-2 and Au/La-OMS-2 with molecular oxygen. Original Research Article Chinese Journal of Catalysis. 29(11), 1127-1132.
- [20] Shanthakumar, S., Edward, K.N., Steven, L.S. (2008) OMS-2 catalyzed oxidation of tetralin: A comparative study of microwave and conventional heating under open vessel conditions. Appl. Catal.A: Gen. 348(2), 214-220.
- [21] Chen, S., Yang, L., Chen, D., Jiang, Z.J., Ding, D., Liu, M. (2014) Phase evolution of an alpha MnO₂-based electrode for pseudo-capacitors probed by in operando Raman spectroscopy. Nano Energy. 9, 161-167.
- [22] Tran, M.V., Ha, A.T. and Le, P.M.L. (2015) Nanoflake manganese oxide and nickel-manganese oxide synthesized by electrodeposition for electrochemical capacitor. Journal of Nanomaterials. 16(1), 230-230.
- [23] Lu, Q., Wang, Z., Li, J., Wang, P., Ye, X. (2009) Structure and photoluminescent properties of ZnO encapsulated in mesoporous silica SBA-15 fabricated by two-solvent strategy. Nanoscale Res. Lett. 4, 646–654.



- [24] Li, Y., Hou, J., Liu, L., Lv, H., Zhao, X. (2013) Tuning the K⁺ concentration in the tunnel of OMS-2 nanorods leads to a significant enhancement of the catalytic activity for benzene oxidation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47 (23), 13730– 13736.
- [25] Liu, G., Liao, S., Zhu, D., Cui, J., Zhou, W. (2011) Solid-phase photocatalytic degradation of polyethylene film with manganese oxide OMS-2. Solid State Sciences. 13, 88-94.
- [26] Clarke, T.J., Kondrat, S.A. and Taylor, S.H. (2015) Total oxidation of naphthalene using copper manganese oxide catalysts. Catalysis Today. 258(2), 610–615.
- [27] Fagbemi, L., Khezami, L. and Capart, R. (2001) Pyrolysis products from different biomasses: application to the thermal cracking of tar. Applied Energy. 69(4), 293-306.
- [28] Chao, G., Yuping, D., Pengfei, F., Zhaoling, Z., Jingcui, L. and Pengju, X. (2015) Kinetic study on thermal decomposition of toluene in a micro fluidized bed reactor. Energy Conversion and Management. 106, 721–727.
- [29] Lee, C.H. Shie, J.L. Lu, Y.J. Chen, T.C. Yuan, M.H. Chen, Y.H. Chang, C.Y. (2022) Photodegradation of Toluene at visible light irradiation using CuO-doped photocatalyst. Fresen. Environ. Bull. 31(9), 9706-9720.

Received:	25.06.2023
Accepted:	29.07.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Je-Lueng Shie

Department of Environmental Engineering National I-Lan University I-Lan City 26041 – Taiwan

e-mail: jlshie@niu.edu.tw

MONITORING SUMMER CHLLOROPHYLIAN ACTIVITY, ALGEA BLOOMS AND SUSPENDED MATTER USING SENTINEL-3 DATA IN GOOGLE EARTH ENGINE IN THE MEDITERANEAN COAST (WESTERN ALGERIA)

Abdelkader Boumelik¹, Abbassia Ayache^{1,*}, Mohamed Islem Bouacha², Hamza Mohammed Belkebir¹

¹Laboratory of Plant Biodiversity: Conservation and Valorization. Faculty of Natural and Life Science. Djilali Liabes University, Ex- ITMA, BP 89, 22000, Sidi Bel Abbes, Algeria

²Department of Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Natural and Life Sciences, Agrobiotechnology and Nutrition laboratory in Arid zones, University of Ibn Khaldoun, Tiaret 14000-Algeria.

ABSTRACT

The chlorophyll monitoring assesses the abundance of algea blooms in the water. The rate of chlorophyll activity and suspended matter on the coast of Oran (western Algeria) was monitored from physico-chemical analyses of 300 water samples taken during the four-year summer season: 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021. Remote sensing data available on the Google Earth Engine platform with Sentinel-3 images generated during the same sampling period were also used. The mapping of the variation of the parameters of chlorophyll activity and suspended matter shows the persistence of a gradient parallel to the coast and this takes a center-north direction with the strongest trends. While the eastern zone shows a weakness of activity. This decrease extends, showing a greater transition zone. These results show the appearance of summer algal fluorescences from south to north, which may indicate an expansion of eutrophication in correlation with environmental changes and anthropogenic activities, This allows to highlight the general trends of the sea throughout the year, while exhausting large quantities of oxygen in the water, which increases the pollution of the coastline of Oran.

KEYWORDS:

Monitoring, Chlorophyll, suspended matter, Algae Blooms, Summer, Google Earth Engine, Coastline.

INTRODUCTION

The disruption of chlorophyll activity and accumulation of suspended matter on the Oran coastline in western Algeria are mainly due to water pollution [1, 2]. The reasons are the economic development on the coastal environment which is characterized by high urbanization and various activities [3, 4]. Knowing; the sea contains many species of flora and fauna [5, 6]. It is important that the physicochemical quality of these waters be continually assessed to ensure that the ecological balance is maintained [7, 8]. In particular, excessive algal abundance is an important indicator of an imbalance [9, 10, 11]. Thus, detection of rate of chlorophyll activity is important for the description of its abundance [14, 15]. This estimate makes it possible to evaluate the marine ecosystem and useful for the detection of cyanobacteria [16, 17]. The cyanobacteria are commonly and naturally occurring in many aquatic systems around the world [18, 19]. They can massively kill fish, contaminate seafood with toxins and negatively alter the ecosystem [20, 21]. If the amount of nutrients in the water is too high, phytoplankton spreads more quickly. The chlorophyll concentrations thus increase [22, 23]. Remote sensing techniques offer significant advantages over in situ monitoring, depending on temporal and spatial coverage [24, 25]. As chlorophyll is a photosynthetic pigment, it causes distinctive changes in water color by absorbing and dispersing sunlight [26, 27]. The chlorophyll level can be estimated from spectral reflection data captured remotely and by linking the reflected light to specific wavelengths at its concentration [28, 29]. The aim of this research is to propose the use of radiometric data for the estimation of chlorophyll activity level, algal proliferation and suspended matter, see their performance using Sentinel-3 images on the Google Earth engine platform. In contrast, in situ estimates of the concentration of chemical components in water such as ammonium, nitrate, nitrite and phosphorus were made at 300 samples points on the Oran coastline.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Description of the study area. The Algerian coastline spans over 1200 km from Marsat Ben-Mhidi (35° 11' 38'' N and 01° 51' 37'' W) to El-Kala (36° 53' 44'' N and 8° 26' 36'' E). The province of Oran is a port city in the Mediterranean, northwest of Algeria. It is located 432 km west of the capital Algiers, its population is 1700000 inhabitants and its area is 2121 km². It is bordered by provinces:





Location of study area. The proposed map shows the province of Oran. It is bordered to the north by the Mediterranean Sea, it is a port city of the Mediterranean, and its area is 2,121 km².

to the east by Mostaganem, to the south-east by Mascara, to the south-west by Sidi-Bel-Abbes and to the west by Ain Temouchent. The town of Oran is located at the bottom of a bay open to the north and directly overlooked to the west by the 420 m high Aïdour mountain (Murdjajo) and the plateau of Moulay Abdelkader al-Jilani. The province of Oran is a very important industrial hub [30, 31]. In sedimentological point, the northern end of the Mediterranean of the African continent is extended at sea by a small underwater border; more or less, it ensures the transition with the great depths of Algeria Balearic Basin: the North African continental or pre-continental margin and the North African continental margin. The continental shelf is flat with a very low slope (0 to 46°), extending between the zero level and the first inflection of the bottom between (90 m and 120 m) [32, 33]. The sedimentary cover of this plateau is varied in nature, starting with the limestone, which is the main constituent of the sediment; it forms a carpet covering the entire continental shelf, compared to the cal-sludge. They cover a large part of the Gulf of Oran, are very rich in rock debris and fresh, transparent shells, while silky clay mud represents a small percentage on the edges of this golf course [34, 35]. In the hydrological point, the Algerian basin is subject to the direct influence of the very turbulent Atlantic current which is related to the proximity of the Strait of Gibraltar and is of great importance in the Oran coastline. The climate is of the Mediterranean type, particularly warm in summer and mild in winter, these conditions are due to the alternation of cool and wet breezes and warm and dry breezes [36, 37]. The rainfall varies from year to year, is one of the lowest in northern Algeria, varies between 350 mm and 400 mm and cannot exceed 200 mm to 250 mm, in some dry years [38, 39]. The coastal waters of Oran are exposed to various forms of pollution whose origin remains: industries, uncontrolled urban expansion, tourist concentration and economic and social development cause the degradation of natural environments [40, 41].

Physicochemical analyses. Three hundred monitoring points on the Oran coast were chosen for the physico-chemical analysis of the water. These points were located near urban areas, commercial ports and other coastal human activities (Figure 2). Samples were collected in the summer of 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021. The nutrients considered are nitrite, nitrate, ammonium, total phosphorus; were analyzed in the laboratory using the standard colorimetric method [42, 43]. As a reminder; ammonium Ammonia exists in water in two main forms: NH₃⁺ and NH₄⁺. At its usual pH, ammonium (NH₄⁺) remains the most dominant form. Ammonium assay is



performed using the Koroleff (1969) method. This assay determines all the ammo-niacal nitrogen. Determination of nitrate (NO₃) after reducing nitrate ions to nitrite ions, the method applied is the Bendschneider & Robinson (1952) method. The determination of nitrites (NO₂) is made using the Bendschneider & Robinson (1952) method. Nitrite ions form a diazoic complex with sulphanilamide in an acid medium. Phosphates are all dissolved forms of the orthophosphate ion (PO³₄). Their assay is carried out according to the method of Murphy & Riley (1962). This test makes it possible to determine the orthophosphate ions dissolved in seawater. Phosphate ions react with ammonium molybdate, in the presence of antimony, to form a complex that is reduced by adding ascorbic acid. In our study; all water parameter concentrations are expressed in mg/l.

Sentinel-3 data processing. In this study, the use of remote sensing as a means of surveillance is an inevitable alternative, thanks in particular to the availability of various sensors orbiting the earth; these on-board instruments provide access to several information on marine ecosystems [42, 43]. In this sense, we have chosen to exploit the data provided by the sentinel-3 sensors OLCI (ocean and earth color); From the COPERNICUS program of the European Space Agency. Sentinel-3 is a constellation of satellites orbiting the earth with the aim of acquiring data on the topography of the seas and oceans, the temperature of the seas and continents and their colors, Due to the high rotation frequency and availability of data, we have chosen to use data that is made available to users online for free [44, 45].

However, given the large amount of data required for our research and to avoid the costly procedures of downloading images one by one, we opted for the use of cloud computing platforms like Google Earth Engine (GEE) for acquisition speed, processing of different data sources [46, 47]. Google Earth Engine is a cloud computing platform that has become essential for the diversity of data available to users, but also for the ease of use, especially in downloading and processing time series of satellite images. The sentinel-3 data available on the platform are the sentinel-3B OLCI EFR data, including radiance values [48, 49]. The Ocean and Land Color Instrument (OLCI) Full Resolution Earth Observation (EFR) dataset contains radiances from the top of the atmosphere in 21 spectral bands with center wavelengths between 0.4 µm and 1.02 µm at 300 m spatial resolution with global coverage every 2 days [50, 51]. Knowing that it is not possible to generate geophysical parameters from radiance data, and faced with the impossibility of performing atmospheric corrections directly on the GEE platform, we chose to write a script allowing to download the scenes corresponding to the period (put the sampling period) which corresponds to the sampling campaign of the study site in summer 2020. Moreover, knowing that the sentinel-3 images used have 21 spectral bands allowing different information, we have chosen to download only the spectral bands corresponding to the chlorophyll activity and the organic matter in suspension in the water corresponding only to the study site (Table n°1). The atmospheric correction was carried out according to an appropriate algorithm. The downloaded and listed data was processed to obtain the reflectance values using a script written in python under the SNAPPY module, a utility developed by the European Space Agency for processing sentinel data [52, 53]. About linking and matching data to sample points; the reflectance-corrected images are subjected to a supervised classification of the maximum likelihood by pressing on regions of interest which correspond to each monitoring point with the software (Environment for Visualizing Images ENVI, version 5.1). It is one of the most popular classification methods in remote sensing, in which a pixel with the maximum likelihood is classified into the corresponding class. The likelihood is defined as the posterior probability of a pixel belonging to class k. The maximum likelihood method has an advantage from the perspective of probability theory, but attention should be paid to the following. Sufficient ground truth data must be sampled to allow estimation of the population mean vector and variance-covariance matrix. The inverse matrix of the variance-covariance matrix becomes unstable in case there is a very high correlation between two bands or the ground truth data is very homogeneous. In such cases, the number of bands should be reduced by principal component analysis. When the population distribution does not follow the normal distribution, the maximum likelihood method cannot be applied [54, 55]. The classified images are integrated into a geographic information system for the extraction of the values corresponding to each sampling point, with the aim of finding a correspondence (correlation) between the measurements by the onboard instruments and the various parameters obtained in the laboratory after sample analysis.

Statistical and Spatial Analysis. We studied the correlations between the averages and the variances of all the physi-co-chemical parameters and the levels of the reflectance which indicates the spectral response rate of the chlorophyll activity and the suspended matter of the water obtained. The maps finally retained for the chlorophyll activity parameters are: the chlorophyll reference (Chl-min), max chlorophyll absorption (Chl-max), chlorophyll vegetation (Chl-Veg). For bloom algae area, the parameters are: chlorophyll fluorescence red border (chlred), chlorophyll fluorescence red border (Modis-Chl). For suspended matter, the parameters are: yellow and detrital pigment substance (yellow-sub), sediment loading rate (sedi-lod), turbidity (Sedi-Turbi). The main real threat to the validity of significance tests arises when the means of the variables



by group are correlated with the variances (or standard deviations). Intuitively, if there is high scatter in a group with particularly high means for a variable, those high means will not be reliable. However, tests of overall significance are based on pooled variances, that is, the average variance of all groups. Therefore, significance tests for the relatively larger means (with large variances) are based on the relatively smaller pooled variances, inducing erroneous statistical significance. In practice, this situation can arise when a study group has a few atypical points, strongly impacting the averages, and contributing to increasing the dispersion. To counter this problem, carefully examine descriptive statistics, especially correlations between means and standard deviations or variances. Principal component analysis concerns

the calculation of the principal components of the associated statistics. We performed this analysis on images in the pre-processing phase using ENVI 5.1 software to visually classify variables and observations. In fact, we often analyze the scalar product of these matrices, to clarify the interpretation of the results. The spatial representation of the results obtained by the interpolation method is also retained to study the distribution and the limit in space of the physico-chemical elements of water. Spatial analyzes were performed using ArcGis 10.2 software. Finally; we have opted for the superposition of the maps of chlorophyll activity and turbidity with those of the physico-chemical elements to visualize the zones vulnerable to pollution in the Oran coastline.



FIGURE 2

Location of samples points. The 300 monitoring sites are located to urban areas, commercial ports and other coastal human activities in Oran coastline. In the table 1 of supplementary materials; the geographical coordinates of each point were mentioned.

 TABLE 1

 Sentinnel-3 images downloaded from Google Earth Engine summer 2020.

Ν	Name	Units	Scale	Wavelength	Description				
1	Oa02_radiance	Wm^-2sr^-1 µm^-1	0.0133873	412.5nm/10nm	Yellow substance and detrital pigments				
2	Oa03_radiance	Wm^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.0121481	442.5nm/10nm	Chl absorption max, vegetation				
3	Oa04_radiance	Wm^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.0115198	490nm/10nm	High Chl, other pigments				
4	Oa05_radiance	Wm^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.0100953	510nm/10nm	Chl, sediment, turbidity, redtide				
5	Oa06_radiance	Wm^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.0123538	560nm/10nm	Chlorophyll reference (Chl minimum)				
6	Oa07_radiance	W m^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.00879161	620nm/10nm	Sediment loading				
7	Oa08_radiance	W m^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.00876539	665nm/10nm	Chl absorbtion max, sediment				
8	Oa10_radiance	W m^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.00773378	681.25nm/7.5nm	Chl fluorescence peak, rededge				
9	Oal1_radiance	W m^-2 sr^-1 µm^-1	0.00675523	708.75nm/10nm	Chl fluorescence rededge transition				





FIGURE 3

Photos of Oran coastline. (a) tourism; (b) coastal cities; and (c) miscellaneous commercial activities.

TABLE 2.								
Results of physico-chemical analysis of 300 monitoring samples points in Oran coastline.								
N=300	Nitrite	Nitrate	Ammonium	Phosphorus				
Min	0,003	0,004	0,067	0,033				
Max	1,567	3,279	6,861	3,876				
Moy	0,409	0,756	1,727	0,803				
St-dev	0,289	0,496	1,123	0,580				

*This table illustrates the values of: maximum, minimum, average and standard deviation of physico-chemical water nutrient.

RESULTS

Physicochemical water nutrient. The main physicochemical analysis results obtained are shown in mg/l the following table 2. Note that the most remarkable concentration values are retained for ammonium (with a minimum of 0.1200 mg/l and a maximum of 6.8600 mg/l) and nitrite (with a minimum of 0.0900 mg/l and a maximum of 1.6230 mg/l). The average value of 1.0510 ± 0.60298 mg/l was recorded for nitrates, phosphorus shows significant concentrations with 1.1140 ± 0.54939 mg/l on average.

Spatial Analysis of physicochemical water nutrient. We note that the lowest concentrations of nitrate persist in the parallel band close to the coast, whose values belong to class C1 [0.04 mg/l, 0.36mg/l]. At a distance of a few meters we notice the progressive evolution of the concentrations, let us quote the main classes: C2[0.36 mg/l, 0.58mg/l], C3[0.58 mg/l, 0.80mg/l], C4[0.80 mg /l, 0.99mg/l] and C5[0.99mg/l, 1.19mg/l] (Figure 4). The extreme western zone shows significant concentrations: C6[1.19 mg/l, 1.46mg/l], C7[1.46 mg/l, 2.05mg/l] and C8[2.05 mg/l, 3.04mg/l]. A very remarkable central band in the center of the study perimeter, it is characterized by the presence of high values of nitrite; include classes C6[0.57 mg/l, 0.73mg/l], C7[0.73 mg/l, 0.96mg/l] and C8[0.96mg/l, 1.37mg/l]. This gradient persists towards the north. The rest of the study area marks medium to low values with an increasing gradient towards the north. The presence of the following classes as: C1[0.03 mg/l, 0.14mg/l], C2[0.14 mg/l, 0.25mg/l], C3[0.25mg/l, 0.35mg/l], C4[0.35 mg/l, 0.45mg/l] and C5[0.45mg/l, 0.57mg/l]. The concentrations of

FEB



FIGURE 4

Spatial Analysis of physicochemical water. (a) Spatial distribution of nitrate concentration ;(b) Spatial distribution of nitrite concentration; (c) Spatial distribution of ammonium concentration; (c) Spatial distribution of phosphorus concentration.



FIGURE 5

Mapping of intensity of activity chlorophyll in Oran coastline.

We distinguish tree classes according to the level of chlorophyll: Good significant activity, acceptable medium activity and eutrophication poor activity. (a) Activity chlorophyll minimum; (b) activity chlorophyll maximum; (c) activity chlorophyll vegetation

FEB

phosphorus is very notable, we note that the high values persist in the central and western part. An increasing gradient towards the north is recorded in the eastern part. phosphorus culminates in the following classes: C1[0.03 mg/l, 0.18mg/l], C2[0.18 mg/l, 0.26mg/l], C3[0.26mg/l, 0.34mg/l], C4[0.34mg /l, 0.42mg/l], C5[0.42mg/l, 0.52mg/l], C6[0.52mg/l, 0.61mg/l], C7[0.61mg/l, 0.73mg/l], C8[0.73mg/l, 0.96mg/l]. For ammonium, the concentrations are very diverse throughout the study area. We note the distribution of the poles where the values follow a decreasing gradient and other poles whose concentrations are increasing. Ammonium concentrations range from 0.06mg/l to 4.40mg/l. the classes selected are: C1[0.06 mg/l, 0.73mg/l], C2[0.73 mg/l, 1.07mg/l], C3[1.07mg/l, 1.37mg/l], C4[1.37mg/l, 1.66mg/l], C5[1.66mg/l, 1.97mg/l], C6[1.97mg/l, 2.34mg/l], C7[2.34 mg/l, 2.92mg/l], C8[2.92mg/l, 4.40mg/1]

Mapping of chlorophyll activity parameters. The maximum production of chlorophyll (Chl-max) shows a band parallel to the coastline where urbanization and anthropogenic activities are abundant. The concentrations are very high. The extreme eastern part of the study area shows low chlorophyll activity. The central western part records an average activity (Figure 5).

For the beginning of accumulation of the reference chlorophyll (Chl-min); we observe the persistence of a very visible band near the coast whose activity. Note that a strong activity whose spectral response is very important. The east coast is marked by a weakness of activity with the spreading of this gradient towards the north. The bands Chlorophyll Vegetation (Chl-veg) takes the vertical parallel to the north, distinguishing two zones. The first is located in the eastern part, this gradient containing low activity. The second central zone with important activity (Figure S1 (a);(b);(c);(d)).



FIGURE 6

Mapping of rate of accumulation of suspended matter in Oran coastline. We distinguish tree classes: high accumulation, medium accumulation and low accumulation. (a) sediment loading; (b) Other pigment of Chlorophyll; (c) Chlorophyll sediment and turbidity; (d) Yellow substance and detrital pigments.





Mapping of algea bloom sarea in Oran coastline. We distinguish tree classes: high algea bloomsarea, medium algea blooms area and low algea blooms area. (a) Maximum Chlorophyll fluorescence; (b) Minimum Chlorophyll fluorescence.

Mapping of suspended matter parameters. The sediment loading (sedi-lod) rate is very low in the eastern part and marks the low values of reflectance. We notice the majority of the coastline almost a few kilometers near urban areas records a significant sediment loading rate (Figure 6) For Yellow substance and detrital pigments (yellow-sub) in the eastern part; we observe a vertical gradient crossing green the central zone of the coast with the persistence of low rate. We are heading towards the central and western part; we note the presence of significant concentrations. The Chlorophyll sediment and turbidity (Chl-sed) is significant with remarkable quantities in horizontal parallel of the Oran coast. Two small poles are formed with only one class of high concentrations; one in the center of the study area, and the other in the west. Other pigment of Chlorophyll (High-Chl) shows the same trend as chlorophyll turbidity; whose rate of accumulation of suspended solids is persistent in a gradient from east to north. The central and western part records the highest concentrations (Figure S3 (a);(b);(c);(d), Figure S4 (a);(b);(c);(d)).

Mapping of algae blooms parameters. The band of the minimum of Chlorophyll fluorescence red edge (Modis-Chl) is narrow with the parallel of the coastline of Oran where we can distinguish two poles, the first is located in the extreme eastern part; whose gradient is very important. The central and western part of the coast is marked by the presence of only highest values (Figure 7).

The maximum Chlorophyll fluorescence red edge (chl-red) takes a different path than that of Chlorophyll fluorescence red edge (Modis-Chl). The band takes the vertical parallel to the north, distinguishing two zones. The first is located in the eastern part, this gradient containing the low values. The second central zone and extends to the north only by the medium values. We observe that this gradient resumes its horizontal direction towards the west (Figure S2 (a);(b);(c);(d)).

DISCUSSION

The monitoring of coastal and marine ecosystems is done through the evaluation of the physicochemical nutrient which make it possible to characterize the quality of the water [56, 57], in order to identify the spatial evolution in the understanding of the eutrophication process, the detection of the abundance of algae and more particularly the dynamics of chlorophyll activity. These measurements are influenced by continental and anthropogenic inputs [58, 59] and are important indicators of imbalance for the overall characterization of the aquatic system [56, 59]. This work constitutes the main results obtained for the sampling campaign of the summer of years: 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 in the Oran coast, making it possible to characterize the water masses sampled at the monitoring points. The method adopted was physico-chemical analysis of water from three hundred sampling points; this step was completed by the remote sensing method to estimate chlorophyll activity, algal fluorescence and suspended matter. Coastal inputs related to human activities combined with the effects of climate change have multiple consequences attributable to eutrophication phenomena [59, 61]. It was therefore important to simultaneously acquire field data [60, 61]. The estimation of chlorophyll concentrations is one of most scientifically revelant and commonly used applications of remote sensing to aquatic coastal systems because of the complex composition and distribution of optically active constituents [62, 63]. The measurements of fluorescence of phytoplankton are benefiacial for monitoring water quality due to the dynamic nature of such environments and is facilitated by satellite


remote sensing particulary medium resolution sensors such as modis, meris and OLCI [62, 63]. From the results of the physico-chemical analyzes of the sampled waters, we can say that the sea waters of the Oran coast are characterized by: a high concentration of ammonium of 6.86 mg / 1 maximum, phosphorus total and nitrates miss concentrations range between 0.05mg/l and 3.94mg/l while nitrites are in 1.62 mg/l maximum. Ammonium shows small variations on all the points, the standard deviation is estimated at 1.26. However, relatively low values are observed in summer with more or less significant fluctuations indicating that the concentrations at the coast are greater. The nitrite and nitrate concentrations show significant fluctuations from one point to another. The levels are on average very low in summer, only 0.49 mg/l and 1.05 mg/l. However, exceptionally high concentrations are observed at sites along the coast. The concentrations of the nutrients recorded are reduced compared to the other seasons which coincide with the period of optimal chlorophyll activity. Nitrates and nitrites are naturally occurring ions in the environment [64, 65]. They are the result of nitrification of the ammonium ion is strongly linked to the dynamics of nutrient salts such as nitrates and phosphates [64, 67]. Ammonium is the average seasonal cycle of ammoniacal nitrogen [66, 67]. These elements are required for the assessment of the influence of continental nutrient inputs on possible eutrophication processes in the marine environment [68, 69]. According to the monitoring of nutrient dynamics along the northern coast in Picardy by Nzigou and Lefebvre, 2013; that the maximum concentrations of nitrate and nitrite are observed in the winter period, while the minimum concentrations are recorded for the summer season [59, 70]. The seasonal dynamics of phosphorus are marked by high values in winter and autumn and low values during spring and tend to increase for the summer season and then reach high values in winter [59, 70]. Ammonium concentrations are lower in spring and summer and higher in winter and fall. This dynamic is consistent with nutrient utilization during the productive period [59, 70]. According to Jaquet, 2002; the limiting factor for phytoplankton growth is the presence of nutrients. These can be either of natural origin, such as upwelling zones or cold currents, or of anthropogenic origin: leaching of fertilizers, discharge into the sea of wastewater of various kinds (household, industrial, chemical) [70, 71]. The common temporal dynamics of all the physico-chemical parameters observed during the year follows the classic pattern of a temperate coastal system by the influence of hydrodynamics on coastal water temperatures [72, 73]. The mapping of chlorophyll activity estimates during the summer season shows the persistence of a very visible band near the coast whose activity is very important and high. The chlorophyll activity is slightly different between the sampling points except at the coastal points where slight variations are recorded. This can be explained by the formation of an algal biodiversity along the coast. The variation in chlorophyll concentrations shows a classic dynamic characterized by low activity in winter and autumn followed by high activity in spring and summer [74, 75]. Chlorophyll-a concentration is considered to be an indicator of total autotrophic biomass, as this abundant pigment is present in all plant organisms [72, 74]. According to Field et al. 1998; Siano 2007; ocean phytoplankton are responsible for about 50% of the annual primary production on Earth while they represent only 1% of the global biomass of the oceans [75, 76]. They obtained their primitive plastids from an ancestral cyanobacterium endowed with photosynthetic capacities. According to Reynolds 2006, Phytoplankton dynamics are particularly important in coastal areas, favored by the supply of nutrients from rivers, exchanges with offshore water masses and with sediment in shallow areas [73, 76]. It is closely linked to the variability of water quality, hence the fact that phytoplankton is often used as an indicator of the degradation of water bodies resulting from human activities [76, 77]. Phytoplankton react differently depending on the organisms to spatio-temporal changes in the environment [78, 79], because the physiological and morphological diversity of these organisms reflects the many strategies of life and adaptation to their environment [76, 79]. Pigments are part of the photosynthetic machinery of phytoplankton [77, 78]. They can be directly associated with: the capture of light and its conversion into chemical energy (photosynthetic pigments), the transmission of light energy to the photosystems, or photoprotection by allowing the dissipation of excess energy by fluorescence including the appearance of non-photosynthetic or accessory pigments [80, 81]. The estimation of fluorescence makes it possible to highlight efflorescences in the form of blooms [82, 83]. Our results obtained by fluorescence tau mapping; shows the appearance of significant bloom areas in the summer season in parallel along the coast of Oran. These chlorophyll biomasses are stronger on the monitoring sites, the latter being under the significant influence of the effect of a high concentration of nutrients, favoring significant blooms and greater variability during the productive period. The concentrations of organic matter during the productive period can be explained by the appearance during this same period of certain species responsible for phytoplankton blooms [84, 85]. Blooms are initiated in March to reach their highest peaks in the spring and summer season coinciding with the algea blooms period. A faint bloom also occurs in early fall [86, 87]. The dynamics of suspended solids and consequently the turbidity in the coastal zone play a major role in the productivity of these systems [86, 88]. It is indeed linked to phytoplankton development which predominates during periods of high biological productivity [88, 89]. The

values are higher in summer indicating greater production activity at the sampling sites. The fluctuations that are observed are related to sedimentary dynamics [90, 91]. Studies in estuarine waters have shown that the organic matter in the sediment generally remains very low [92, 93]. High organic matter concentrations also determine mineralization rates by heterotrophic bacteria [94, 95]. According to Brylinsky and Lagadeuc, 1990; The coastal water fringe is clearly influenced by land inputs: salinity is lower there than offshore and turbidity values are higher. Turbidity results from the presence of mineral or organic particles in suspension but also from the high concentration of living organisms [89, 95]. An increase in turbidity is the direct consequence of movements under the action of wind and currents, correlated with the tidal coefficient [92, 94]. The dynamics of suspended solids and consequently that of turbidity in the coastal zone play a major role in the productivity of these systems [93, 95]. Wind also plays a particularly important role in the resuspension, dispersion and regulation of turbidity between the coasts and the open sea [94, 95]. Wind direction has a strong influence on coastal dispersion [90, 95].

CONSLUSION

On the Oran coast and using Sentinel-3 images on the Google Earth engine; a mapping of the chlorophyll activity rate, areas of algal blooms and suspended solids using physico-chemical analyzes at three hundred measurement points was carried out. Our overall results show that the study area is characterized by a classic nutrient dynamics which shows low concentrations in summer describing a production and consumption regime. Dysfunction of chlorophyll activity due to nutrient loading is expected to increase the severity of eutrophication and algea blooms formation. the persistence of an increasing gradient of the algea blooms and the sediments parallel to the coast is closely linked to the increase in the content of nitrite and phosphorus in the water, the further one goes from the coast this gradient becomes decreasing. Remote sensing for estimating chlorophyll and turbidity levels from reflectance observations in Sentinel-3 images from the European Agency seems relevant for this contribution. An understanding of Chlorophyll dynamics is important for ecosystem restoration. In this case to complete this work, a project to assess the dynamics of biodiversity in phytoplankton is being carried out on the same monitoring sites. This would also make it possible to build larger databases containing useful information for a better appreciation of the local ecological context and preservation of the aquatic environment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The financial support from the Ministry of Higher Education and scientific research of Algeria, through to associated PRFU project (title: contribution to the understanding of the dynamics of the terrestrial natural environments of the west of Oranais: modalities of evolution of the land use in the relation of climatic and anthropogenic hazards) and for the direction of fishing and aquacuture of Oran of western Algeria, to the Algerian water laboratory of the province of Oran and sidi bel abbès for having agreed to do the physico-chemical of three hundred water samples, special thanks of European agency for giving us access to download sentinel-3 images.

REFERENCES

- Ghodbani, T.; Berrahi-Midoun, F. (2013). Coastalization in Western Algeria: multi-scalar analysis of human-space-ecosystem interactions. Space Populations Societies 1-2. Volume 2. http://doi: 10.4000/eps.5488. pp. 231-243. (In French).
- [2] Taibi, N.E. (2016).Conflict Between Coastal Tourism Development and Sustainability: case of Mostaganem, Western Algeria. European Journal of Sustainable Development, volume 5. http://doi: 10.14207/ejsd..v5n4, pp13-24.
- [3] Trouillet, B.; Guineberteau, T.; Guillaume, G.M.; Lamberts, C. (2008). The management of coastlines and seas. Guillotreau P. Mare Economicum. Challenges and future of maritime France and littorale, Rennes University Press. ffhal-00204713f, pp.457-509. (In French).
- [4] Ghazi,O.; Khalid, Z.; Al-Sebaie, A.; Salman, A. (2017). Impact of seasonal variation of chlorophyll-a level in source water on operational performance of swro plant. *The International Desalination Association World Congress on Desalination and Water Reuse*, Sao Paulo, Brazil REF: IDAWC17_58000 – Ozair. pp 1-16.
- [5] Henseler, C.; Nordstrom, M.; Tornoos, A.; Snickars, M.; Pecuchet,L.; Lindegren,M.; Bonsdorff, E.(2019). Coastal habitats and their importance for the diversity of benthic communities: A species- and trait-based approach. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, Volume 226, edition *Elsevier*. pp 1-4.
- [6] Abboud, M.; Abi, S.(2012). Marine biodiversity in coastal waters. *National Centre for Marine Sciences, National Council for Scientific Research.* Chapter 1, P.O. Box: 534, Batroun, Lebanon, January .29.pp 1-29.
- [7] Aarnio, K.; Mattila, J.; Törnroos, A.; Bonsdorff, E. (2011). Zoobenthos as an environmental quality element: the ecological significance of sampling design and functional traits. *Mar. Ecol*, Volume32(S1),. pp 58–71.



- [8] Weigel, B.; Blenckner, T.; Bonsdorff, E. (2016). Maintained functional diversity in benthic communities in spite of diverging functional identities. *Oikos*, pp 1–13.
- [9] Xiaoshen, Z.; Wei, L.; Wenling, L.; Jing, W. (2008). Methods of Chlorophyll Concentration Retrieval, in Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery. *FSKD '08. Fifth International Conference on*, 2008, pp. 76-80.
- [10] Benedetti-Cecchi, L. (2001). Variability in abundance of algae and invertebrates at different spatial scales on rocky sea shores. *Marine ecology progress series*. Vol 215: pp 79–92.
- [11] Canfield, D.; Phlips, E.; Duarte, C.M. (2011). Factors Influencing the Abundance of Blue-Green Algae in Florida Lakes. *Canadian Jour*nal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 2011.volume 46(7). pp1232-1237.
- [12] Karsenti, E.; Acinas, S.G.; Bork, P.; Bowler, C.; De Vargas, C.; Raes, J. A.(2011). holistic approach to marine eco-systems biology. *PLoSBiol.* 2011.volume 9, issue 10. pp 1-5.
- [13] Jacquet, S. (2005). Impact of nutrient inputs on the planktonic food web of the southwest lagoon of New Caledonia. doctoral thesis in Biodiversity and Ecology. Pierre and Marie Curie University - Paris VI. https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-00962269. pp 1-279. (In French).
- [14] Person, R. (2016). Study by modeling ofplankton primary production, a major processseasonal variability of CO2 partial pressure in the Southern Ocean. Oceanography. ffhal-01470779f. pp1-149. (In French).
- [15] Morelle, J. (2017). Spatial and temporal dynamics of primary production in the Seine estuary. doctoral thesis in Biodiversity. Normandie University, 2017. https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-01729055.pp1-338. (In French).
- [16] Chorus, I.; Bartram, J. (1999). Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water. A guide to their public health consequences, monitoring and management. pp1-432.
- [17] Moreira , C.; Ramos, V.; Azevedo, J.; Vasconcelos, V. (2014). Methods to detect cyanobacteria and their toxins in the environment. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*. Volume98(19). pp 8073-8082.
- [18] Sanseverino, I.; Conduto, D.; Pozzoli, L.; Dobricic, S.; Teresa, L. (2016). Algea blooms and its economic impact: EUR 27905 EN; pp 1-52.
- [19] Zanchett, G.; Oliveira-Filho, E.C. (2013) Cyanobacteria and Cyanotoxins: From Impacts on Aquatic Ecosystems and Human Health to Anticarcinogenic Effects. *Toxins (Basel)*. Volume5(10): pp 1896–1917.
- [20] Bláha, L.; Pavel, B.; Blahoskav, M. (2009). Toxins produced in cyanobacterial water blooms, Toxicity and risks. *Interdiscip. Toxicol.* volume2 pp36–41.

- [21] Marzetz,V.; Spijkerman, E.; Striebel, M.; Wacker, A.(2020). Phytoplankton Community Responses to Interactions Between Light Intensity, Light Variations, and Phosphorus Supply. Front. Environ. Sci. Volume 8.pp539-733.
- [22] Burson, A.; Stomp, M.; Greenwell, E.; Grosse, J.; Huisman, J. (2018). competition for nutrients and light; testing advances in resource competition with a naturel phytoplankton community. *Ecology*. volume 99. pp. 1108–1118.
- [23] Schalles, J. (2006). Optical remote sensing techniques to estimate phytoplankton chlorophyll a concentrations in coastal In book: Remote sensing of aquatic coastal ecosystem processes. Project: *Georgia Coastal Ecosystem LTER*. pp 27-79.
- [24] Nazeer, M.; Nichol, J. (2015). Development and application of aremote sensing-based Chlorophyll-a concentration prediction model for complex coastal waters of Hong Kong. *Journal* of Hydrology.Volume 532. pp 80-89.
- [25] Gupana, R.; dermatt, D.; Cesana, I.; Giardino, C.; Nedbal, L.; Damm, A. (2021). Remote sensing of sun-induced chlorophyll-*a* fluorescence in inland and coastal waters: Current state and future prospects. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. pp1-21.
- [26] Sagan,V.; Peterson, K.T.; Maimaitijiang, M.; Sidike, P.; Sloan, J.; Greeling, B.A.; Maalouf, S.; Adams, C.(2020). Monitoring inland water quality using remote sensing: potential and limitations of spectral indices, bio-optical simulations, machine learning, and cloud computing. *Elsevier*. pp 1-73.
- [27] Wang, G.; Moisan, J. (2020). Remote Sensing of Phytoplankton Pigments. Chapter in book: *Plankton communities*.pp1-19.
 Gholizadeh, M.H.; Melesse, A.M.; Reddi, L.; Tømmervik, H.(2016). Comprehensive Review on Water Quality Parameters Estimation Using Remote Sensing Techniques. *Sensors (Basel)*. Volume 16(8). pp1-43.
- [28] Sahnoun, F.; Bendraoua, A.; Hadjel, M. (2010). Control of marine pollution of the Oran coast. Communication Science & technology. COST. 2010. No. 8. pp 147-149. (In French).
- [29] Douwe, J.J.; Hinsbergen, V.; Trond, H.T.; Schmid, S.M.; Maţenco, L.C.; Maffione; M.; Vissers, R.L.M.; Gürer, D.; Spakman, w. (2020). Orogenic architecture of the Mediterranean region and kinematic reconstruction of its tectonic evolution since the Triassic. *Gondwana Research*. Volume 81.pp79-229.
- [30] Mihoubi, A.; Schnurle, P.; Benaissa, Z. ;Badsi, M. (2014). Seismic imaging of the eastern Algerian margin off Jijel: Integrating wide-angle seismic modelling and multichannel seismic pre-stack depth migration. *Geophysical Journal International*.volume 198(3). pp1486-1503.

FEB

- [31] Yelles Chaouche, A.; Déverchère, J.; Bracène, R. (2009). Plio-Quaternary reactivation of the Neogene margin off NW Algiers, Algeria: The Khayr al Din bank. *Tectonophysics*.volume 475(1). pp 98-116.
- [32] Naranjo, C.; Sammartino, S.; Lafuente, J.G.; Bellanco, M. (2015). Mediterranean waters along and across the Strait of Gibraltar, characterization and zonal modification. *Deep Sea Research Part I Oceanographic Research Papers*. volume105. pp 41-52.
- [33] Criado-Aldeanueva, F.; Soto-Navarro, J. (2020). Climatic Indices over the Mediterranean Sea: A Review. *MDPI. Appl. Sci*, 10(17),5790; pp 1-12.
- [34] Meddi, M. (2013). Sediment transport and rainfall erosivity evolution in twelve basins in central and western algeria. *Journal of Urban and Environmental Engineering*. Volume 7, pp 253-263.
- [35] Meddi, M. (2021). Uncertainties in raifall and water ressources in Maghreb. Chapter in *springer*. pp1-30.
- [36] Ladji, H.; Benrachedi, K.; Djoumad, S. (2019). Analysis of Climatic Drought using Drought Indices in Algiers Region . *Algerian Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. Vol.5. No3. pp1234-1242.
- [37] Habibi, B.; Meddi, M.; Torfs, P.J.J.F.; Remaoun, M.; Van Lanen, H.A.J. (2018). Characterisation and prediction of meteorological drought using stochastic models in the semi-arid Chéliff–Zahrez basin (Algeria). *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*. Volume 16.,pp15-31.
- [38] Skoum,K.; Fouzi Talhi,M.;Cheriti,A.; Bourmit a,Y.; Belboukhari,N.; Boulenouar, N.; Taleb, S. (2012). Water in Algerian Sahara: Environmental and Health impact. Advancing Desalination book. Chapter 10.197-216.
- [39] Zahedi, S. (2008). Tourism impact on coastal environment. *Environmental Problems in Coastal Regions VII*. Volume 99. pp 45-57.
- [40] Chu, E.W.; Karr, J.R. (2017). Environmental Impact: Concept, Consequences, Measurement *Elsevier in book*: Reference Module in the Life Sciences *Public Health Emergency Collection*. pp1-22.
- [41] Patey, M.D.; Rijkenberg, M.J. A.; Statham, P.J.; Stinchcombe, M.C. (2008). Determination of nitrate and phosphate in seawater at nanomolar concentrations. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*. volume 27(2). pp169-182.
- [42] James W. O. (1993). Method 353.2, Revision 2.0: Determination of Nitrate-Nitrite Nitrogen by Automated Colorimetry. Dell Inorganic Chemistry Branch Chemistry Research Division. Environmental monitoring systems laboratory office of research and development u.s. environmental protection agency 45268. https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015/08/documents/method_353-

2_1993.pdf.pp1-26.

- [43] Fingas, M. (2019). Chapter 5: Remote Sensing for Marine Management. World Seas: an Environmental Evaluation (Second Edition), Volume III: *Ecological Issues and Environmental Impacts.* pp 103-119.
- [44] Clark, C.D. (2007). Satellite remote sensing of marine pollution. *International journal of remote sensing*. Taylor and Francis Volume 14, 1993, Issue16.pp 2985-3004.
- [45] Estévez, J.; Salinero-Delgado, M.; Berger, K.; Pipia, L. ;PabloRivera-Caicedo, J.; Wocher, M.; Reyes-Muñoz, P.; Tagliabue, G.; Boschetti, M.; Verrelst, J. (2022). traits in Google Earth Engine based on Sentinel-2 topof-atmosphere data. *Remote Sensing of Envi*ronment.Volume273. pp1-19.
- [46] Lalit, K.; Onisimo, M. (2019). Google Earth Engine Applications. *Edited by Printed Edition* of the Special Issue Published in Remote Sensing.volume11,59. pp1-4.
- [47] Bourg, L.; Bruniquel J.; Morris, H.; Dash J.; Preusker, R.; Dransfeld, S. (2021). Copernicus Sentinel-3 OLCI Land User Handbook. Preparation and operations of the mission performance centre (mpc) for the copernicus sentinel-3 mission. S3MPC.ACR.HBK.001. pp1-59.
- [48] Verma, N. (2022). Analyse the feasibility of using Earth Observation data to evaluate the optimal location in space for observing Earth as an exoplanet. Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial ful filment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation. http://essay.utwente.nl/92917/1/Verma_MA_FacultyofITC.pdf.pp 1-43.
- [49] Yang, J.; Zhang, J. (2019). Validation of Sentinel-3A/3B Satellite Altimetry Wave Heights with Buoy and Jason-3 Data. *Sensors (Basel)*. Satellite Remote Sensing in Environmental Monitoring, MDPI, Volume 19 (13). pp1-14.
- [50] Djamai, N. (2018). Comparison of SNAP-Derived Sentinel-2A L2A Product to ESA Product over Europe. *Remote Sensing*. The Collection Sentinel-2: Science and Applications), MDPI, Volume 10 (6). pp 1-17.
- [51] Giandomenico, D.L.; João, M. N. S.; Salvatore, D.F.; Giuseppe, M. (2022). Integrated use of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data and open-source machine learning algorithms for land cover mapping in a Mediterranean region. *European journal of remote sensing*. Volume55, N1, Taylor and francis edition pp 52-70.
- [52] Vuolo,f.; Zółtak, M.; Pipitone, C.; Zappa, L.; Wenng, H.; Immitzer, M.; Weiss, M.; Baret, F.; Atzberger, C. (2016). Data Service Platform for Sentinel-2 Surface Reflectance and Value-Added Products: System Use and Examples. *Remote Sensing, MDPI*. vol 8, 938.. pp1-16.

- [53] Bas van,O.; Luigi, A.; Wei, J. M. (2020). Unbiased and efficient log-likelihood estimation with inverse binomial sampling. *PLoS Comput Biol*. Volume 16(12): e1008483. p1-32.
- [54] Cule,M.; Samworth,R.; Stewart,M. (2010). Maximum likelihood estimation of a multi-dimensional log-concave density.*J. R. Statist. Soc.B.*72,Part5. pp545-607.
- [55] Houma, F.; Belkessa, R.; Khouider, A.; Bachari, N.; Derriche, Z. The characterization of aquatic pollution using correlative analysis of physico-chemical parameters and data from the IRS1C satellite: Application to Oran city, Algeria. *Revue des sciences de l'eau Journal of Water Science*. 2004. Volume 17, numéro 4 .. pp 429-446.
- [56] Abbassi, M.; Banaoui, A.; Charioui, I.; Kaaya, A.; Elkhou, A.; Nadir, M.; Agnaou, M. ; Lefrere, L.; El Hamidi, F. (2017). Physicochemical characterization of the coastal waters of the city of Sidi Ifni (Morocco).*Journal of Materials and Environmental Science*.Volume 8(9). pp3112-3120.
- [57] Chen, H.Y; Chen, L.D. (2008). Importance of anthropogenic inputs and continental-derived dust for the distribution and flux of water-soluble nitrogen and phosphorus species in aerosol within the atmosphere over the East China Sea. *Journal of geophysical research*. Volume113,D11303.pp1-17.
- [58] Wei, G.; Liu, L.Y; Bao, L.J.; Zeng, E.Y. (2014). Tracking anthropogenic influences on the continental shelf of China with sedimentary linear alkylbenzenes (LABs). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. Elsevier, volume 80(1-2).pp 80-87.
- [59] Nancy, N.; Rabalais, R.; Eugene, T.; Robert, J.; Dubravko, J.; Rabalais, N. N.; Turner, R. E.; Diaz, R. J.; Justic', D. (2009). Global change and eutrophication of coastal waters. Global change and eutrophication of coastal waters. *Journal of Marine Science*. Volume 66. pp 1528–1537.
- [60] Gupana, R.; Odermatt, D.; Cesana,I.; Giardino, C. (2021). Remote sensing of sun-induced chlorophyll-a fluorescence in inland and coastal waters: Current state and future prospects. Remote Sensing of Environment. Volume 262(2):112482 .pp1-21.
- [61] Li, J.; Tian, L.; Song, Q.; Sun, Z.; Yu, H.; Xing, Q. (2018). Temporal Variation of Chlorophyll-a Concentrations in Highly Dynamic Waters from Unattended Sensors and Remote Sensing Observations. Sensors, MDPI. Volume 18(8), 2699. pp1-20.
- [62] Desmit, X.; Nohe, A.; Vieira Borges, A.; Prins, T. C (2020). Hanges in chlorophyll concentration and phenology in the North Sea in relation to de-eutrophication and sea surface warming. Limnology and Oceanography. Volume 65(4). pp 828-847.

- [63] Filstrup, C.T.; Downing, J.A. (2017). Relationship of chlorophyll to phosphorus and nitrogen in nutrient-rich lakes. Inland Waters, Taylor and Francisvol.7,N.4.pp 385–400.
- [64] Gu, P.; Shen, R.F.; Chen, Y.D. (2008). Diffusion pollution from livestock and poultry rearing in the Yangtze Delta, China. Environ. Sci. Pollut.Res.Int., 15. pp273–277.
- [65] Oudot, C. (1983). The distribution of nutrient salts (NO, NO, NH4 PO, Si 03) in the eastern intertropical Atlantic Ocean (Gulf of Guinea region). Oceanogr. frop. volume 18 (2).https://www.documentation.ird.fr/hor/fdi: 15474. pp223-248. (In French).
- [66] Cyril, H.; Lefebvre, A.; Bucas, K. (2004). Assessment of continental nutrient inputs towards the coastal zone of the Dover Strait, eastern English Channel (France). Directorate of the environment and coastal development Boulogne in coastal laboratory. Ifremer, 01/1213849, https://archimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00083/19379/pp1-75. (In French).
- [67] Kupiec, J.M.; Staniszewski, R.; Kayzer, D. (2022). Assessment of Water Quality Indicators in the Orla River Nitrate Vulnerable Zone in the Context of New Threats in Poland. Water. MDPI .vol 14, 2287. pp 1-27.
- [68] Gu, P.; Shen, R.F.; Chen, Y.D. (2008). Diffusion pollution from livestock and poultry rearing in the Yangtze Delta, China. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int., 15, pp273–277.
- [69] Pinay,G.; Gascuel, C.; Ménesguen, A.; Souchon, Y.; Le Moal, M.; Levain, A.; Etrillard, C.; Moatar, F.; Pannard, A.; Souchu, P. (2018). Eutrophication: manifestations, causes, consequences and predictability. Summary of the collective scientific expertise CNRS - Ifremer -INRA - Irstea (France). pp1-179. (In French).
- [70] Brylinsky, J.M.; Lagadeuc, Y. (1990). The interface between coastal waters and offshore waters in the Pas de Calais (French coasts): a frontal zone. Report of the Paris Academy of Sciences. Paris Ser. 2, volume 311. pp 535-540. (In French).
- [71] Nzigou, A.; Lefebvre, A. (2012). Regional monitoring of nutrients on the northern coast – Pas de Calais / Picardy. Ifremer. Review of the year. pp 1-208. (In French).
- [72] Coignot, E.; Polsenaere, P.; Soletchnik, P.; Le Moine, O.; Souchu, P.; Joyeux, E.; Le Roy, Y.; Guéret, J.P.; Froud, L.; Gallais, R.; Chourré, E.; Chaigneau, L. (2020). Spatio-temporal variability of nutrients and carbon and associated fluxes along a temperate terrestrial-aquatic continuum (Marais Poitevin Baie de l'Aiguillon Pertuis Breton) final report (monitoring 2017-2018) Aiguillon project (2016-2020). Ifremer, Environmental Resources Laboratory of Pertuis Charentais (LER-PC). https://archimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00618/73003/72077.pdf. pp 1-111. (In French).



- [73] Buhungu, B.S.; MontchowuI, E.; Barankani-ra, E.; Sibomana, C.; Ntakimazi, G.; Bonou, C.A. (2018). Spatio-temporal characterization of river water quality Kinyankonge, tributary of Lake Tanganyika, Burundi. Int. J. Biol. Chem. Sci. 12(1). pp 576-595. (In French).
- [74] Lampert, L. (2001). Seasonal dynamics and pigment variability of phyto-plankton populations in the North Atlantic (Bay of Biscay). Biodiversity and ecology. University of Western Brittany. Thesis Hal, fftel01280376f. https://hal.science/tel-01280376.pp1-352.(In French).
- [75] Cadier, M. (2016). Diversity of phytoplankton communities in relation to environmental factors in the Iroise Sea: approach using 3D modeling. Earth Science. University of Western Brittany - Brest, France. Thesis Hal: ffNNT : 2016BRES0030. https://theses.hal.science/tel-01383247/document; pp1-367. (In French).
- [76] Hernández Fariñas, T.; Menet, N.; M'Zari, L.; Courtay, G.; Lampert, L. (2020). Study of dynamics. that and the composition of phytoplankton via the pigment approach applied to the Normandy coast. Ifremer report, RST ODE/UL/LERN.https://archimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00687/79903/. pp 1-62. (In French).
- [77] Chapelle, A. (2016). Modeling of phyto-plankton in coastal ecosystems Application to eutrophication and toxic algal blooms. Authorization dissertation to direct research December.HDR.https://archimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00360/47141/.pp1-124.

(In French).
[78] Bonato, S. (2015). Study of the spatial and temporal variability of phytoplankton communities in the Eastern Channel - Use of scanning flow cytometry. Ecology Environment. University of Littoral Côte d'Opale, France.pp1-213. (In

- French).
 [79] Rolland, A. (2009). Dynamics and diversity of phytoplankton in the Marne reservoir (Seine watershed). Biodiversity and Ecology. University of Savoie. France. Thesis HAL https://hal.inrae.fr/tel-02823324. pp1-262. (In French).
- [80] Chenouf, S. (2018). Characterization of the impacts of algal blooms pests in the Channel. Application to the case of fisheries scallops from the Eastern Channel. End of studies dissertation Master's degree from the Higher Institute of Agronomic Sciences, agri-food, horticultural and landscaping; Agrocampus West. https://halieutique.institut-agro-rennes-angers.fr/files/fichiers/memoires/201816.pdf pp1-66. (In French).

[81] Jegou, K. (2013). Satellite identification of blooms of two dinoflagellates, Lepido-dinium chlorophorum and Karenia mikimotoi, using their optical characteristics. Master 2 STEE; "Professional" coastal oceanography specialty University of Bordeaux 1 Internship supervisor: Francis Gohin Ifremer (Brest Center). Lepidodinium chlorophorum blooms off the Loire and Vi-laine: Determinism and consequences on the quality of coastal water bodies EPICE Project – RST/LER/MPL final report. https://ar-

chimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00158/26912/.pp1-34. (In French).

[82] Schapira, M.; Roux, P.; André, C.; Mertens, K.N.; Bilien, G.; Terre-Terrillon, A.; Le Gac-Abernot, C.; Siano, R.; Quéré, J.; Bizzozero, L.; Bonneau, F.; Bouget, J-F.; Cochennec-Laureau, N.; Collin, K.; Fortune, M.; Gabellec, R.; Le Merrer, Y.; Manach, S.; Pierre-Duplessix, O.; Retho, M.; Schmitt, A.; Souchu, P.; Stachowski-Haberkorn, S. (2021). Lepidodinium chlorophorum blooms off the coast of the Loire and the Vilaine: Determinism and consequences on the quality of coastal water bodies. EPICE Project – Final Report. Ifremer. https://ar-

chimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00724/83598/88615.pdf. pp1-46. (In French).

- [83] Leblanc, K. (2002) Spatial and temporal variability of the silicon cycle in various oligotrophic and mesotrophic environments. Oceanography. University of the Mediterranean – Aix-Marseille II, France. fftel01783412f. thesis HAL. https://hal.science/tel-01783412. pp1-278. (In French).
- [84] Pedrocca, P. (2013). Estimation of Chlorophyll-A level in lakes using remote satellite observation. University of Quebec En Outaouais. Department of Computer Science and Engineering. https://di.uqo.ca/id/eprint/677/1/Pedrocca_Pablo_2013_m%C3%A9moire.pdf. Pp1-54. (In French).
- [85] Lorthiois, T. (2012) Dynamics of suspended matter in the Rhône plume (western Mediterranean) by "ocean color" spatial remote sensing. Doctoral thesis from Pierre and Marie Curie University, Ile de France doctoral school of environmental sciences (ED 129). Hal. https://theses.hal.science/tel-00772427.pp1-250. (In French).

[86] Rivier, A. (2019). Dynamics of mineral suspended matter in surface waters of the Channel observed by satellite and numerically modeled. thesis University of Western Brittany under the seal of the European University of Brittany to obtain the title of doctor from the University of Western Brittany. Physical Oceanography Doctoral School of Marine Sciences. Ifremer Center Manche North Sea Environment & Resources Laboratory of Boulogne-sur-Mer. Results of the implementation of the REPHY (Phytoplankton and Phycotoxins Network) and SRN (Regional Nutrient Monitoring) networks.https://ar-

chimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00157/26783/24884.pdf. pp 1-222. (In French).

- [87] Quéguiner, B. (2013) Structure and Functioning of Marine Pelagic Ecosystems. Marseille Oceanology Center, Aix-Marseille University; CNRS; LOBUMR 6535, Oceanography and Biogeochemistry Laboratory, OSU/Marseille Oceanology Center. pp 1-93. (In French).
- [88] Le Gouche, C. (2017). Sedimentation of organic matter in deep basins: case of the Arctic Basin in the Eocene. Earth Science. Rennes University 1. ffNNT: 2017REN1S025ff. fftel-01637627f.https://theses.hal.science/tel01637627 .pp1-286. (In French).
- [89] Voltz, B. (2020). Dynamics of organic matter within the Picardy estuaries: characterization of biosedimentary facies and quantification of benthic mineralization processes. Earth Science. University of Littoral Côte d'Opale. ffNNT: 2020DUNK0579ff. https://theses.hal.science/tel-03229807. pp 1-295. (In French).
- [90] Le Coz, C., Tassin, B., Daniel, R. (1998). Organic matter in natural environments: proceedings of the ninth days of the Diploma of Appdeep Studies in Environmental Sciences and Techniques, organized on May 14 and 15, 1998, in Paris. Days of the Diploma of Advanced Studies in Environmental Sciences and Techniques, May 1998, Paris, France. Press of the National School of Bridges and Roads. Proceedings of the Days of the Diploma of Advanced Studies in Environmental Sciences and Techniques. 9. 978-2-85978-319-8. ffhal-01180136f.Hal.https://hal.sci-
- ence/hal01180136. pp1-148. (In French).
 [91] Benkaddour, B. (2018). Contribution to the study of the contamination of water and sediments in Oued Chéliff (Algeria). ffNNT: PERP0026f. thesis Hal. pp1-193. (In French).

- [92] Schaeffer, A. (2011) Impact of wind on hydrodynamic circulation in the Gulf of Lion: high resolution modeling. Thesis; Planet and Universe (physics) / Ocean, Atmosphere. 2011. https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-00603720. pp 1-246. (In French).
- [93] Beudin, A. (2014) Dynamics and sedimentary exchanges in the harbor of Brest impacted by the invasion of crepidulas. Earth Science. University of Western Brittany. Brest. https://theses.hal.science/tel-01239999. pp 1-224. (In French).
- [95] Sabatier, P. (2012). Modeling and observation of the high frequency dynamics of the circulation of the Bay of Biscay. Thesis with a view to obtaining the doctorate from the University of Toulouse awarded by the University of Toulouse iii. Physical oceanography. pp1-272. (In French).

Received:	03.10.2023
Accepted:	28.10.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Abbassia Ayache

Laboratory of Plant Biodiversity Djillali Liabes University Sidi Bel Abbes22000 – Algeria

E-mail: abayache4@gmail.com



COMPARATIVE TOXIC EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL AND BOTANICAL INSECTICIDES ON THE REPRODUCTION AND OXIDATIVE STRESS PARAMETERS IN THE *Wistar* MALE RAT

Tektak Mohamed^{1,*}, Mallem Leila^{1,2}, Renault David³, Chouabia Amel¹

¹Laboratory of Animal Ecophysiology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, University Badji-Mokhtar-Annaba, BP 12 Sidi Amar Annaba 23000, Algeria

²Department of Dental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Route El Zaafrania BP 205, Annaba 23000, Algeria

³ University of Rennes 1, UMR CNRS 6553 EcoBio, 35042 Rennes Cedex, France

ABSTRACT

Occupational and environmental exposure to pesticides, that induce oxidative damage may impair male fertility. The present study aims to compare the toxic effects of a chemical insecticide (Imidacloprid) against two bio-pesticides (Azadirachtin) and aqueous garlic extract on male fertility and oxidative stress parameters in Wistar male rats. Animals were divided into 7 groups, the G1 served as the control group. G2, G3, G4, and G5 were orally fed Azadirachtin and Imidocloropid at 1/30 and 1/15 LD50, respectively. G6 and G7 were treated with 1/30 and 1/15 LD50 garlic aqueous extract for 6 weeks. The results showed a decrease in absolute testis mass in Imidocloropid and Azadirachtin-treated groups, and a significant decrease in testosterone level in Imidacloprid-treated groups compared to the control group. Sperm concentration, motility, viability, velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement, and beat cross frequency were all significantly lower in Imidacloprid treated groups. In addition, as compared to the control group, these pesticides caused an increase in oxidative stress parameters such as MDA levels and a substantial decrease in GSH and GPx levels. Thus, we suggested that the bio-insecticide Azadirachtin was not strictly safe, and the aqueous garlic extract was less toxic than the two insecticides regarding its negative effects on male reproductive and oxidative stress parameters.

KEYWORDS:

Chemical pesticide, fertility, insecticide, bio-insecticides, oxidative stress, rats

INTRODUCTION

Agricultural productivity, can be adversely affected by numerous pests [1]. To maintain agriculture production at high levels, pesticides have been extensively used, but require careful identification of the factors impacting livestock or crop production so that on-time application using the recommended method can be realized [2]. In many instances, pesticides have been proven successful at reducing pest populations, yet also had several unwanted environmental consequences owing to the negative effects they incur on non-target species [3]. They cause acute poisoning in mammals, as well as long-term health impacts, such as adverse effects on reproduction [4].

Among neonicotinoids, Imidacloprid have being intensively used over the years, representing a major class of highly potent insecticides sprayed for crop protection against piercing-sucking insects [5], yet although having adverse effects on non-target species, and could affect reproductive function [6], [7], reduce sperm count, motility, and viability [8], and cause oxidative effects by reducing testis GSH, and GPx [9]. Subchronic exposure to Imidacloprid can cause sperm abnormal velocity, and can also reduce the testosterone levels in male rats [10]. All of these alterations can lead to infertility [9].

Many countries have amended their policies to minimize – or ban – the use of chemical pesticides, in order to promote biopesticides [1], which can be defined natural products from living organisms including plants that limit or reduce pest populations [3]. Botanic pesticides are efficient for controlling a wide range of crop pests, they are easily biodegradable, have varied modes of action, and have low toxicity for non-target organisms [11]. They are able to disrupt insect mating or kill certain insect larvae. The protectors incorporated in the plants are pesticide substances produced from genetic material [12].

Azadirachtin is the main substance obtained from extracts of Azadirachta indica, belonging to the Meliaceae family [13] and has bio-insecticidal capabilities [14]. Azadirachtin has a variety of physiological effects on many insect pests, such as antifeedancy [15]. Importantly, the efficacy of Azadirachtin varies depending the plant part, especially when isolated from leaves or seeds [16]. Neem plants are growing on various continents [14]. Many investigations on male rats have indicated that oral administration of Azadirachtin was observed to lower sperm viability and serum testosterone levels [17]. © by PSP Volume 32– No. 12/2023 pages 3332-3342

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



On the other hand, plant-based insecticides derived from garlic extract, can be used to repel crop pests. In agriculture, it is well known that the odor of garlic (Allium sativum) can be utilized to repel numerous pests in plants. Garlic includes beneficial chemical substances such as essential oils, allyl disulfide, and allicin, which are good pest repellents. Furthermore, allicin is a chemical that gives garlic its characteristic odor [18].

The present work aims to comparing the toxic effects of the Imidacloprid, Azadirachtin, and an aqueous extract of garlic as bio-insecticide on male fertility and stress oxidative status in male Wistar rats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. This study was carried out on 56 male *Wistar* rats (8 in each group), each, about four months old and weighing between **250 and 300 g**. They were purchased from the Pasteur Institute in Algiers, Algeria. Rats were placed in polypropylene cages (230*430 mm) at the animal housed in the biology department at Badji Mokhtar University under natural conditions of photoperiod at a temperature of $23\pm2^{\circ}$ C. Animals were provided with a diet based on Corn, Barley, Soy, Phosphate, Limestone, Cellulose, Minerals and Vitamins from the eastern livestock feed unit, Oued Fragha – Guelma, Algeria) and free access to water *ad libitum*.

Plant extraction. In the manufacturing process of the aqueous garlic extract according to [19]. The method involved weighing and pulverizing peeled garlic bulbs using an electric grinder. The resulting grind was homogenized with 100 mL of distilled water in a high-speed blender for 15 minutes, followed by swirling for 24 hours for maceration. After filtration using a Wattman no.3 paper, the resultant aqueous extract of garlic was stored at $3\pm1^{\circ}$ C for subsequent use.

Treatment. After the adaptation period (20 days), rats were weighed and divided into 7 groups (8 rats in each group), and the rats were daily supplied with treated diet for 6 weeks as follows:

Group 1 (G1): the control group received a standard diet

Group 2 (G2): treated with 1/30 LD50 of Azadirachtin

Group 3 (G3): treated with 1/15 LD50 of Azadirachtin

Group 4 (G4): treated with 1/30 LD50 of Imidacloprid Group 5 (G5): treated with 1/15 LD50 of Imidacloprid

Group 6 (G6): treated with 1/30 LD50 of the garlic aqueous extraction

Group 7 (G7): treated with 1/15 LD50 of the garlic aqueous extraction

For all experimental treatments, the bio-insecticide Azadirachtin, the aqueous extract of garlic, and the chemical pesticide Imidacloprid were mixed with a standard diet. Imidacloprid has an LD50 of 450 mg/kg [20], Azadirachtin has an LD50 of >5000 mg/kg [21], and garlic has an LD50 of 32g/kg [22].

Collection of blood, sperm and testes. Sample collection. At the end of the 6-week treatment period, rats were sacrificed. A volume of 3 ml of blood was collected dry tubes, which were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C to separate the serum for testosterone analysis. Testes were prevailed and weighted using a KERN PRS 320-3 precision balance (d=0.1mg) and stored at -20°C for evaluation the oxidative stress parameters.

Hormonal assays. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method, as described in the manual for the commercial kit (produced by DGR Instruments GmbH, Germany), was used to measure the serum testosterone concentration.

Sperm Analysis. Sperm parameters including concentration, mobility, curvilinear velocity (VCL), velocity straight-line path (VSL), beat cross frequency (BCF), and lateral head displacement (ALH) were measured using CASA (Computer-Assisted Sperm Analysis) method with Sperm Class Analysis (SCA®, Microptic S.L, Barcelona, Spain. The sperm was diluted in a physiological solution of 0.9% NaCl at 37 °C. 5 μ l of the mixture were placed in the Gold-Cyto counting chamber and the examination was carried out under a NIKON® ECLIPSE Ci microscope (Nikon E200-LED) using a x40 objective with negative-phase contrast and phase condenser contrast.

Vitality. The hypo-osmotic swelling test is used to assess the vitality and membrane integrity of spermatozoa, in particular the morphological changes of their tail. A solution containing sodium citrate and fructose is prepared and frozen for 10 minutes. After thawing, the solution is well mixed. To perform the test, 1 ml of the solution is placed in a water bath at 37°C for 3 minutes. Then, 0.1 ml of semen fluid is added and the whole is incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. After observation under a microscope at a magnification of x40. The percentages of live and dead spermatozoa were manually calculated based on the analysis of 100 counted spermatozoa.



Oxidative stress assays. The preparation of the tissue homogenate was carried out by grinding one gram of tissue with 9 ml of a buffer solution called Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl and a pH of 7.4. The cell suspension obtained was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes and the supernatant was stored at -20°C. This supernatant was used for the assays of the oxidative stress parameters.

The dosage of reduced glutathione (GSH) was carried out according to the method of Weckbecker & Cory [23]. This assay is based on the measurement of the optical absorbance of 2-nitro-5-mercapturic acid, which is formed by the reduction of 5,5'-dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (reagent of Ellman, DTNB) by the sulfhydryl groups (-SH) present in GSH.

The malondialdehyde (MDA) assay was performed on testicular samples. For the preparation of the homogenate, 500 mg of tissue were cold ground in the presence of a phosphate buffer solution. MDA is a product formed during the degradation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by free radicals. In our study, MDA levels in hepatic and testicular tissues were assessed according to the method of [24]. The assay is based on the reaction between MDA and thiobarbituric acid (TBA) at high temperature and in acidic medium, forming a colored pigment absorbing at 530 nm, which can be extracted by organic solvents such as butanol.

The enzyme activity of glutathione peroxidase (GPx) was assayed on and testicle samples. For the preparation of the homogenate, 500 mg of each tissue were cold ground in the presence of a TBS solution. The enzymatic activity of GPx was measured according to the method of [25]. This method is based on the reduction of hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) in the presence of reduced glutathione (GSSG) by the action of GPx.

Protein assay. The protein concentration is determined using the method of [26] which uses Coomassie blue (G 250) as a reagent. Coomassie blue reacts with amino groups (-NH2) of proteins to form a blue colored complex. The intensity of the blue color reflects the degree of ionization of the acid medium and corresponds to the concentration of proteins.

Statistical Analysis. All results were expressed as means \pm SEM. The statistical analysis was performed by computing *t*-student pairs between the control group and each treated group. The statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism Version 5.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Synthetic pesticides represent a significant cost for smallholder f armers and may not be widely available [27]. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the toxicity of a chemical insecticide to a plant bio-insecticide isolated from Neem (*Azadirachta indica*) and the aqueous extract of garlic on male fertility in *Wistar* rats after 6 weeks of treatment.

Effects of the 6-week treatment on rats. No death was recorded during the 6-week oral treatment of the rats, and no sign of adverse effects was noticed.

Effects of the treatment on the weight of testes and epididymis. The results of the experiment are presented in Table (1) and revealed a significant reduction in the mass of the testes in the rats which received one of the two tested doses of Imidacloprid, as compared with their control relatives. Conversely, the mass of the testes of the rats supplied with the garlic extracts was increased. There was no significant decrease in the weight of the testis and epididymis in the group treated with Azadiracthin as compared to the untreated rats.

Actually, pesticides have endocrine-affecting qualities that can disrupt the male reproductive system by upsetting the hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis [28]. As its name suggests, this axis is made up of the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and testes. Multiple levels of regulation are in place for spermatogenesis, and new sperm function tests use molecular diagnostics [29].

It is known that testicular mass is a good clinical marker of male reproductive function [30]. It is suggested that the decrease in testis weight is probably due to two effects: the anti-spermatogenic is the first, which can decrease the diameter and number of spermatogonia, spermatocytes, and spermatids in the seminiferous tubules of the testis. The second one is the anti-androgenic effect, which reduces the number of sperm in the tubules of the testis [31]. The reduction in testicular mass observed in pesticidetreated rats could be attributed to a decrease in seminiferous tubule size [32] and a halt in spermatogenesis as a result of steroid biosynthesis inhibition; testosterone is a critical component in the normal development and functioning of the testes as it requires continuous androgenic stimulation [6].

Aladakatti et al. found that administering Azadirachtin (1.5 mg/kg body mass) for 24 days resulted in a reduction in the mean testis weight, which corroborated our findings [33]. Similarly, Lonare et al. discovered a substantial reduction in testis weight in rats orally treated with Imidacloprid [9]. It is mentioned that S-allyl cysteine, an active ingredient in garlic, is the most abundant bioactive compound [34]. According to a recent study on his effects, the garlic therapy had no influence on the Fischer rat's



testis weight ratio [35].

The effect of the chemicals on reproductive parameters and testosterone concentration. Sperm concentration, viability, and velocity in the tail of the epididymis showed that sperm concentration was significantly decreased in the rat group treated with the lowest dose of Azadirachtin (p<0.01) (Table 2). These reproduction parameters were significantly decreased (p<0.001) in rats treated with the highest Azadirachtin dose. A similar finding was noted on the vitality (%) for the rats that were exposed to Imidacloprid in comparison to controls (Table 3). The motility of the sperm was also decreased at the highest dose of Azadirachtin, and with the two doses of the chemical pesticide imidacloprid, as compared to the control. As shown in Table (2), the number of viable spermatozoa decreased significantly in the Imidacloprid-treated animals as compared to the control group. The same result was observed in the curvilinear velocity (VCL) and average path velocity (VAP), which showed a significant reduction (p<0.001) in the G4 and G5 groups treated with imidacloprid compared to the control group (Table 3).

The reduction observed in sperm concentration and vitality in the groups treated with the chemical pesticide could be reasonably attributed to oxidative stress induced by the pesticides; it may also be explained by the drastic changes in testicular tissue generated by the depletion of type A turnover spermatogonia caused by Imidacloprid exposure, which plays an important role in the proliferation phase of spermatogenesis [36]. In addition, Imidacloprid induces an increase in ROS production in rats [9]. These free radicals may damage the testicular germ cells, resulting in changes in spermatogenesis that reduce the amount of spermatozoa [37]. Similar to this, it was discovered that oxidative stress causes DNA breakage, membrane lipid peroxidation, and apoptosis, all of which affect spermatozoa function [38].

The decrease in sperm motility measures found in our study appears to be an indication that sperm motility cannot be acquired or maintained. Since the spermatozoa tail is a crucial organ for spermatozoa motility, these results might be explained by disruptions to its morphology [39]. As a result, it was found that sperm flagella morphology significantly correlated with changes in sperm motility [39]. Alternatively, it might be due to any contraceptive drug that directly affects spermatozoa by changing their enzymes [40].

These findings back up those of Mohamed et al., who discovered a substantial sperm abnormality in adult rats subjected to 1 mg/mL/kg body weight of Imidacloprid for 65 days [41]. At 90 mg/kg, Imidacloprid oral 15-day therapy resulted in a reduction in sperm count, motility, and vitality in male rats [8]. In another study conducted by Aladakatti et al., the findings of Azadirachtin therapy at a dosage of 1.5 mg/kg body weight indicated a substantial reduction in sperm count and motility [33].

Osonuga et al. have reported that there were increases in sperm count, motility, and viability in the treatment of Wistar rats with garlic extract for 21 days [42]. Also, when Wistar rats were given garlic extract at a dose of 250 mg/kg for 15 days, there was an increase in sperm count and a decrease in sperm abnormalities [43]. In other research, after 35 days of administration of 400 mg/kg of garlic bulb aqueous extract to rats, it was found to improve sperm motility and viability in the Wistar rat [44].

It can be explained that garlic contains organosulfur compounds that contribute to the formation of reactive sulfur species [45]. The results are most likely due to the nutrients and sperm-producing precursors found in garlic. The active components from different chemical groups may be responsible for improving the quality and quantity of sperm production [46].

TABLE 1

. .. .

Mean body weight, testicu	lar, and epididymis abs	olute weights (g) in treated ra	ts compared to the control.
	Results are express	ed as (Mean \pm SD, N = 8).	
Croups (Control	Data treated with	Data treated with Im	Data treated with

Groups	Control rats		ated with acthin		ed with Im- oprid		ated with Extracts
Mass	G1	G2 1/15 LD50	G3 1/30 LD50	G4 1/15 LD50	G5 1/30 LD50	G6 1/15 LD50	G7 1/30 LD50
TM (g)	$\begin{array}{c} 1.681 \pm \\ 0.041 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.662 \pm \\ 0.070 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.650 \pm \\ 0.029 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.556 \pm \\ 0.148 \end{array}$	$1.549 \pm 0.060*$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.717 \pm \\ 0.073 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.730 \pm \\ 0.041 \end{array}$
EM (g)	0.631 ± 0.044	0.600 ± 0.044	$\begin{array}{c} 0.561 \pm \\ 0.044 \end{array}$	0.542 ± 0.139	$\begin{array}{c} 0.520 \pm \\ 0.060 \end{array}$	0.631 ± 0.054	0.640 ± 0.021
IBM (g)	260.3 ± 4.979	261,6 ± 5.012	261.1 ± 6.266	261.1 ± 5.436	$\begin{array}{c} 260.4 \pm \\ 2.387 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 260.4 \pm \\ 6.093 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 262.6 \pm \\ 6.948 \end{array}$
FBM (g)	294.5 ± 6.782	$\begin{array}{c} 296,4 \pm \\ 5.208 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 294.8 \pm \\ 6.296 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 296.9 \pm \\ 6.232 \end{array}$	298.3 ± 5.392	$\begin{array}{c} 291.9 \pm \\ 7.200 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 286.6 \pm \\ 5.423 \end{array}$
MG (g)	34.2	34.8	33.7	35.8	37.9	31.5	24

NS: at p>0.05; * Significantly different from control at p<0.05 level; ** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level; *** Significantly different from control at p<0.001 level; TW: Testes mass; EM: Epididymis mass; IBM: Initial body mass; FBM: Final body mas; MG: Mass gain.

Similar results in velocity parameters were obtained when rats were given Imidacloprid at dosages of 112 and 225 mg/kg orally for 60 days, resulting in a significant increase in aberrant sperm velocity [10]. The reduction in velocity parameters (VSL, VAP, and VCL) at pH 6.2 and 5.2 [47] may better show the influence of pesticides on environmental pH. In other hand the results can be explained by the role of the mitochondria as an energy generator, which is reflected in the sperm motility, velocity characteristics (VCL, VSL, and VAP), ALH, and BCF. It is possible that mitochondrial dysfunction, which lowers the energy needed for flagella movement [39], is the cause of the negative effects on the sperm motility parameters found in our results. Additionally, sperm motility, velocity, lateral head displacement, and beat cross frequency all depend on Na,K-ATPase α4 isoform activity [48]. The Na+-K+ ATPase is a universal transmembrane protein, and only sperm and germ cells express its a4 isoform (ATP1A4) [49]. Additionally, ATP1A4 controls signaling molecules in the raft and non-raft portions of the sperm plasma membrane to control activation, sperm-oocyte contacts, hyperactivation, and signaling molecules involved with capacitation. Abnormalities in these sperm characteristics have long been utilized as a predictor of male fertility [50]. Pesticides may block or deactivate the Na,K-ATPase or the α4 isoform, which explains why.

The level of testosterone was significantly reduced in the rats which were supplied with food contaminated by Imidacloprid or Azadirachtin groups (p<0.001) as compared with control rats. This drop was more severe for rats exposed to Imidacloprid in comparison to untreated animals. The level of this hormone was increased in the rats treated with the highest dose of garlic extract in comparison to the control rats (p<0.01).

The sperm tail destruction and the drop in testosterone levels, indicating testicular dysfunction, was observed in mice treated with pesticides [51]. Furthermore, the reduced density of epididymal sperm may be linked to a change in androgen metabolism [52]. EB

Pesticides, due to their affinity for androgen receptors, can stimulate or block these receptors, inhibiting their function [7]. They are likely to have an effect on the hypothalamus-pituitary axis, which produces the pulsatile gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), which is responsible for gonadotropins luteinizing (LH) secretion [53]. LH stimulates Leydig cells to synthesize testosterone; consequently, a reduction in LH may mean a reduction in testosterone levels [54]. Furthermore, endocrine-disrupting pesticides can interfere with normal hormone production, secretion, transport, metabolism, binding, or removal [55]. Many studies have found that pesticides impede non-specific esterase activity in Leydig cells, resulting in lower testosterone synthesis [10]. According to Moreira et al., the lowering of testosterone levels is a common impact of all kinds of pesticides on Levdig cells, and two main mechanisms appear to be responsible for this action [32]. The chemicals' first endocrine disruptive effects produce the inhibition of genes involved in the steroidogenic process, and their presence in organisms causes elevated levels of ROS, which in turn cause mitochondrial damage [32].

These findings are consistent with those of Mohamed et al., who discovered that blood testosterone levels were considerably lower in adult rats treated with Imidacloprid at a dosage of 1 mg/mL/kg body weight for 65 days [41]. Imidacloprid exposure can impair the proper functioning of animal endocrine systems by interfering with endogenous hormones [7]. Auta & Hassan discovered that giving male albino mice (5, 50 and 100 mg/kg body weight) dosages of commercial Azadirachtin insecticide extract for 6 days resulted in no significant variations in testosterone levels across experimental groups [56].

Similar outcomes have been noted in male Bouscat rabbits receiving daily doses of 3, 9, and 27 mg/kg of garlic extract for 8 weeks [57]. Similar outcomes were shown when Sprague-Dawley rats were given garlic oil at 80 mg/kg/day for five days a week for 90 days [58].

TABLE 2	
Variation of the mean reproduction parameters in the control Azadirachtin treated groups ($\overline{X}\pm SD$, n=8)	

Crowns	G1: Control	Azadirachtin		
Groups	GI: Control	G2: 1/30 LD50	G3: 1/15 LD50	
Concentration (10 ⁶ / ml)	171.74 ± 4.620	164.222 ± 1.56 *	153.582 ±2.72 ***	
Motility (%)	87.29 ± 2.698	87.14 ± 2.315	76.27 ±2.821 ***	
Vitality (%)	82.80 ± 3.033	81.00 ± 2.550	73.00 ± 3.082	
VCL (µm/s)	88.40 ± 5.520	83.41 ± 3.27	81.78 ± 2.38	
VSL (µm/s)	16.29 ± 1.248	17.89 ± 1.410	17.19 ± 1.421	
VAP (µm/s)	40.23 ± 0.460	40.83 ± 1.134	40.49 ± 0.822	
ALH (µm)	4.764 ± 0.229	4.520 ± 0.185	4.408 ± 0.157	
BCF (Hz)	4.542 ± 0.102	4.544 ± 0.083	4.284 ± 0.070 **	



 $(\overline{X}\pm SD, n=8).$ Imidacloprid Groups **G1:** Control G4: 1/30 LD50 G5: 1/15 LD50 Concentration (10⁶/ ml) 171.74 ± 4.620 145.012 ±3.45 *** 141.216 ±4.60 *** 87.29 ± 2.698 58.57 ±0.691 *** 43.79 ±2.776 *** Motility (%) 82.80 ± 3.033 57.00 ± 3.391 *** 53.60 ± 4.848 *** Vitality (%) VCL (µm/s) 88.40 ± 5.520 76.82 ± 3.32 * 75.17 ± 2.78 VSL (µm/s) 16.29 ± 1.248 16.29 ± 1.849 17.43 ± 1.156 36.04 ± 1.542 *** VAP (µm/s) 40.23 ± 0.460 37.07 ± 0.668 ** ALH (µm) 4.764 ± 0.229 3.906 ± 0.478 ** 4.138 ± 0.156 4.542 ± 0.102 4.536 ± 0.0763 *** 4.220 ± 0.129 *** BCF (Hz)

 TABLE 3

 Variation of the mean reproduction parameters in the control and Imidacloprid treated groups $(\overline{X}\pm SD, n=8).$

TABLE 4

Variation of the mean reproduction parameters in the control and groups with Garlic aqueous extract $(\bar{X}\pm SD, n=8)$.

Crowna	G1: Control -	Garlic Aqueous Extract		
Groups	GI: Control	G6: 1/30 LD50	G7: 1/15 LD50	
Concentration (10 ⁶ / ml)	171.74 ± 4.620	172.68 ± 3.07	176.122 ± 4.22	
Motility (%)	87.29 ± 2.698	86.41 ± 2.057	87.46 ± 4.658	
Vitality (%)	82.80 ± 3.033	83.00 ± 2.00	87.60 ± 1.949	
VCL (µm/s)	88.40 ± 5.520	86.19 ± 2.18	88.52 ± 3.53	
VSL (µm/s)	16.29 ± 1.248	15.08 ± 0.797	12.56 ± 1.403 ***	
VAP (µm/s)	40.23 ± 0.460	36.51 ± 2.076 **	41.05 ± 1.951	
ALH (µm)	4.764 ± 0.229	4.306 ± 0.219	4.408 ± 0.337	
BCF (Hz)	4.542 ± 0.102	4.016 ± 0.089	4.028 ± 0.221	

NS: Not significantly different from control at p>0.05

* Significantly different from control at p<0.05 level

** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level

*** Significantly different from control at p<0.001 level



Mean testosterone concentration (ng/ml) in treated rats compared to the control group. (Mean \pm SD, N = 8).

NS: Not significantly different from control at p>0.05, * Significantly different from control at p<0.05 level, ** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level, *** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level.

Effects of the chemicals on the oxidative stress markers. The MDA levels were significantly higher in rats supplied with Imidacloprid-contaminated food and G3 treated with the highest dose of Azadirachtin than in the control group (p<0.001).

They were considerably higher and different from the control group in the Azadirachtin treatment group on the lower dose (Figure 1). When compared to the control group, they were significantly lower in

FEB

the garlic extract group at the highest dose, particularly in G7 treated with the highest dose.

In comparison to the control group, GSH and GPx levels decreased significantly (p<0.001) in both Imidacloprid groups. GSH did not show any changes in other groups (Figure 2). GPx levels were slightly decreased in G2 and showed a significant drop (p>0.05) in G3, which was treated with Azadirachtin at the highest dose. But there were not significantly higher levels in the garlic extract groups compared to the control group (Figure 2).

Malondialdehyde (MDA) is an essential indicator of oxidative lipid damage since it is a key oxidative product of peroxidized polyunsaturated fatty acids in tissue [59]. The MDA levels in the Azadirachtin and Imidacloprid treatments were somewhat significantly higher, while they were lower in the G-Ext groups.

Our findings are congruent with those of Bal et al., who observed a rise in MDA levels in the testes following 90 days of oral Imidacloprid administration at a dosage of 8 mg/kg to male rats [6]. Regarding the garlic effects, rats were given garlic bulb juice for 4 weeks at doses of 60 and 120 mg/kg, a decrease in the activity of semen MDA [60]. Similar outcomes were obtained when Wistar rats were given 250 mg/kg of garlic extract for 15 days [43]. According to Lotfi et al., the allicin in garlic can suppress LPO, trap free radicals, and lower blood lipid levels [61]. Other research has demonstrated that the use of garlic can reduce oxidative stress [62].

Because testicular tissue divides rapidly and is extremely vulnerable to free radicals and oxidative stress [61]. Glutathione peroxidase activity levels increased in the groups treated with the aqueous extract of A. indica leaves, according to Christian et al.'s findings. Plant extracts with significant phenol and flavonoid content have demonstrated antioxidation properties [63]. Our findings may have been influenced by the presence of these phytochemicals. It is now that Azadirachtin can increase cellular survival under severe inflammatory and oxidative stress circumstances by shielding LPS-induced cells from inflammatory-related metabolic and molecular alterations and mitochondrial malfunction [64].

Imidacloprid induces an increase in ROS production [65]. The creation of excessive ROS generation may modify the cellular antioxidant defense system and, as a result, impair susceptibility to oxidative stress, which may be accountable for Imidacloprid's harmful impact [9]. ROS formation is believed to cause DNA damage, protein degradation, and lipid peroxidation (LPO), all of which cause harm to numerous essential tissues [9]. These extremely reactive free radicals deplete antioxidant defense mechanisms, which can lead to cell instability and oxidative damage to the cell membrane [6].



The mean Testicular levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) (μ mol/g tissue); glutathione (GSH) (μ mol/mg proteins) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) (μ M GSH/min/mg proteins) of treated rats compared to control. (Mean± SD, N = 8).

NS: Not significantly different from control at p>0.05, * Significantly different from control at p<0.05 level, ** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level, *** Significantly different from control at p<0.01 level.



Garlic also reduced oxidative stress, neutralized free radicals, improved spermatogenesis, and increased fertility [66]. Due to its antioxidant characteristics, garlic is a wonderful choice for this [61]. Numerous studies show that garlic has antioxidant properties; an increase in GSH and GPx activities was seen in Wistar rats given garlic extract at a dosage of 250 mg/kg once daily for 15 days in order to study the damage Adriamycin caused to the testicles [43]. There was also an increase in antioxidant protection in the testes of rats treated with aqueous garlic extract at 400 mg/kg for 35 days [44]

CONCLUSION

Exposure of rats to two doses of Imidacloprid and Azadirachtin by alimentation for 60 consecutive days may induce reproductive toxicity in male rats, which is manifested in reduced organ weight, decreased sperm concentration, motility, and velocity, and perturbation in the stress oxidative parameters. The treatment with the aqueous extract of garlic is less toxic in our experimental conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is supported by The Research Laboratory of Animal Ecophysiology, and thanks are given to Director Prof. ABDENNOUR Cherif for his support.

Ethical approval. Experimental procedures were performed according to the natural guide for the care and use of laboratory animals and approved by the animal sciences committee at Badji Mokhtar University in Algeria.

REFERENCES

- Kumar, S. and Singh, A. (2015) Biopesticides: Present Status and the Future Prospects. J. Biofertil. Biopestic. 06(02), 1-2.
- [2] Al-ahmadi, M.S. (2019) Pesticides, anthropogenic activities, and the health of our environment safety. In M. Larramendy & S. Soloneski (Eds.), Pesticides-use and misuse and their impact in the environment. IntechOpen. 136 (Chapter 4).

- [3] Samada, L.H. and Tambunan, U.S.F. (2020) Biopesticides as promising alternatives to chemical pesticides: A review of their current and future status. Online J. Biol. Sci. 20(2), 66–76.
- [4] Upadhayay, J., Rana, M., Juyal, V., Bisht, S. S., & Joshi, R. (2020). Impact of pesticide exposure and associated health effects. Pesticides in crop production: physiological and biochemical action, 69-88.
- [5] Duzguner, V. and Erdogan, S. (2010) Acute oxidant and inflammatory effects of imidacloprid on the mammalian central nervous system and liver in rats. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 97(1), 13–18.
- [6] Mikolić, A. and Karačonji, I.B. (2018) Imidacloprid as reproductive toxicant and endocrine disruptor: Investigations in laboratory animals. Arh. Hig. Rada Toksikol. 69(2), 103–108.
- [7] Bal, R., Naziroğlu, M., Türk, G., Yilmaz, Ö., Kuloğlu, T., Etem, E. and Baydas, G. (2012) Insecticide imidacloprid induces morphological and DNA damage through oxidative toxicity on the reproductive organs of developing male rats. Cell Biochem. Funct. 30(6), 492–499.
- [8] Hafez, E.M., Issa, S.Y., Mazroua, M.K.A., Ibrahim, K.T. and Rahman, S.M.A. (2016) The Neonicotinoid Insecticide Imidacloprid: A Male Reproductive System Toxicity Inducer-Human and Experimental Study. Toxicol. Open Access. 02(01), 1–8.
- [9] Lonare, M., Kumar, M., Raut, S., More, A., Doltade, S., Badgujar, P. and Telang, A. (2016) Evaluation of ameliorative effect of curcumin on imidacloprid-induced male reproductive toxicity in wistar rats. Environ. Toxicol. 31(10), 1250–1263.
- [10] Najafi, G.R., Razi, M., Houshyar, A., Shah, M.S. and Feyzi, S. (2010) The effect of chronic exposure with imidacloprid insecticide on fertility in mature male rats. Inter. J. Fertil. Steril. 4(1), 9–16.
- [11] Lengai, G.M.W., Muthomi, J.W. and Mbega, E.R. (2020) Phytochemical activity and role of botanical pesticides in pest management for sustainable agricultural crop production. Sci. Afr. 7, e00239.
- [12] Butu, M., Rodino, S. and Butu, A. (2022) Biopesticide formulations - current challenges and future perspectives. In Biopesticides. Elsevier. 19–29.
- [13] Seriana, I., Akmal, M., Darusman, D., and Wahyuni, S. (2019) Neem leaves extract (Azadirachta indica A. Juss) on male reproductive system: A mini-review. IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci. 399(1).
- [14] Oni, B.A. and Oluwatosin, D. (2020) Emission characteristics and performance of neem seed (Azadirachta indica) and Camelina (Camelina sativa) based biodiesel in diesel engine. Renew. Energy. 149, 725–734.

FEB

- [15]Qin, D., Zhang, P., Zhou, Y., Liu, B., Xiao, C., Chen, W. and Zhang, Z. (2020) Antifeeding effects of azadirachtin on the fifth instar Spodoptera litura larvae and the analysis of azadirachtin on target sensilla around mouthparts. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 103(4), 1–12.
- [16] Jahanban-Esfahlan, A., Ostadrahimi, A., Tabibiazar, M. and Amarowicz, R. (2019) A comparative review on the extraction, antioxidant content and antioxidant potential of different parts of walnut (juglans regia l.) fruit and tree. Mol. 24(11).
- [17] Braga, T.M., Rocha, L., Chung, T.Y., Oliveira, R.F., Pinho, C., Oliveira, A.I., Morgado, J. and Cruz, A. (2021) Azadirachta indica a. Juss. in vivo toxicity—an updated review. Mol. 26(2), 1–21.
- [18] Hardiansyah, M.Y., Al Ridho, A.F. and Nurhidayat. (2020) The Effect of Garlic (Allium sativum) Extract Pesticides in Repelling Rice Eating Bird Pests. Indonesian J. Agric. Res. 3(3), 145–152.
- [19] Okombe Embeya, V. and Nzuzi Mavungu, G. (2019) Study of the antibacterial activity (in vitro) of aqueous and methanolic extracts of garlic (Allium sativum L.). J. Appl. Biosci. 141, 14419–14425.
- [20] Dattaray, D., Garnaik, T.K. and Loganathan, R. (2023) Effects of subacute exposure of imidacloprid on haemato-biochemical parameters in black Bengal goat (Capra hircus). J. Pharm. Innov. 12(5), 4561–4566.
- [21] Darfour, B. and Rosentrater, K.A. (2022) Environmental Assessment and Cost Analysis of the Manufacturing, Transport, and Use of Actellic Super and Azadirachtin Insecticides for the Treatment of Maize Grains. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 6.
- [22] Siddique, A., Din, H.M.U.-, Ahmed, H.S., Munawar, S. and Iqbal, J. (2022) Atrophic Changes in Hepatocytes by Excess of Garlic Consumption. Pakistan J. Medical Health Sci. 16(3), 83–84.
- [23] Weckbecker, G. and Cory, J.G. (1988) Ribonucleotide reductase activity and growth of glutathione-depleted mouse leukemia L1210 cells in vitro. Cancer Lett. 40(3), 257–264.
- [24] Ohkawa, H., Ohishi, N. and Yagi, K. (1979) Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Anal. Biochem. 95(2), 351–358.
- [25]Flohé, L. and Günzler, W.A. (1984) Assays of Gluthathione Peroxidase. Meth. Enzymol. 105, 114–120.
- [26] Bradford, M.M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of proteindye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72(1–2), 248–254.

- [27] Belmain, S.R. and Stevenson, P.C. (2001) Natural Products Ethnobotanicals in Ghana : Reviving and Modernising. Pestic. Outlook, December. 233–238.
- [28] Bouabdallah, N., Mallem, L., Abdennour, C., Chouabbia, A. and Tektak, M. (2021) Toxic impacts of a mixture of three pesticides on the reproduction and oxidative stress in male rats. J. Anim. Behav. Biometeorol. 10(1), 1–9.
- [29] Sharma, A., Minhas, S., Dhillo, W.S. and Jayasena, C.N. (2021) Male infertility due to testicular disorders. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 106(2), E442–E459.
- [30] Boeri, L., Capogrosso, P., Ventimiglia, E., Cazzaniga, W., Pozzi, E., Belladelli, F., Pederzoli, F., Alfano, M., Abbate, C., Montanari, E., Valsecchi, L., Papaleo, E., Viganò, P., Rovere-Querini, P., Minhas, S., Montorsi, F. and Salonia, A. (2021) Testicular volume in infertile versus fertile white-European men: a case-control investigation in the real-life setting. Asian J. Androl. 23(5), 501.
- [31] Babakhanzadeh, E., Nazari, M., Ghasemifar, S. and Khodadadian, A. (2020) Some of the factors involved in male infertility: A prospective review. Int. J. Gen. Med. 13, 29–41.
- [32] Moreira, S., Pereira, S.C., Seco-Rovira, V., Oliveira, P.F., Alves, M.G. and Pereira, M. de L. (2021). Pesticides and male fertility: A dangerous crosstalk. Metabolites. 11(12).
- [33] Aladakatti, R.H., Sukesh, B., Jadaramkunti, U.C. and Hiremath, M.B. (2011) Aspects of the Antiandrogenic/Antifertility Property of Azadirachtin-A from Azadirachta indica Leaves in Male Albino Rats: Effect on the Biochemical and Cauda EpididymalSperm Parameters. Recent Res. Sci. Technol. 3(2).
- [34] Rais, N., Parveen, K., Ahmad, R., Siddiqui, W.A., Nadeem, A. and Ved, A. (2022) S-allyl Cysteine and Taurine revert peripheral metabolic and lipid profile in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus animals: Combination vs Monotherapy. Braz. J. Pharm. Sci. 58, 1–10.
- [35] Takemura, S., Ichikawa, H., Naito, Y., Takagi, T., Yoshikawa, T. and Minamiyama, Y. (2014) S-allyl cysteine ameliorates the quality of sperm and provides protection from age-related sperm dysfunction and oxidative stress in rats. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 55(3), 155–161.
- [36] Bustos-Obregón, E. and González-Hormazabal, P. (2003) Effect of a single dose of malathion on spermatogenesis in mice. Asian J. Androl. 5(2), 105–107.
- [37] Abedi, H., Kargar Jahromi, H., Hashemi, S.A., Jashni, H., Kargar Jahromi, Z. and Pourahmadi, M. (2016) The effect of silymarin on spermatogenesis process in rats. Int. J. Med. Health Res. 5(6), 146–150.



- [38] Lampiao, F., Matambo, E. and Banda, A. (2013) The effects of acute administration of Chinese aphrodisiacs sold in Blantyre City on sperm characteristics and fertility profile in guinea pigs. Malawi Med. J. 25(3), 60–61.
- [39] Talbi, A., Khelili, K., Remita, F. and Abdennour, C. (2022) The benefit of Silybum marianum in ethanol-induced reprotoxicity of male Wistar rat. Braz. J. Pharm. Sci. 58, 1–10.
- [40] Ghosh, A., Jana, K., Pakhira, B.P., Tripathy, A. and Ghosh, D. (2015) Anti-fertility effect of aqueous-ethanolic (1:1) extract of the fruit of Terminalia chebula: Rising approach towards herbal contraception. Asian Pac. J. Reprod. 4(3), 201–207.
- [41] Abdel-Rahman Mohamed, A., Mohamed, W.A.M. and Khater, S.I. (2017) Imidacloprid induces various toxicological effects related to the expression of 3B-HSD, NR5A1, and OGG1 genes in mature and immature rats. Environ. Pollut. 221, 15–25.
- [42] Osonuga, I., Faponle, A., Ezima, E., Adenowo, T. and Adelegan, A. (2020) Effect of aqueous extract of Allium sativum (Garlic) on fertility in male Wistar rats. Ann. Med. Res. 8642, 100– 107.
- [43] Nasr, A.Y. (2017) The impact of aged garlic extract on adriamycin-induced testicular changes in adult male Wistar rats. Acta Histochem. 119(6), 648–662.
- [44] Asadpour, R., Azari, M., Hejazi, M., Tayefi, H. and Zaboli, N. (2013) Protective effects of garlic aquous extract (Allium sativum), vitamin E, and N-acetylcysteine on reproductive quality of male rats exposed to lead. Vet. Res. Forum. 4(4), 251–257.
- [45] Goncharov, N., Orekhov, A.N., Voitenko, N., Ukolov, A., Jenkins, R. and Avdonin, P. (2016) Organosulfur compounds as nutraceuticals. In Nutraceuticals. Academic Press. 555-568.
- [46] Sadogh, A., Gorji, N. and Moeini, R. (2021) Herbal foodstuffs in Avicenna's recommended diet to improve sperm quality and increase male fertility; an evidence-based approach. J. Complement. Integr. Med. 19(1), 47-70.
- [47] Zhou, J., Chen, L., Li, J., Li, H., Hong, Z., Xie, M., Chen, S., Yao, B. and Drevet, J.R. (2015) The semen pH affects sperm motility and capacitation. PLoS ONE. 10(7), 1–15.
- [48] Jimenez, T., Sánchez, G., Wertheimer, E. and Blanco, G. (2010) Activity of the Na,K-ATPase α4 isoform is important for membrane potential, intracellular Ca2+, and pH to maintain motility in rat spermatozoa. Reproduction. 139(5), 835– 845.
- [49] Tiwari, S., Rajamanickam, G., Unnikrishnan, V., Ojaghi, M., Kastelic, J.P. and Thundathil, J.C. (2022) Testis-Specific Isoform of Na+-K+ ATPase and Regulation of Bull Fertility. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 23(14).

- [50] Shibahara, H., Obara, H., Ayustawati, Hirano, Y., Suzuki, T., Ohno, A., Takamizawa, S. and Suzuki, M. (2004) Prediction of pregnancy by intrauterine insemination using CASA estimates and strict criteria in patients with male factor infertility. Int. J. Androl. 27(2), 63–68.
- [51] Ali, Md., Mukul, S., Gupta, D., Singh, AK., Kumar, R., Nath, A., Singh, J.K., and Kumar, A. (2012) Endosulfan Exposure Leads to Infertility in Male Mice. Asian J. Exp. Biol. Sci. 3(1), 124– 128.
- [52] Duty, S.M., Silva, M.J., Barr, D.B., Brock, J.W., Ryan, L., Chen, Z., Herrick, R.F., Christiani, D.C. and Hauser, R. (2003) Phthalate exposure and human parameters. Epidemiology. 14(3), 269–277.
- [53]Kaprara, A. and Huhtaniemi, I.T. (2018) The hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad axis: Tales of mice and men. Metabolism. 86, 3–17.
- [54] Jin, H., Yan, M., Pan, C., Liu, Z., Sha, X., Jiang, C., Li, L., Pan, M., Li, D., Han, X. and Ding, J. (2022) Chronic exposure to polystyrene microplastics induced male reproductive toxicity and decreased testosterone levels via the LH-mediated LHR/cAMP/PKA/StAR pathway. Part. Fibre Toxicol. 19(1), 1–17.
- [55] Memon, S.A., Memon, N., Mal, B., Ahmed, S. and Shah, M.A. (2014) Histopathological changes in the gonads of Male rabbits (O ryctolagus cuniculus) on exposure to imidacloprid insecticide. J. Entemology Zool. Stud. 2(4), 159–163.
- [56] Auta, T. and Hassan, A.T. (2016) Reproductive toxicity of aqueous wood-ash extract of Azadirachta indica (neem) on male albino mice. Asian Pac. J. Reprod. 5(2), 111–115.
- [57] Elkelawy, H., Mansour, M., El-Naggar, R. and Elkassas, N. (2020) Effect of garlic (allium sativum) on hematological, biochemical, hormonal and fertility parameters of male bouscat rabbits. Egypt. J. Rabbit Sci. 30(1), 43–60.
- [58] El-Akabawy, G. and El-Sherif, N.M. (2016) Protective role of garlic oil against oxidative damage induced by furan exposure from weaning through adulthood in adult rat testis. Acta Histochem. 118(5), 456–463.
- [59] Bencivenga, D., Arcadio, F., Piccirillo, A., Annunziata, M., Ragione, F.D., Cennamo, N., Borriello, A., Zeni, L. and Guida, L. (2023) Plasmonic optical fiber biosensor development for point-of-care detection of malondialdehyde as a biomarker of oxidative stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 199, 177–188.
- [60] Ghiasi Ghalehkandi, J. (2014) Garlic (Allium sativum) juice protects from semen oxidative stress in male rats exposed to chromium chloride. Anim. Reprod. 11(4), 526–532.



- [61] Lotfi, F., Ziamajidi, N., Abbasalipourkabir, R., Goodarzi, M.T. and Asl, S.S. (2021) Impacts of garlic extract on testicular oxidative stress and sperm characteristics in type 1 and 2 diabetic rats: An experimental study. Int. J. Reprod. Biomed. 19(10), 929–942.
- [62] Abouzed, T.K., Althobaiti, F., Omran, A.F., Eldomany, E.B., El-Shazly, S.A., Alharthi, F., Elkattawy, A.M., Kahilo, K.A.A. and Dorghamm, D.A. (2022) The chemoprevention of spirulina platensis and garlic against diethylnitrosamine induced liver cancer in rats via amelioration of inflammatory cytokines expression and oxidative stress. Toxicol. Res. 11(1), 22–31.
- [63] Christian, E.O., Felicia, E.C., Helen, N., Nneka, S.V. and Vivian, C.U. (2019) Antidiabetic property and antioxidant potentials of aqueous extract of Azadirachta indica leaves in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats Antidiabetic property and antioxidant potentials of aqueous extract of Azadirachta indica leaves in streptozotocin-ind. February 2023. J. Med. Plants Stud. 7(6): 18-23.
- [64] John, A. and Raza, H. (2022) Alterations in Inflammatory Cytokines and Redox Homeostasis in LPS-Induced Pancreatic Beta-Cell Toxicity and Mitochondrial Stress: Protection by Azadirachtin. Front. Cell Deve. Biol. 10(June), 1– 14.
- [65] Miao, Z., Miao, Z., Wang, S., Wu, H. and Xu, S. (2020) Exposure to imidacloprid induce oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation, apoptosis and mitophagy via NFkappaB/JNK pathway in grass carp hepatocytes. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 120, 674-685.
- [66] Asadi, N., Bahmani, M., Kheradmand, A. and Rafieian-Kopaei, M. (2017) The impact of oxidative stress on testicular function and the role of antioxidants in improving it: A review. J. Clin. Diagnostic Res. 11(5), IE01–IE05.

Received:	11.10.2023
Accepted:	28.10.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Tektak Mohamed

Laboratory of Animal Ecophysiology University Badji-Mokhtar-Annaba Sidi Amar Annaba 23000 – Algeria

e-mail: mohamedtektak93@gmail.com

ASSESSMENT OF SUB-ACUTE ORAL ADMINISTRATION OF AN AQUEOUS EXTRACT OF *Drimia Maritima's* BULB AND LEAVES ON LIVER AND KIDNEY FUNCTION IN ALBINO WISTAR RATS

Rania Soual¹, Leila Kirane Amrani^{2,*}, Bochra Baali³, Youcef Islam Hamida¹, Chaima Smili¹, Abdelmadjid Bairi¹

¹Laboratory of Applied Neuroendocrinology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University, BP 12, 23000 Annaba, Algeria

²Laboratory of Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University, BP 12, 23000 Annaba, Algeria

³Laboratory of Environmental Bio Surveillance (LBSE), Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji-Mokhtar University, BP 12, 23000 Annaba, Algeria

ABSTRACT

Based on the numerous medicinal benefits of the plant Drimia maritima (L.) Baker (Asparagaceae) and its use in the environment, this study examined the risk of this use on non-target species by examining the phytochemical and toxicological profile of the aqueous extract of *D. maritima* bulb and leaves on the liver and kidney function of Wistar rats. Seven groups of rats (n = 6) were utilized for subacute studies, including a control, three doses of an aqueous extract of D. maritima bulb (DBAE), and three doses of an aqueous extract of D. maritima leaves (DLAE), each at a dose of 98, 49, and 24.5 mg/ kg. The findings showed that both plant extracts include a large amount of phenolic chemicals, which provide them great antioxidant capability. Additionally, only the high oral dosage of DBAE showed a modest rise in hepatic and renal enzymes, even though the antioxidant enzyme levels (GST, GPx, and GSH) in the liver and kidney remained steady and hematological parameters did not change. However, none of the measures under study significantly changed because of the three DLAE dosages involved. The antioxidant status of both D. maritima extracts is raised. After subacute administration at levels below 98 mg/ kg body weight, DBAE was mostly non-toxic. But at the studied levels, DLAE was safe.

KEYWORDS:

Drimia maritima, Aqueous extract, Phytochemistry, Hematological parameters, Oxidative stress, Biochemical parameters

INTRODUCTION

Drimia maritima (L.) Baker, commonly known as (Squill), belongs to the family Asparagaceae, it is

a species that grows spontaneously along North Africa's coastline and in abundance in the Seraidi area in the Algeria east. It is distinguished by its ovoid bulb of 15 to 30 cm long and its long lanceolate leaves pointed at their tips [1], is a species polymorphic, with several forms and variants. Many plants, including D. maritima, are renowned for their medicinal potential and interesting therapeutic powers [2]. In Algeria, the red variety has been the subject of a severe collection to hunt for novel bioactive chemicals; it is a key player much like many other conventionally used therapeutic herbs. Traditional therapists admitted Squill as a medication for the treatment of a variety of illnesses, including as respiratory conditions, digestive issues, cardiac disorders, joint and skin issues, and cancer, this was stated by [3]. It is also utilized as an aqueous extract to cleanse the blood, through the usage of its numerous derived biocompounds [4]. Although it has traditional therapeutic uses, D. maritima also has toxicological properties. Indeed, the liver and kidneys are essential organs that contribute to the detoxification of organisms, as they are the target organs for all xenobiotics. This is done by ensuring the metabolism and elimination of xenobiotics and their metabolites [5]. Thus, several authors have suggested that high doses of D. maritima or prolonged consumption cause gastrointestinal and urinary disorders due to certain cardiac glycosides derived from this species, such as scilliroside, which is present in almost every part of the plant, including the leaves and bulb center [6], [7].

It is obvious that plants include biologically active substances, and they are also a significant source of flavonoids, tannins, polyphenols, and alkaloids, all of which have potent antioxidant effects and low permanence in the products they are intended to be used in [8]. Chemical analyses in several studies, including [9] and [10], have shown the presence of bufadienolide cardiotonic heteroglycosides (scillarenes, proscillaridins) as the main constituents of *D. maritime*, as well as flavonoids, polyphenols, tannins and polysaccharides, thanks to which it possesses its antioxidant [11] and diuretic properties [12] anti-hemolytic [13] cytotoxic [14], [15] antifungal[16] and insecticidal [17].

The use of plant extracts has certain advantages. Biodegradable products from plants are a good alternative that allows producers to protect their crops at a relatively low cost and target specific. The identification of new biodegradable molecules has been developed to reduce the permanence of synthetic compounds and their residues in the environment [18], [19] can be used in both conventional and organic farming, some allow plants to withstand abiotic stresses and are generally less toxic than their chemical counterparts. Although they often have a reputation for being less effective than their chemical counterparts, biopesticides are the subject of increasing interest from farmers, particularly in the context of integrated pest management strategies.

Currently, study on safety profile of the plant extract is lacking. Therefore, in the present study, we evaluated the subacute toxicological effects of the aqueous extract of the bulb and leaves of this plant on the liver and kidney of Wistar rats by the evaluation of biochemical and alterations and oxidative stress in these tissues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant material and their collection. *Drimia maritima* (L.) (*Asparagaceae*) is a bulbous plant with rosette-shaped, thick, and soft leaves that appear in early winter. The bulb is wide, red, and weighs over than 3 kg [1]. In the current experiment the fresh whole plant (bulbs and leaves) of *D. maritima* were harvested from Seraidi Province in the north of Annaba, Algeria (at $36^{\circ} 55' 21.9''$ North and $7^{\circ} 43' 30.4''$ East) between November and December. The species was botanically identified by Dr Hamel Tarek and Dr Slimani Rachid, taxonomists in the Department of Botany, University of Annaba.

Plant extraction. The leaves and bulb of the collected plant were cleaned with distilled water, sliced into pieces, dried, and turned into powder. The *D. maritima* bulb extraction (DBAE) was made by combining 100 g of powdered bulbs with 1000 ml of distilled water (ratio 1/10 w/v) and bringing it to a boil (100 °C) in a beaker for 15 to 20 min. For the *D. maritima* leaf extract (DLAE), 100 g of finely ground *D. maritima* leaves are added to a liter of boiling distilled water at a ratio of 1/10 (w/v) and let's infuse for 30 min.

After cooling, the two extracts are filtered through Whatman filter paper and dried in an oven at 40 °C, then each extract's yield was determined before keeping them in 4 °C until use [20].

Phytochemical analysis and antioxidant potential of aqueous extract of (DBAE) and (DLAE). The quantification of total phenolic content in both aqueous extracts was performed using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent [21]. A 0.2 ml of both diluted aqueous extract and 1 mL diluted Folin's reagent (1:1:10), is incubated for 4 min before an 0.8 ml of sodium carbonate solution (7.5%) is added. The absorbance is measured at 765 nm after 2 hours of incubation. The calibration line was performed with gallic acid. The data are given as milligram equivalent of gallic acid per gram of extract (mg EAG/ g extract).

The quantification of flavonoids in both aqueous extracts was performed by the aluminum trichloride (AlCl₃) colorimetric method [22]. The method consists of using the AlCl₃ methanolic solution (2%). The absorbances were measured at 430 nm. Values are given as milligrams equivalent of quercetin per gram of extract (mg EQ/ g extract).

Using the DPPH assay, we evaluated the two *D. maritima* extracts' antioxidant capacity [23]. This testing repeated three times makes use of a redox reaction with the radical 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl. After 30 min of incubation at room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 517 nm and the activity of scavenging free radicals was calculated using the equation below:

radical scavenging activity (%) = (Abs control – Abs sample/ Abs control) x 100

Ascorbic acid (AA) and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) were employed as positive controls, on the identical experimental design.

Animals. Healthy male rats of the Wistar albino strain weighing (210 - 230 g) were used for the experiments. They were purchased from Pasteur Institute of Algiers. Before the launch of the experimental study, the rats were acclimated for two weeks in clean polypropylene cages under a well-aerated room at a temperature of 26 ± 2 °C, and relative humidity of $50 \pm 5\%$, and subjected to natural photoperiod (12 h/ 12 h). The animals had free access to water and standard pellets.

Experimental procedures. After acclimating for two weeks, the experimental animals were divided into seven groups of six rats each (n = 6).

Group 1 (control group) received 1 mL of distilled water via gastric intubation one time daily for 4 weeks.

Groups 2, 3 and 4 administered with the aqueous extract of D. maritima bulb at three doses (98, 49 and 24.5 mg/ kg bw, respectively for 4 weeks) via oral gavage.

Groups 5, 6 and 7 administered with the aqueous extract of D. maritima leaves at three doses (98, 49 and 24.5 mg/ kg bw, respectively for 4 weeks) via oral gavage.

The dosages utilized were selected in accordance with the results of a prior research [1], which



demonstrated that the LD_{50} of *D. maritima* powder is a dose of 490 mg/kg bw.

During the period of the sub-acute toxicity study the animals were observed for any indications of toxicity, and the body weights of each animal were measured daily on an electronic weighing balance, and then calculated for all groups. All animals were scarified 4 weeks after the start of the trial by cervical decapitation. Blood was collected from each animal for hematological analysis in EDTA tubes, and in polyethylene heparin tubes for biochemical analysis. Liver and kidneys were also removed, rinsed in saline solution, and weighed before being kept at -20 °C until use.

Assessment of hematological and biochemical parameters. After the collecting of blood in tubes, blood samples were analyzed for determination of hemoglobin (HB) concentration, red blood cell count (RBC), white blood cell count (WBC), platelet (PLT) using (BioSystems S.A. Costa Brava, Spain). Biochemical analyses were performed using a centrifuge at 3000rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The collected serum was then analyzed with (BioSystems S.A. Costa Brava, Spain) for measuring levels of alkaline phosphatase (ALP), alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), total bilirubin (TB), albumin (ALB), urea, creatinine (CR) and uric acid (UA).

Antioxidant enzyme activity assays. 1 g portion from the liver and kidney were taken, and they were homogenized in 3 mL of phosphate buffer (1:3 w/v PBS, pH 7.4) before being centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. The collected supernatant was frozen (-20 °C) to test oxidative stress and antioxidant indicators (MDA, GSH, GPx, GST).

The protein content of tissues liver and kidney was assessed spectrophotometrically at 595 nm according to [24]. The concentration of proteins was calculated using bovine serum albumin as standard (BSA).

Determination of lipid peroxidation (MDA). The amount of Malondialdehyde (MDA), a by-product of lipid peroxidation, was calculated by measuring the color of the reaction between it and thiobarbituric acid reagent (TBA). Absorbance of the complex was measured using a spectrophotometer at 530 nm [25].

Determination of reduced glutathione (GSH). According to the procedure of [26] modified by [27], the levels of glutathione (GSH) in the liver and kidneys were evaluated. It is a colorimetric method of detecting 2-nitro-5-mercaptobenzoic acid, which has a yellow color and absorbs at 412 nm. This chemical is produced when the thiol groups (SH) reduce the acid 5,5'-dithiobis-2nitrobenzoic DTNB.

Glutathion S-transférase (GST). The activity was quantified following the methods of [28], which require the presence of a combination of CDNB (0.02 M) as a substrate and GSH (0.1 M). The optical density was measured at 340 nm for one min during five min.

Determination of Glutathione peroxidase activity GSH-Px. The activity was determined based on the reduction of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) in the presence of reduced glutathione (GSH). The absorbance was read at 412 nm [29].

Statistical analysis. All data analyses were calculated and presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) by applying one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Tukey's method for multiple comparisons, and the significance level of the results was set at (p < 0.05). GraphPad Prism 9.0 software was used to perform the data study.

RESULTS

Evaluation of phytochemistry and antioxidant activity. According to phytochemical investigations of the two aqueous extracts of *D. maritima's* bulb and leaves (Table 1), DBAE contains more polyphenols than DLAE does, with $(150.10 \pm 2.66 \text{ mg EAG/ g DE})$ and $(85.53 \pm 2.38 \text{ mg EAG/ g DE})$, respectively. The flavonoid concentration for the leaves and bulbs, respectively, was 11.79 ± 2.46 and $9.80 \pm 1.80 \text{ mg EG/g DE}$ (Table 1).

The DPPH test's findings are depicted in Figure 1's data. According to these findings, the bulb, and leaves of *D. maritima* have an aqueous extract that has 38.67% and 37.88% scavenging action on the DPPH radical, respectively. When compared to BHT and ascorbic acid (75.98 \pm 1.43 and 37.58 \pm 2,99 µg/ml, respectively), DLAE and DBAE extract exhibit more potent antioxidant activity, with an IC₅₀ value of 96.71 \pm 5.60 and 91.93 \pm 1.55 µg/ml, respectively.

Values are given as mean \pm SEM, (n= 3). (DBAE) *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extracts; (DLAE) *D. maritima* leaves aqueous extract; (DE) dry extract; (EAG) equivalent of gallic acid; (EQ) equivalent of quercetin.

D. maritima extracts yield, total phenolic and total flavonoid content.

ExtractYield [%]Total phenolic [mg EAG/ g DE]Total flavonoid [mg EQ/ g DE]DBAE 62.2 150.10 ± 2.66 9.80 ± 1.80		Di intai titiinta	extructs frend, total prenone and total	
DBAE 62.2 150.10 ± 2.66 9.80 ± 1.80	Extract	Yield [%]	Total phenolic [mg EAG/ g DE]	Total flavonoid [mg EQ/ g DE]
	DBAE	62.2	150.10 ± 2.66	9.80 ± 1.80





DPPH radical scavenging activity of *D. maritima* extracts, ascorbic acid (AA) and butyl hydroxytoluene (BHT) were utilized as positive controls. Each value is represented as the mean of three determinations ± SEM.

Initial and final body weight and relative organ weight of treated and untreated rats. Data on body weight as well as the relative kidneys and liver weights are shown in Table 2. The findings indicate a significantly significant rise in body weight (p <0.001) in the groups given 98 mg/kg of both DBAE and DLAE extracts. However, the groups receiving 24,5 mg/kg of the aqueous bulb and leaf extracts, experienced a negligible increase in body weight growth (+ 55.83 g and + 50.17 g, respectively). Following treatment with DBAE at a high dose, compared to the controls, the relative weight of the kidney decreased significantly (p < 0.05). However, there was no discernible difference between control rats and rats that had received the various doses of both extracts in terms of their relative liver weight. Nevertheless, no group of animals displayed clinical intoxication symptoms during treatment.

Effect of *D. maritima* aqueous extract on basal hematological parameters. The result of the impact of DBAE and DLAE on the hematological profile is shown in Table 3. Only the groups that received two extracts DBAE and DLAE at high doses showed a statistically significant increase (10.33 \pm 0.46 and 10.63 \pm 0.32 *10⁹/L, respectively) in total WBC. In contrast, RBC, HB, and PLT counts in the control and treatment groups were all within the normal range.

Effect of *D. maritima* aqueous extract on hepatic markers. Rats exposed to 98 mg/kg of DBAE extract, showed substantially greater levels of the liver enzymes AST and ALT than the control group (Figure 2a, b). In comparison to the control, high dosage DBAE caused a highly significant rise in plasma ALP (339.13 \pm 25.01 Ul/L) (Figure 2c), which was followed by an important (p < 0.05) decrease in serum albumin concentrations (27.87 \pm 1.00 g/l) (Figure 2d). Remarkably, the plasma total bilirubin and the LDH enzyme levels between the control and treatment groups did not change significantly (Figure 2e, f).

Body weight gain and relative kidney and liver weights in control and experimental rats for 4-week.						
Treatment doses	Initial body weight [g]	Final body weight [g]	Weight gain [g]	Relative kid- ney weight [g/100 g bw]	Relative liver weight [g/100 g bw]	
Control	$223.83{\pm}1.97$	253.33 ± 5.49	29.50 ± 5.78	0.54 ± 0.02	2.47 ± 0.12	
98 mg/kg bw DBAE	221.50 ± 0.76	$282.16 \pm 5.81^{***}$	$60.67 \pm 5.42^{**}$	$0.44{\pm}0.01^*$	2.38 ± 0.14	
49 mg/kg bw DBAE	222.66 ± 0.61	$273.50 \pm 7.84^{**}$	$50.83{\pm}~7.40$	0.51 ± 0.01	2.24 ± 0.12	
24.5mg/kg bw DBAE	$220.33{\pm}0.76$	$276.16 \pm 6.37^{***}$	$55.83 \pm 5.91^{*}$	0.49 ± 0.02	2.41 ± 0.14	
98 mg/kg bw DLAE	220.00 ± 1.06	$276.66 \pm 5.37^{***}$	$56.67 \pm 5.67^{*}$	0.46 ± 0.03	2.54 ± 0.15	
49 mg/kg bw DLAE	223.00 ± 1.46	261.16 ± 2.49	38.17 ± 2.28	0.48 ± 0.01	1.97 ± 0.18	
24.5 mg/kg bw DLAE	$220.66{\pm}0.95$	$270.83 \pm 3.79^{**}$	$50.17{\pm}\ 3.26$	$0.46{\pm}~0.02$	$2.26{\pm}~0.06$	

 TABLE 2

Values are given as mean \pm SEM, for groups of six animals each. *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extract (DBAE); *D. maritima* leaves aqueous extract (DLAE). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 versus control group.



Hematolog	ical variations in con	TABLE 3	tal rats over 4 we	eks.
Treatment doses	WBC [*10 ⁹ /L]	RBC [*10 ¹² /L]	HB [g/dL]	PLT [*10 ⁹ /L]
Control	8.37 ± 0.41	8.60 ± 0.28	17.88 ± 0.43	1145.00 ± 57.53
98 mg/kg bw DBAE	$10.33 \pm 0.46^{*}$	8.93 ± 0.21	17.68 ± 0.19	1388.33 ± 61.86
49 mg/kg bw DBAE	9.66 ± 0.42	8.72 ± 0.21	17.10 ± 0.38	1120.83 ± 78.30
24.5mg/kg bw DBAE	9.10 ± 0.37	8.64 ± 0.13	17.24 ± 0.25	1093.83 ± 54.03
98 mg/kg bw DLAE	$10.63 \pm 0.32^{*}$	8.71 ± 0.18	17.76 ± 0.39	1072.16 ± 61.54
49 mg/kg bw DLAE	$9.94{\pm}0.75$	9.16 ± 0.24	17.84 ± 0.43	1116.33 ± 50.01
24.5 mg/kg bw DLAE	8.88 ± 0.36	8.78 ± 0.17	17.82 ± 0.43	1026.83 ± 41.29

Values are given as mean \pm SEM, for groups of six animals each. *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extracts (DBAE); *D. maritima* leaves aqueous extract (DLAE); white blood cell (WBC); red blood cell (RBC); hemoglobin level (HB); platelet (PLT). (* p < 0.05 versus control group).







FIGURE 2

Hepatic enzyme levels following treatment of both extracts to animals of different groups over a 4-week period. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 6). ^{ns} no significant difference, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 versus control group.

Effect of *D. maritima* aqueous extract on biochemical markers of renal function. After 28 days of treatment, the serum urea content of rats given high doses 98 mg/kg of DBAE experienced a considerable increase with (0.55 ± 0.03 g/l), while the other groups had insignificantly low levels of urea compared to the control group (0.36 ± 0.01 g/l) (Figure 3a). However, there is a difference seen in the levels of CR and plasma UA, which only significantly rise in the groups that received 98 mg/kg of the plant's bulb extract (Figure 3b, c).

Effect of *D. maritima* aqueous extract on hepatic and renal oxidative stress parameters. Measuring MDA (a marker of the existence of lipid peroxides) in the liver of rats, the values obtained (Table 4) show that administration of DBAE and DLAE at 98, 49 and 24.5 mg/kg for 4 consecutive weeks to the animals presented normal levels of MDA and the content of GSH (Table 4) close to the control in liver tissues.







FIGURE 3

Variations in specific serum biochemical kidney function parameters after treatment of both extracts to animals of different groups for a 4-week period. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. (n = 6). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 versus control group.

 TABLE 4

 Response of oxidative stress biomarkers in liver and kidneys tissues of animals from different groups over a 4-week period.

	Liver		Kidneys	
Treatment doses	MDA [nmol/mg prot]	GSH [nmol/mg prot]	MDA [nmol/mg prot]	GSH [nmol/mg prot]
Control	9.47 ± 1.33	3.30 ± 0.35	14.78 ± 1.68	$0.71 {\pm}\ 0.05$
98 mg/kg bw DBAE	8.85 ± 2.18	3.33 ± 0.29	13.72 ± 2.58	$0.62 {\pm}~ 0.07$
49 mg/kg bw DBAE	8.81 ± 1.69	3.02 ± 0.27	12.52 ± 1.79	$0.67{\pm}0.07$
24.5mg/kg bw DBAE	9.63 ± 1.78	3.72 ± 0.43	14.47 ± 1.20	0.58 ± 0.09
98 mg/kg bw DLAE	8.20 ± 1.25	3.11 ± 0.32	11.22 ± 1.13	0.61 ± 0.06
49 mg/kg bw DLAE	7.58 ± 1.24	3.20 ± 0.38	13.60 ± 1.74	$0.58 {\pm}~ 0.10$
24.5mg/kg bw DLAE	8.52 ± 1.36	3.70 ± 0.38	11.51 ± 1.46	$0.56 {\pm}~ 0.11$

Values are given as mean \pm SEM, no significant variations from the control group (n= 6). (DBAE) *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extracts; (DLAE) *D. maritima* leaves aqueous extract; (MDA) Malondialdehyde; (GSH) Reduced Glutathione.

Additionally, Table 4 equally shows the changes in lipid peroxidation and GSH content respectively in renal tissue. It is noted that the level of malondialdehyde (MDA) in DBAE and DLAE rats at all doses is comparable to that in control rats with (14.78 \pm 1.68). Similarly, there was no discernible change in renal glutathione level when contrasted the treated rats to the untreated ones.

Effect of *D. maritima* aqueous extract on antioxidant enzyme activity changes in liver and kidney. Hepatic GPx values are presented in Table 5. Rats given doses of DBAE at 98 mg/kg showed non-significant higher levels of these antioxidant enzymes (24.26 ± 2.14) compared to controls. Furthermore, when compared to the normal rats, there were no appreciable differences in the GPx levels of the treated rats with DLAE aqueous extract. Parallel to these findings, liver GST levels in all treated animals were not substantially different from those of the control animals (Table 5).

The changes in renal GPx and GST activity levels are depicted in Table 5. Comparing the kidneys of rats given DBAE and DLAE aqueous extract daily to those of controls, no significant variations in glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activity was observed. Also, there was a non-statistically significant change in GST enzyme activity levels in all experimental groups compared to the control group.



	·	period.	0	*
	Liver ei	nzymes	Kidney's e	nzymes
Treatment doses	GPx activity [µmol GSH/mg prot]	GST activity [Nmol GST/ min/mg prot]	GPx activity [µmol GSH/mg de prot]	GST activity [Nmol GST/ min/ mg prot]
Control	9.47 ± 1.33	3.30 ± 0.35	14.78 ± 1.68	0.43 ± 0.03
98 mg/kg bw DBAE	8.85 ± 2.18	3.33 ± 0.29	13.72 ± 2.58	$0.42 {\pm}~ 0.04$
49 mg/kg bw DBAE	$8.81{\pm}1.69$	3.02 ± 0.27	12.52 ± 1.79	$0.44{\pm}0.03$
24.5mg/kg bw DBAE	9.63 ± 1.78	3.72 ± 0.43	14.47 ± 1.20	$0.39{\pm}~0.06$
98 mg/kg bw DLAE	8.20 ± 1.25	3.11 ± 0.32	11.22 ± 1.13	$0.34{\pm}~0.01$
49 mg/kg bw DLAE	7.58 ± 1.24	3.20 ± 0.38	13.60 ± 1.74	$0.38{\pm}0.03$
24.5mg/kg bw DLAE	8.52 ± 1.36	3.70 ± 0.38	11.51 ± 1.46	$0.38{\pm}\ 0.04$

 TABLE 5

 Antioxidant enzyme activity in liver and kidneys tissues of animals from different groups over a 4-week

Values are given as mean \pm SEM, no significant variations from the control group (n= 6). (DBAE) *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extracts; (DLAE) *D. maritima* leaves aqueous extract; (GPx) Glutathione peroxidase; (GST) glutathione-S-transferase.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The therapeutic potential of *Drimia* species has long been researched. However, even though these plants could offer a wide range of pharmacological advantages, a full investigation of the plant's toxicity is required. To assess the degree of exposure at which the activity of these plants becomes evident, toxicological tests of extracts from the aerial portion and bulb of the *D. maritima* plant were carried out in this work.

As part of our study on the effectiveness of *D. maritima*, we characterized the aqueous extracts produced from this plant. Qualitative phytochemical assays revealed a high phenolic compound content of the two extracts studied. The abundance of polyphenols in DBAE in the current study, is also confirmed by the phytochemical analysis of [11], [30]. The quantity of polyphenol discovered in DLAE matched that of [16] for the aqueous infusion of *D. maritima* leaves. Our findings also show that DLAE contains a considerable number of total flavonoids, phenolic compounds that are well-known for having antioxidant characteristics.

On the other hand, the anti-free radical activity of these two D. maritima extracts was calculated using the DPPH hydroxyl radical technique. This test depends on the reduction of this free radical into a stable product by the hydrogen-donating antioxidant molecules of the plant extract [31]. The results we obtained imply that both D. maritima extracts function as antioxidants, particularly DLAE because of its strong free radical scavenging ability. The presence of phenolic chemicals like flavonoids is considered to be connected to this antioxidant ability. These findings support prior research that demonstrates a link between plant extracts' antioxidant capacity and their phytochemical composition [32], [33]. The same antioxidant activity of D. maritima bulbs and leaves and Drimia genus was also demonstrated by [9], [13].

To evaluate an animal's general health and the safety of the product being used, it is vital to ascertain how its body weight has changed over time. In our experiment, the monitoring of weight growth revealed that the rats that received the various dosages of the aqueous extracts of D. maritima's bulb and leaves (DBAE and DLAE, respectively) gained more body mass compared to the rats in the control group. On the one hand, a sufficient intake and absorption of food can account for this weight increase. These findings support those [34], [35], who showed that administration of an Asparagaceae family plant extract causes a considerable increase in body weight. On the other hand, earlier published research [36], [37] showed that these effects were linked to the ability of polyphenolic substances, flavonoids, and tannins contained in the plant. The abundance of D. maritima in these bioactive compounds has also been acknowledged by [10], showing the plant's advantageous anabolic action.

The hematopoietic system plays a predictive role in diseased status of both humans and animals, as one of the receiver profiles of several medications and xenobiotics [34]. Regarding the analysis of blood parameters, our findings showed no significant differences between rats from the treated groups and those from the control group, indicating a regular production of blood cells, which suggests that the extracts are not toxic to the blood system. These results are consistent with other studies [13] which claim that the administration of different extracts of D. maritima prevented hemolysis by boosting red blood cell resistance, proving the anti-hemolytic action of this plant. However, the number of WBCs only significantly increased at the high dosage of both DBAE and DLAE extracts. An excessive synthesis of the substances regulating the growth of leukocyte-producing stem cells could be the cause of this immune system response. Our results are in agreement with the research of [38] who report that this overproduction is related to the immunostimulatory activity of glycosides, and some phytochemicals present in plant extracts.

EB

To predict the membrane integrity and function of hepatocytes following consumption of plant products, evaluation of the enzymatic activity of a few hepatic markers is crucial. Two transaminases in the hepatic serum with greater sensitivity are ALT and AST [39]. The present study reports nonsignificant changes in serum levels of these two enzymes, except for 98 mg/kg bw DBAE, for which a significant increase was observed. This may be attributed to changes in membrane permeability, which are often related to the presence of scillaren, the potent heteroside present in the bulb of D. maritima. In addition, the increase in ALP levels found in the liver at the bile canaliculi and marking the hepatobiliary transit state supports that scillarene acts on the activity of the enzyme Na⁺/ K⁺ ATPase, leading to a reduction in bile production in the ducts, which in turn reduces hepatic blood flow and leads to cholestasis [4], [6]. The liver synthesizes the essential plasma protein, albumin; fluctuation of the latter indicates a risk of liver disease [40]. This is clear from the study's results, which reveal that only the high dosage DBAE produced a modest drop in albumin levels while the other groups' levels were within the control group's reference range. More so, no significant changes were observed in total bilirubin, and lactate dehydrogenase, which also confirms the reduction of the risk of hepatobiliary damage and demonstrates the absence of hepatotoxicity of the extracts. These results are reinforced by the non-significance of the change in relative liver weight compared with the control group. Furthermore, D. maritima leaf extract did not cause significant changes in serum levels of liver enzymes, total bilirubin, albumin, and lactate dehydrogenase in treated rats compared to control rats, indicating that liver functions are not affected by DLAE administration, probably as a result of the flavonoids concentration as the major constituents of this extract. These outcomes are consistent with [41], which showed the hepatoprotective impact of five flavonoids.

The kidneys play an important role in the survival of the body by maintaining a constant tubular excretion and concentration of electrolytes in the blood [42]. For this purpose, renal functional status was assessed by measuring several indicators, including creatinine, urea, and uric acid. Data analysis showed that, in comparison to the control lot, rats given DBAE at a dosage of 98 mg/kg bw had significantly lower relative kidney weights. While DLAE had no noticeable effects, this shows that only highlevel subacute exposure to DBAE acts on the kidneys and that DLAE does not harmful to the renal system. In addition, substantial increases in blood urea, creatinine and uric acid levels were observed only in high dose of DBAE extract, which may be related to the presence of glycosides. Similar findings were made by [7], [43] in which cardiac glycosides from D. maritima act on transmembrane proteins, increasing blood urea and uric acid levels. [44]

indicate the abundance of bufadienolide cardiac glycosides in the *D. maritima* bulb that act as membrane enzyme antagonists. On the other hand, the absence of significant variations of these parameters in the other groups under treatment, indicates that the renal functions are not affected.

The body produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) primarily to aid in the detoxification process and the metabolism of cellular macromolecules. A surplus of these molecules directly contributes to the creation of oxidative damage [4]. In the present investigation, MDA levels in the liver and kidney did not change significantly after administration of DBAE and DLAE, at the different treatment doses. Thus, giving an indication of the lack of oxidative damage as it is the main biomarker of polyunsaturated fatty acid peroxidation in cell membranes [45]. In addition, the initial line of free radical detoxification, GSH content [46], was observed to be at an equivalent level to that of the control in all treatment groups. This justifies the antioxidant power of DBAE and DLAE extracts to prevent oxidative damage. These findings are in line with several research demonstrating the antioxidant properties of Drimia genus [4], [47].

On the other hand, enzymatic antioxidants are crucial for protecting cells from damaging compounds. In our research, the activity of two enzymes, GST and GPx, was investigated in the liver and kidney of untreated and treated rats. GST is a catalytic enzyme that works to lessen the toxicity of xenobiotics. The doses of DBAE and DLAE used in the experiment did not significantly alter this enzyme's activity. This outcome can be attributed to the antioxidant power of phenolic compounds found in both parts of *D. maritima*. Furthermore, [48] contends that these phenolic substances can improve and strengthen antioxidant enzymes by preventing the generation of ROS. In this regard, much recent research has proved the antioxidant capability of natural components derived from plants, including flavonoids and polyphenols [49], [50]. However, rats receiving high dose of DBAE showed a non-significant rise in the amount of glutathione peroxidase (GPx) hepatic, the enzyme that controls the level of ROS. During this time, all treated groups' kidneys showed insignificant amounts of GPx throughout the course of 4 weeks when compared to controls. These findings clearly demonstrate the ability of D. maritima extracts to promote and maintain cellular detoxification mechanisms.

In conclusion, according to the study's findings, *D. maritima* bulb aqueous extracts only have the potential to harm the liver and kidneys in very high levels. However, due to its numerous compounds having antioxidant characteristics, subacute oral administration of *D. maritima* leaf extract was deemed non-toxic at all doses tested in this study. This fosters the use of this plant's aqueous extracts and paves the

way for a wide range of environmental and health advantages.

REFERENCES

- [1] Hammiche, V., Merad, R. and Azzouz, M. (2013) Toxic Plants Used for Medicinal Purposes in the Mediterranean Periphery. In Collection Phytothérapie pratique. Paris: Springer Paris. 227-236. (in French).
- [2] Alqahtani, A.S., Ullah, R. and Shahat, A.A. (2022) Bioactive Constituents and Toxicological Evaluation of Selected Antidiabetic Medicinal Plants of Saudi Arabia. Evidence-Based Complement. Altern. Med. 2022, 1–23.
- [3] Tahri, Y., Koubaa, I., Frikha, D., Maalej, S. and Allouche, N. (2020) Chemical Investigation and Biological Valorization of Two Essential Oils Newly Extracted from Different Parts of Drimia maritima. J. Essent. Oil-Bearing Plants. 23(5), 1022-1034.
- [4] Manganyi, M.C., Tlatsana, G. S., Mokoroane, G. T., Senna, K. P., Mohaswa, J. F., Ntsayagae, K., Fri, J., and Ateba, C. N. (2021) Bulbous plants drimia: 'a thin line between poisonous and healing compounds' with biological activities. Pharmaceutics. 13(9), 1-20.
- [5] Manfo, F.P.T., Mboe, S. A., Nantia, E. A., Ngoula, F., Telefo, P. B., Moundipa, P. F., and Cho-Ngwa, F. (2020) Evaluation of the Effects of Agro Pesticides Use on Liver and Kidney Function in Farmers from Buea, Cameroon. J. Toxicol. 2020.
- [6] Bozorgi, M., Amin, G., Shekarchi, M. and Rahimi, R. (2017) Traditional medical uses of Drimia species in terms of phytochemistry, pharmacology and toxicology. J. Tradit. Chinese Med. 37(1), 124-139.
- [7] Mahboubi, М., Mohammad Taghizadeh Kashani, L. and Mahboubi, M. (2019) Squill (Drimia maritima L.) and its novel biological activity. Orient. Pharm. Exp. Med. 19(3), 227-234.
- [8] Agidew, M.G. (2022) Phytochemical analysis of some selected traditional medicinal plants in Ethiopia. Bull. Natl. Res. Cent. 46(1), 87.
- [9] Maazoun, A.M., Ben Hlel, T., Hamdi, S.H., Belhadj, F., Ben Jemâa, J.M. and Marzouki, M.N. (2017) Screening for insecticidal potential and acetylcholinesterase activity inhibition of Urginea maritima bulbs extract for the control of Sitophilus oryzae (L.). J. Asia. Pac. Entomol. 20(3), 752-760.
- [10] Rhimi, W., Camarda, A., Saidi, M., Boulila, A., Otranto, D., and Cafarchia, C. (2019) Chemical characterization and acaricidal activity of Drimia maritima (L) bulbs and Dittrichia viscosa leaves against Dermanyssus gallinae. Vet. Parasitol. 268, 61-66.

- [11] Zhang, L., Zengin, G., Mahomoodally, M. F., Yıldıztugay, E., Jugreet, S., Simal-Gandara, J., Rouphael, Y., Pannico, A., and Lucini, L. (2022) Untargeted Phenolic Profiling and Functional Insights of the Aerial Parts and Bulbs of Drimia maritima (L.) Stearn. Plants. 11(5), 600.
- [12] Kakouri, E., Kanakis, C., Trigas, P., and Tarantilis, P.A. (2019) Characterization of the chemical composition of Drimia numidica plant parts using high-resolution mass spectrometry: study of their total phenolic content and antioxidant activity. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 411(4), 3135-3150.
- [13] Rezzagui, A., Senator, A., Benbrinis, S. and Bouriche, H. (2020) Free Radical Scavenging Activity, Reducing Power and Anti-Hemolytic Capacity of Algerian Drimia maritima Baker Flower Extracts. J. Drug. Deliv. Ther. 10(4), 70-78.
- [14]Bozcuk, H., Özdoğan, M., Aykurt, O., Topçuoğlu, F., Öztürk, H., Ekinci, D., Karadeniz, A., Mutlu, A., and Burgucu, D. (2011) Urginea maritima (L.) baker (Liliaceae) extract induces more cytotoxicity than standard chemotherapeutics in the A549 non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cell line. Turkish J. Med. Sci. 41(1), 101 - 108.
- [15] Hamzeloo-Moghadam, M., Aghaei, M., Abdolmohammadi, M.H., Khalaj, A. and Fallahian, F. (2018) Cytotoxic effect of drimia maritima bulb extract and induction of mitochondrial apoptotic signaling in human breast cancer cells, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-468. Onco. Targets. Ther. 11, 7669-7677.
- [16] Amine, D., Mohamed, B., Zoubida, H., Jamal, I. and Laila, N. (2017) Activite Antifongique Des Extraits Aqueux De Calendula Officinalis L, Urginea Maritima (L.) Baker Et Chenopodium Ambrosioides L. Eur. Sci. Journal, ESJ. 13(24), 483.
- [17] Saadane, F.Z., Habbachi, W., Habbachi, S., El Imene Boublata, N., Slimani, A. and Tahraoui, A. (2021) Toxic effects of Drimia maritima (Asparagaceae) ethanolic extracts on the mortality, development, sexual behaviour and oviposition behaviour of Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera: Drosophilidae). J. Anim. Behav. Biometeorol. 9(1), 1-8.
- [18] Koch, M.A., Tosun, J., Kellermann, L., Marek, C., Kiefer, M. and Thiv, M. (2023)Reducing pesticides without organic certification? Potentials and limits of an intermediate form of agricultural production. Cogent Food Agric. 9(1).
- [19] Vialatte, A., Tibi, A., Alignier, A., Angeon, V., Bedoussac, L., Bohan, D.A. and Martinet, V. (2021) Promoting crop pest control by plant diversification in agricultural landscapes: A conceptual framework for analysing feedback loops between agro-ecological and socio-economic effects. Adv. Ecol. Res. 65, 133-165.



- [20]Kaaria, L.M. (2019) Effect of Asparagus racemosus on selected female reproductive parameters using Wistar rat model. Discov. Phytomedicine. 6(4), 199–204.
- [21]Li, H., Cheng, K., Wong, C., Fan, K., Chen, F. and Jiang, Y. (2007) Evaluation of antioxidant capacity and total phenolic content of different fractions of selected microalgae. Food Chem. 102(3), 771–776.
- [22] Djeridane, A., Yousfi, M., Nadjemi, B., Boutassouna, D., Stocker, P. and Vidal, N. (2006) Antioxidant activity of some algerian medicinal plants extracts containing phenolic compounds. Food Chem. 97(4), 654–660.
- [23] Sánchez-Moreno, C., Larrauri, J.A. and Saura-Calixto, F. (1998) A procedure to measure the antiradical efficiency of polyphenols. J. Sci. Food Agric. 76(2), 270–276.
- [24] Bradford, M.M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of proteindye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72(1–2), 248–254.
- [25] Esterbauer, H., Gebicki, J., Puhl, H. and Jürgens, G. (1992) The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 13(4), 341–390.
- [26]Ellman, G.L. (1959) Tissue sulfhydryl groups. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 82(1), 70–77.
- [27] Jollow, D.J., Mitchell, J.R., Zampaglione, N. and Gillette, J.R. (1974) Bromobenzene-Induced Liver Necrosis. Protective Role of Glutathione and Evidence for 3,4-Bromobenzene Oxide as the Hepatotoxic Metabolite. Pharmacology. 11(3), 151–169.
- [28] Habig, W.H., Pabst, M.J. and Jakoby, W.B. (1974) Glutathione S-Transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 249(22), 7130–7139.
- [29]Flohé, L. and Günzler, W.A. (1984) Assays of Gluthathione Peroxidase. Methods Enzymol. 105, 114–120.
- [30] Belhaddad. O.E., Charef, N., Amamra, S., Zerargui, F., Baghiani, A., Khennouf, S., Arrar, L. (2017) Chromatographic fractionation, antioxidant and antibacterial activities of Urginea maritima methanolic extract. Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. 30(1), 127–134.
- [31] Rjeibi, I., Saad, A.B. and Hfaiedh, N (2016) Oxidative damage and hepatotoxicity associated with deltamethrin in rats: The protective effects of Amaranthus spinosus seed extract. Biomed. Pharmacother. 84, 853-860.
- [32] Asong, J.A., Amoo, S.O., McGaw, L.J. Nkadimeng, S.M., Aremu, A.O., and Otang-Mbeng, W. (2019) Antimicrobial activity, antioxidant potential, cytotoxicity and phytochemical profiling of four plants locally used against skin diseases. Plants. 8(9).

- [33] Farag, R.S., Abdel-Latif, M.S., Abd El Baky, H.H. and Tawfeek, L.S. (2020) Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of some medicinal plants' crude juices. Biotechnol. Reports. 28, e00536.
- [34] Abubakar, A., Nazifi, A., Hassan, F., Duke, K. and Edoh, T. (2019) Safety assessment of Chlorophytum alismifolium tuber extract (Liliaceae): Acute and sub-acute toxicity studies in Wistar rats. J. Acute Dis. 8(1), 21.
- [35] Mannasaheb, B., Kulkarni, P., Sangreskopp, M., Savant, C. and Mohan, A. (2015) Protective effect of Agave americana Linn. leaf extract in acetic acid-induced ulcerative colitis in rats. AYU (An Int. Q. J. Res. Ayurveda). 36(1), 101.
- [36] Ozcan, T., Akpinar-Bayizit, A., Yilmaz-Ersan, L. and Delikanli, B. (2014) Phenolics in Human Health. Int. J. Chem. Eng. Appl. 5(5), 393–396.
- [37] Trea, F., Tichati, L. and Ouali, K. (2022) Protective effect of Thymus munbyanus aqueous extract against 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid-induced nephrotoxicity in Wistar rats. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 45(3), 1109–1118.
- [38] Jorum, O.H. and Piero, N.M (2016) Haematological Effects of Dichloromethane-Methanolic Leaf Extracts of Carissa edulis (Forssk.) Vahl in Normal Rat Models. J. Hematol. Thromboembolic Dis. 04(01), 2–3.
- [39] Li, Y., Fang, D., Bao, Z., He, A., Guan, B., He, S., Zhan, Y., Gong, Y., Li, X., and Zhou, L. (2019) High aspartate transaminase/alanine transaminase ratio predicts poor prognosis in patients with localized upper tract urothelial cancer: a propensity score-matched study in a large Chinese center. Onco. Targets. Ther. 12, 2635–2648.
- [40] Liu, X., Meng, Q.H., Ye, Y., Hildebrandt, M.A.T., Gu, J. and Wu, X. (2015) Prognostic significance of pretreatment serum levels of albumin, LDH and total bilirubin in patients with non-metastatic breast cancer. Carcinogenesis. 36(2), 243–248.
- [41] He, Y., Xia, Z., Yu, D., Wang, J., Jin, L., Huang, D., Ye, X., Li, X., and Zhang, B. (2019) Hepatoprotective effects and structure-activity relationship of five flavonoids against lipopolysaccharide/d-galactosamine induced acute liver failure in mice. Int. Immunopharmacol. 68, 171–178.
- [42] Costello, H.M., Johnston, J.G., Juffre, A., Crislip, G.R. and Gumz, M.L. (2022) Circadian clocks of the kidney: function, mechanism, and regulation. Physiol. Rev. 102(4),1669–1701.
- [43] Dizaye, K. and Hamed, B. (2010) Cardiovascular studies of white squill (Urginea maritima) extract. Zanco J. Med. Sci. 14(1), 20–7.
- [44] Housecroft, C.E. (2020) Plant toxins: Poison or therapeutic. Chimia (Aarau). 74(5), 421–422.



- [45] Fan, Y., Zhao, X., Yu, J., Xie, J., Li, C., Liu, D., Tang, C., and Wang, C. (2020) Lead-induced oxidative damage in rats/mice: A meta-analysis. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 58, 126443.
- [46] Alibakhshi, T., Khodayar, M.J., Khorsandi, L., Rashno, M. and Zeidooni, L. (2018) Protective effects of zingerone on oxidative stress and inflammation in cisplatin-induced rat nephrotoxicity. Biomed. Pharmacother. 105, 225–232.
- [47] Aswal, S., Kumar, A., Semwal, R. B., Chauhan, A., Kumar, A., Lehmann, J., and Semwal, D. K.
 (2019) Drimia indica: A Plant Used in Traditional Medicine and Its Potential for Clinical Uses. Medicina (B. Aires). 55(6), 255.
- [48] Sebai, H., Jabri, M.A., Souli, A., Hosni, K., Rtibi, K., Tebourbi, O. and Sakly, M. (2015) Chemical composition, antioxidant properties and hepatoprotective effects of chamomile (Matricaria recutita L.) decoction extract against alcohol-induced oxidative stress in rat. Gen Physiol Biophys. 34(3), 263–75.
- [49] Stagos, D. (2019) Antioxidant Activity of Polyphenolic Plant Extracts. Antioxidants. 9(1), 19.
- [50] El Moussaoui, A., Jawhari, F. Z., Almehdi, A. M., Elmsellem, H., Benbrahim, K. F., Bousta, D., and Bari, A. (2019) Antibacterial, antifungal and antioxidant activity of total polyphenols of Withania frutescens.L. Bioorg. Chem. 93, 103337.

Received:	03.11.2023
Accepted:	18.11.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Leila Kirane Amrani

Laboratory of Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Sciences Badji Mokhtar University Annaba 23000 – Algeria

e-mail: amranileila2015@gmail.com

STUDY OF THE REPRODUCTION AND GROWTH OF Sander Lucioperca FROM BOUHAMDANE DAM, GUELMA, ALGERIA

Rezaiguia Wafa^{1,*}, Oudainia Salah Eddine², Kaizouri Mohamed³, Allalgua Amel¹, Khacha Nadjette¹, Rachedi Mounira⁴, Menasria Amel¹, Kaouachi Nouha¹

¹Laboratory of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems, Department of Biology, Mohamed Cherif Messaadia University, Souk-Ahras 41000, Algeria

²Laboratory of Marine Bio Resources; Badji Mokhtar University of. Annaba. Algeria

³Laboratory of Ecoology of Earth and Aquatic Ecosystems, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University, Annaba 23000, Algeria ⁴Department of Marine Sciences, Faculty of Natural Sciences and Life, Chadli Bendjedid University, El-Tarf, Algeria

ABSTRACT

This study is based on the reproductive and growth biology of the specie Sander Lucioperca that is a freshwater fish, more responsive in the world and major in aquaculture. A total of 362 specimens of S. lucioperca were collected from the Bouhamdane dam in Guelma, by monthly sampling from november 2019 to october 2020. The sexes of specimens were determined macroscopically and the observed sex ratio was in favor of males during the whole cycle of study. This study was carried out to determine the gonado-somatic index (GSI), the liver somatic index (LSI) and the condition factor (K) show variations related to the reproductive cycle. For the study of age, 3 groups were identified for females and males. Size frequency distributions and growth parameters were analyzed using the ELEFAN1 method, using FISAT II software. According to Von Bertalanffy parameters, male pikeperch shows faster growth (L_{∞} =48.30cm, K=0.66 year⁻¹, Φ =3.18) than females (L_{∞}=46.20cm, K=0.57year⁻¹, Φ =3.08), which is rare in teleost fish. Weight growth varies between the two sexes, it is minorant in males and the combined sex (b<3) and isometric (b=3) in females.

KEYWORDS:

Sander Lucioperca, Reproduction, Growth, Von Bertalanffy parameters, Bouhamdane Dam

INTRODUCTION

In Algeria, the development of dam restocking is recent. It was around the 80s that the Ministry of Fisheries and Aquaculture decided to import pikeperch fry from Hungary as part of the evaluation and enhancement of water bodies to enrich the environment with ichthyological fauna and for the development of aquaculture [1, 2, 3]. The life history traits of pikeperch have been relatively well described, but mainly those of northern populations [4, 5]. The pikeperch is a large species, reaching maturity relatively late, with high relative fecundity and providing parental care. This set of characteristics classifies it as a species with a "periodic strategy" that maximize their fecundity in response to a stable (i.e., predictable) environment [6].

The study of the reproductive biology of pikeperch has been relatively well described but mainly those of populations located north of its range, namely the Baltic Sea and its appendices and Scandinavian continental waters [4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 5, 12, 13]. Only a few studies have dealt with this aspect in Mediterranean regions such as those of [14, 15, 16, 17].

Various methods are now available to assess reproduction in fish, including microscopic gonad development, oocyte size frequency distribution, sex steroid measurement, and gonadal indices [18, 19]. Indeed, the gonadosomatic index (GSI), expressed as a percentage of gonadal mass relative to total body mass, is widely used as a simple measure of the extent of reproductive investment or gonadal development [20, 21].

Thus, the study of the sex ratio provides information on the proportion of male and female fish in a population, also indicating the predominance of sex in a population and thus giving basic information necessary for fish reproduction [22]. The condition factor was also estimated by directly measuring physiological parameters related to energy reserves such as tissue lipid content and reproductive status [23].

Reproduction is often the limiting factor in population dynamics. Indeed, in hydrobiology, growth parameters are an essential data for a good understanding of the biology and dynamics of animal populations, and a fortiori of fish [24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31].

Our research work is based on the study of the reproduction, age and growth of this species in the Bouhamdane dam in Guelma. For many ichthyologists, data on fish age and growth are essential to understanding the life history traits of species and populations. Indeed, growth is one of the major processes in fish biology and is one of the key processes of length-structured models [32]. So far, no results concerning the biological characteristics of this specie have been obtained at the Bouhamdane dam.

The objectives of this study are to:

• provide information on the biology of the *Sander lucioperca* [33] populate the Bouhamdane Guelma dam and describe the reproductive characteristics of this species by analyzing the sex ratio, the gonado-somatic index, the liver somatic index, the condition factor, age and growth. The results of this study will help increase knowledge about the reproductive biology of *Sander lucioperca*, which is relevant for aquaculture management, as well as adequate supply.

• provide information on the population dynamics of *S. lucioperca* inhabiting the Bouhamdane dam in Geulma.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area. Bouhamdane Dam (Hammam Debagh Dam) is located 23 km from the wilaya of Guelma since it is located 3 km upstream of the locality of Hammam Debagh, on the Oued Bouhamdane (Figure 1), takes its name from the area of thermal springs.



The body of water of the Bouhamdane dam (like that of Medjez Bégard) is a large lake, having its role to play in order to safeguard the environment, in addition to the purposes for which it was originally built, namely:

• Irrigation (34 hm³) of the two perimeters Guelma-Bouchegouf (whose area extends over 13,000 ha) on the one hand and Drean-Besbès in the wilaya of El Tarf, on the other hand.

• Drinking water supply to the city of Guelma and surrounding centres (19 hm³) [34].

Collection and sampling of specimens. A total of 362 individuals pikeperch (205 males and 157 females) were collected monthly from november 2019 to october 2020. After sampling, the specimens were afterwards transported immediately to the laboratory for being measured.

Body measurements. Total lengths (TL, cm) were measured using a one-meter measuring board graduated in cm, since the weight was evaluated by an electronic balance accuracy of 1g by considering the total weight (TW, g). All specimens were dissected to obtain eviscerated weight (EW, g), gonad weight (GW, g), liver weight (LW, g). Also, fish sexes (male or female) were determined by visual examination of the gonads and subsequently the mentioned parameters were recorded on a data collection sheet. The reproductive biology was determined by sex ratio (SR), gonad somatic index (GSI), liver-somatic index (LSI) and condition factor (K).



FIGURE 1 Location of the stady site, Bouhamdane Dam, Guelma (Google Mapp)



Sex ratio. In this study, we have adopted the definition of sex ratio as the proportion of males and females in the population [35].

proportion of males = $(M/F + M) \times 100$ (Eq.1) proportion of females = $(F/F + M) \times 100$

Where:

F: Number of females;

M: Number of males.

Gonadosomatic index (GSI). The GSI it is one of the parameters used in reproduction studies of fish. This parameter was estimated as the ratio of gonad weight to the eviscerate weight of the body, which can encrypt the growth of gonads during the reproductive cycle [36].

 $GSI = GW/EW \times 100$ (Eq.2) Where: GW: gonad weight (g); EW: eviscerate weight (g).

Liver somatic index (LSI). The liver is a vital organ that plays a crucial role in the processes involved in the development of genital products [37]. The liver somatic index (LSI) was estimated as the ratio of liver weight to the eviscerate weight of the body [38].

 $LSI = (LW/EW) \times 100$ (Eq.3) Where: LW: liver weight (g); EW: eviscerate weight (g).

Condition factor. The condition factor (k) of the experimental fish was estimated according to the following relation [39]:

 $K = (W/L^{b}) \times 100$ (Eq.4) Where: W: weight of fish (g); L: total length of fish (cm);

b: slope of regression line.

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistica, statistical program (software version 8.0). All results are subjected to ANOVA statistical analysis and student's test, in order to compare the average GSI and LSI.

Age and growth parameters. The fish's age was determined by removing 6 to 10 scales from the antero-medial part of the body above the lateral line of each specimen [40]. Scales were viewed by the stereo binocular microscope, and the scale reading was then examined twice by two independent readers.

Determination of growth parameters L_{∞} , K and t₀. In our study, the analysis of pikeperch growth parameters was carried out from the size frequency data of 362 specimens. The determination of the parameters L_{∞} and K and the adjustment of the absolute growth curves are carried out by the ELEFEN I method using the FISAT II software [41].

Relative growth makes it possible to verify the existence of a correlation linking weight to fish size and to model the relationship. The length-weight relationship was calculated using the formula of [42,43]:

 $W = a \times TL^b$ (Eq.5) The formula was estimated by linear regression

after logarithmic transformation of the data [44]:

 $\log W = \log a + b \times \log TL$ (Eq.6) Where:

W: body weight of fish in gram (g);

TL: total length (cm);

a: intercept;

b: slope of the regression line.

The parameter to was obtained from the empirical equation of [45]:

$$\begin{split} \log_{10}(-t_0) &= -0.3922 - 0.2752 \times \\ \log_{10} L\infty - 1.038 \times \log_{10} K \; (\text{Eq.7}) \end{split}$$

The growth performance index (\emptyset) was calculated to compare our results with those obtained in different regions. It was determined by the empirical equation of [46]:

 $\emptyset = \log K + 2 \times \log L \infty \qquad (Eq.8)$

The b value was analyzed by a Student's t-test, accordingly to the statistical equation reported by [47]. Following b values, the relation becomes isometric (b=3.0), minorant (b<3.0), and majorant (b>3.0) [48].

The weight growth equation (11) can be studied by the classical Von Bertalanffy model [49], by combining the Von Bertalanffy linear growth equation (9) and the height-weight relationship (10):

$Lt = L\infty \left(1 - e^{-K(t-to)}\right)$	(Eq.9)
$Wt = a \times Lt^b$	(Eq.10)

 $Wt = W\infty$ (Eq.11) With:

Wt: mass of the fish at time t (in years);

Lt: total length in cm at time t;

 W_{∞} : asymptotic weight or maximum theoretical weight corresponding to Lt;

b: coefficient of the height-weight relationship or the slope of the line expressing the height -weight relationship in its logarithmic form.

 t_0 : theoretical age (year) that the fish would have had at size zero (Lt = 0)

K: growth coefficient.

RESULTS

The sex ratio according to the months. The values of the monthly sex ratio shows, a dominance of males over females throughout the year except during the two months September and November, when females are abundant with a significant percentage (60%, 70% respectively) (Figure 2).





FIGURE 2

Monthly proportion of females and males for Sander lucioperca in Bouhamdane Dam during the study period (November 2019-October 2020)

There was no significant difference between the results obtained using the two methods (χ 2calculated=19.15< χ 2theoretical=19.67; p = 0.05) (Figure 2).

Gonadosomatic index (GSI). The monthly evolution of the GSI (Figure 3) has a similar trend for the total population and both sexes, except that, for males, the values are less important. Indeed, the maturation of genital products begins in December (females: $0.46\pm0.25\%$; males: $0.22\pm0.12\%$; population: $0.33\pm0.24\%$), and continues until March (females: $2.69\pm2.82\%$; males: $0.74\pm0.76\%$; both sexes combined: $1.52\pm2.07\%$). A drop in the GSI is observed in April to reach a low value in July for females and the total population ($0.16\pm0.16\%$; $0.15\pm0.15\%$) and in August for males ($0.04\pm0.01\%$). A resumption of this ratio is observed from July for females and the total population and September for males. The ANOVA analysis shows a very highly significant monthly variation between the mean values of GSI of combined sexes, males and females (Fobs of combined sexes = 6.73, P \leq 0.001; Fobs of males = 6.89, P \leq 0.001and Fobs of females = 5.57, P \leq 0.001). According to student's t-test, there is a very highly significant difference between mean RGS values of the two sexes (t-test, d.f. = 360, p \leq 0.001) (Figure 3).

Liver somatic index (LSI). Minimum LSI values are observed in June for the total population, males and females $(0.57\pm0.21\%; 0.57\pm0.18\%; 0.57\pm0.24\%)$ respectively. From October, they increase gradually (Figure 4) until March for males $(1.38\pm0.48\%)$, females $(2.03\pm0.64\%)$ and the total population $(1.64\pm0.61\%)$ where the ratio reaches its maximum value (Figure 4).



FIGURE 3

Gonadosomatic Index (GSI) for females and males of the Sander lucioperca in Bouhamdane dam during the study period (November 2019-October 2020)





FIGURE 4

Liver Somatic Index (LSI) for females and males of the Sander lucioperca in Bouhamdane dam during the study period (November 2019-October 2020)

The ANOVA test shows a very highly significant monthty variation between the mean values of LSI of combined sexes, males and females (Fobs of combined sexes = 10.59, P \leq 0.001; Fobs of males = 3.74, P \leq 0.001; Fobs of females = 19.31, P \leq 0.001). with a threshold of 5% (Figure 04). The t-student test revealed a non-significant difference between the two sexes (t-test, d.f. = 360, p>0.05) (Figure 4).

Condition factor K. The values of the coefficient of condition K vary between $0.64\pm0.05\%$ to $0.83\pm0.12\%$ in females and between $0.65\pm0.04\%$ and $0.79\pm0.03\%$ in males. In winter, we note that the evolution of this index is more or less stable over time. In particular, during the laying period, this index reaches its maximum value in March-April for both sexes (K males = $0.77\pm0.05\%$; K female = $0.83\pm0.12\%$). A slight decrease in K is observed during the month of May for males ($0.67\pm0.16\%$)

and the months of May and August for females $(0.73\pm0.07\%; 0.66\pm0.04 \text{ respectively})$ (Figure 5).

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed a very highly significant monthly variation with a threshold of 5%, between the mean values of K (F obs of combined sexes = 15.24; p<0.001), (F obs of males = 7.77; p<0.001) and (F obs of females = 8.83; p<0.001) (Figure 5). There was no significant difference between the sexes (t-test, d.f.= 360, p>0.05).

Study of age and growth. For all individuals (n=362) of the S. lucioperca, the total weight extends between 106.5g and 719.8g (with an average value TW_{avg} =374.01g) while the total length varies between 25cm and 45.3cm (TL_{avg}=36.11cm).

Table 1 shows that it is the age class 2 that is the most dominant with 306 individuals and height values between 30.3 - 39.5cm, followed by age class 3 with 50 individuals, against only 6 individuals in age class 1(Table.1).



FIGURE 5

Monthly condition factor (K) for females and males of Sandes lucioperca in Bouhamdane Dam during the study period (November 2019-October 2020)



Age-frequency distributions in total length and weight						
Age groups			TL (cm)		T۱	V (g)
	Ν	F%	Min-Max	Mean ±SEM	Min-Max	Mean ±SEM
1	6	1.65	25-29.5		106.5-371.5	
2	306	84.53	30.3-39.5	36.11±0.036	195.8-588.6	374.01 ± 0.136
3	50	13.81	40-45.3		459-678.6	

TABLE 1

N: sample number; F: frequency; TL: total length (cm); TW: total weight (g); min: minimum; Max: maximum; SEM: Standard error of the mean

Linear Relative Growth and Absolute Weight Growth. The linear growth parameters of the Von Bertalanffy model [49] and the index of growth performance (Φ) were estimated for males, females and both combined sexes.

The asymptotic lengths calculated are perfectly in line with the maximum lengths observed (Table 2). The asymptotic lengths (L_{∞}) obtained in the total population (L_{∞} =48.30cm), females (L_{∞} =46.20cm) and males (L_{∞} =48.30cm) are higher than the maximum lengths which are respectively L_{max}=45.3cm for the total population, L_{max}=44.5cm for females and L_{max} =45.3cm for males.

The value of the asymptomatic length (L_{∞} =48.30cm) of males is higher than that of females (L_{∞}=46.20cm), a difference of 2.10cm, also that the K value for males is higher than that of females. The value of the growth performance index (Φ) calculated for a male is higher than for females (Table 2, Table 3).

Length-weight relationship. The estimated annual values of b (regression slopes) are less than or equal to 3, so Student's t-test gives us higher values; threshold corresponding to a degree of safety of 95% (t-test, p > 0.05).

This would indicate that the Sander lucioperca population is characterized by a minor allometry between total weight and length in males (b=2.852; $r^{2}=0.759$) and total population (b=2.805; $r^{2}=0.711$) (weight grows less rapidly than the cube of length) (Table 4).

For females, the coefficient b of the length /eviscerated weight relationship is equal to 3 at the risk of error 5% (test-t, p < 0.05), it would be an isometric allometry (b=2.978; r²=0.615) (length grows at the same rate as weight).

The equations of total length (TL) and eviscerated weight (EW) show positive correlations of all pikeperch individuals (Table.5).

DISCUSSION

Current knowledge of the biology of Sander lucioperca (mainly reproduction) is considered insufficient to improve stock assessment [16]. In the Bouhamdane dam, analysis of the population structure of S. lucioperca showed a predominance of males (male population) throughout the sampling period except in September and November when females are dominant. The sex rate is (56.63%) so males are more numerous than females (43.37%). Similar results are obtained by [17] in the Ghrib dam in Ain Defla which shows a sex ratio still in favor of pikeperch males.

Regarding the study of the sex ratio as a function of size, we find that males are dominant up to the size of 43cm, beyond this size, the proportions of females are more dominant, up to the maximum size. Similar results were obtained by [50, 16] and [51] in reservoirs in France, by [14] in Tunisia and by [17] in the Ghrib dam in Ain Defla.

TABLE 2	
---------	--

Parameters of Von Bertalanffy of S. lucioperca according to sexes (males, females and both)					
Sex	$L_{\infty}(cm)$	$W_{\infty}(g)$	K (yr-1)	t ₀ (yr)	Φ΄
Males	48.30	744.52	0.66	-0.21	3.18
Females	46.20	773.80	0.57	-0.25	3.08
Combined	48.30	816.11	0.63	-0.22	3.16

TABLE 3	5
---------	---

Von Bertalanffy equation of S	5. lucioperca according to sexes	(males, females and both)

Sex —	Von Bertalanffy Equation			
Sex -	Linear growth	Weight growth		
Males	$TL = 48.30 \left[1 - e^{-0.66 (t + 0.21)}\right]$	$TW = 744.52 \left[1 - e^{-0.66 (t+0.21)}\right]^{2.535}$		
Females	$TL = 46.20 \left[1 - e^{-0.57 (t + 0.25)}\right]$	$TW = 773.80 \left[1 - e^{-0.57 (t+0.25)} \right]^{3.083}$		
Combined	$TL = 48.30 \left[1 - e^{-0.63 (t + 0.22)}\right]$	$TW = 816.11 \left[1 - e^{-0.63 (t+0.22)}\right]^{2.750}$		


TABLE 4

	0					
Ν	а	b	r^2	tcal	Significance	Allometry
205	0.0120	2.852	0.759	16.33	+	Minorant
157	0.0078	2.978	0.615	15.66	+	Isometric
362	0.0146	2.805	0.711	29.76	+	Minorant
	157	157 0.0078	157 0.0078 2.978	N a b 1 205 0.0120 2.852 0.759 157 0.0078 2.978 0.615	N a b I tcal 205 0.0120 2.852 0.759 16.33 157 0.0078 2.978 0.615 15.66	205 0.0120 2.852 0.759 16.33 + 157 0.0078 2.978 0.615 15.66 +

length-eviscerated weight relationship parameters of S. luciperca from the Bouhamdane dam

N: number of sample; a: intercept; b: slope; r²: coefficient of determination; t_{cal}: t-test calculated; (+ ; -) significance at 95% confidence level of t-test.

T.	AF	BL	E	5
----	----	----	---	---

longth aviagonated waight valation	ahin of C Junionovan	fuom the Doubomdone dom
length- eviscerated weight relations	NITO OF S. INCIODERCA	пропотне вопнаннате на п

	$\mathbf{E}\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{a} \times \mathbf{T}\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{b}}$	$Log EW = Log a + b \times Log TL$
Males	$EW = 0.0120 \times TL^{2.852}$	$Log EW = -1.915 + 2.8529 \times Log TL$
Females	$EW = 0.0078 \times TL^{2.978}$	$Log EW = -2.104 + 2.9785 \times Log TL$
combined	$EW = 0.0146 \times TL^{2.805}$	$Log EW = -1.836 + 2.8051 \times Log TL$

Knowledge of the laying period and its duration is important for understanding population dynamics, particularly in the larval and juvenile stages. Authors have determined the maximum laying period of *S. lucioperca* [33] in European, Asian and North African reservoirs based on the abundance of eggs and larvae, the histology of the ovaries of the females of *S. lucioperca* or the analysis of the GSI (gonado-somatic index) [50, 10, 14, 52, 53, 11, 5, 54].

The ratio between gonad weight and body weight makes it possible to evaluate investment in reproduction [55, 56]. GSI is a true coefficient of maturation of the gonads. Its increase coincides with gametogenesis, while its decrease indicates active egg-laying [57].

During the sexual cycle, we have noticed that the weight changes of the ovaries and testicles are synchronous. The percentage of GSI of females is greater than that of males due to the large size of the ovaries. The gonado-somatic index of *S. lucioperca* gradually increases from December, marking the beginning of the maturation of the gonads. It reaches its peak in March, which indicates the final phase of vitelloggenesis (maturation and hydration of oocytes with spermiation) whose maximum value is detected in females (2.69 ± 2.82) and males (0.74 ± 0.76) in March.

Egg-laying and emissions begin resulting in a drop in GSI in April for both sexes. From this last month, the GSI remains low indicating the staggering of sexual rest until the following September for the resumption of another annual cycle. Monitoring the monthly variations of the GSI allowed us to know that the breeding period of the pikeperch of the Bouhamdane dam is seasonal and occurs in spring, ranging from March to April. This situation is common to all reservoirs in Europe [4, 50, 8, 9, 10, 11, 5, 12, 13] and in North African reservoirs [14, 53, 17].

The monthly mean values of the LSI show significant fluctuations related to the reproductive cycle of the species. The observation of the temporal evolution of the LSI of pikeperch shows phases of hepatic synthesis and phases of hepatic lipid consumption in the same way in both sexes. The maximum LSI value is recorded in March $(2.03\pm0.64$ for females and 1.38 ± 0.45 for males). This value gradually decreases to its minimum in June and extends until July in females, which synchronizes perfectly with the period of sexual rest in both sexes. From September, this ratio increases gradually and suggests a taking of the storage of liver reserves for a new sexual cycle.

The monthly variation curves of the liver somatic index and the gonado-somatic index show that the maximum of the GSI coincides with that of the LSI. Our results corroborate those of [17] in the Gherib dam. This is explained by the fact that *S. lucioperca* is a fatty fish. It stores energy reserves mainly in the muscles, in the perivisceral mesentera and under the skin [58]. These reserves then pass into the liver and gonads to ensure energy needs during the reproductive season, hence the decrease in the condition factor during the reproductive period. Indeed, ovarian development is accompanied by maximum energy expenditure [59].

The seasonal variations in the coefficient of condition K of male and female pikeperch show a seasonal cycle, where overweight records high values in autumn, spring and winter and minimal in summer. [60] suggest that gametes are produced during autumn, winter and spring. The increased condition factor in March and April (laying period) this could be due to the development of the gonads. A similar trend has been observed in other pikeperch species [16]. On the other hand, in the lake of the Ghrib dam in Ain Defla, the K weight index reaches its minimum in spring [17]. S. lucioperca is affected by sexual activity, presence, density, variety of prey (species, sizes, nutritional quality) and physicochemical conditions of the environment that would strongly influence the condition of fish and their ability to grow, reproduce and survive [17]. Some fish species may also be sensitive to changes in water temperature: a change in the surrounding temperature at critical periods of development can alter the proportion of males and females in a population [61]. The initiation of the reproductive cycle in pikeperch takes place under decreasing temperature [16]. Egglaying occurs when water temperatures reach 10-14°C in Finland [62] and 14-15°C in Tunisia [63], but can occur in a wider temperature range of 4.5 to 26°C [64]. Temperature is a major factor in triggering reproduction in Percidae [65] and promotes full gonadal maturation in both pikeperch sexes [66].

According to the work carried out on the reproductive aspect, the laying period is in March-April when the water reaches about 12°C which is within the values usually described for pikeperch, namely between March and May at temperatures between 8 and 15°C [4]. Meanwhile, [5], report that pikeperch generally breeds between April and June. In Algeria the breeding period of this species is between March and May [1]. While it takes place from late February to the first half of March in the Sidi Salem dam in Tunisia [15]. However, its thermal optimum of reproduction is 14-18°C [67]. At maturity (2-3 years for males and 3-4 years for females, which corresponds respectively to 33-37cm and 40-45cm; [16]. Males showed reduced mobility compared to females, or even completely stationary phases, mainly between March and April. This behaviour corresponds to the making and guarding of the nest by the male [68, 69, 5].

A pikeperch grows fast enough, a one-year-old pikeperch can measure up to 25cm if food is plentiful. At two years old it can reach 35 to 40cm and becomes able to reproduce but most of the time it is at three years. It then grows about 10cm per year but this is an average that varies according to biotopes and individuals. The average maximum height is just over 1m for 15 to 20kg [70].

The maximum age determined in the Bouhamdane dam (Geulma, Algeria) does not exceed 3 years in males than in females, because according to the DPRH in Guelma (comm per) this dam has undergone a seeding operation for three years. The number of specimens suitable for the determination of age classes was 362 (157 females and 205 males), with total sizes ranging from 25cm to 45.3cm, with a dominance of the 2-year-old group. On the other hand, our results show total lengths (TL at the age of 3 years) lower than those revealed in France, by [71]



in southern rivers (TL_{max}=51.5cm). In Algeria, similar results were obtained in the Ghrib dam by [72] (TL_{max}=44.5cm) in the same species.

[71], in rivers of southern France, reported that the age of S. lucioperca ranged from 1 to 5 years. In the Ghrib dam, [72] indicated that the lifespan in both sexes was 1 to 9 years, were recorded for sizes ranging from 21-88.2cm.

[16], in Fumemorte (France) reported that the maximum age was 7 years. These differences in age distribution may be due to fish activity, diet and ecological characteristics of lakes [73].

The asymptotic length of the total population $(L_{\infty}=48.30 \text{ cm})$ is greater than the maximum total length observed (TL=45.30 cm). It is the same for that of females $(L_{\infty}=46.20 \text{ cm})$ and males $(L_{\infty}=48.30 \text{ cm})$ which are greater than the maximum total length observed, respectively 44.50 cm and 45.30 cm. Comparisons between Von Bertalanffy growth parameters for a number of *S. lucioperca* are summarized in (Table 6). The estimation of growth parameters by the Von Bertalanffy model varies depending on the region and the method used.

In this study, L_{∞} values cannot be discussed from a 3 year-old population t_o 5 or 6 year-olds. Regarding the growth rate (K) in pikeperch, our data (K=0.63 years⁻¹) are close to those reported in Tunisia, by [14] (K=0.53 years⁻¹).

However, our results are higher than those recorded in Germany by [74] (K=0.20 years⁻¹), and in Algeria (Ghrib dam) by [73] (K=0.13 years⁻¹).

In addition, the growth performance index (\emptyset ') shows high values (3.16) for the population as a whole; 3.08 for females and 3.18 for males, it is close to that obtained in Germany by [74] (Φ '=3.09) and in Turkey by [77] (Φ '=3.04), but it is less lower than those obtained in Tunisia by [14] (Φ '=3.36) and in Algeria by [72] (Φ '=3.31).

According to [80], the results of the population study are reliable only if the values of the growth performance index are between 2.65 and 3.32. Thus, the phi-prime (Φ ') values calculated in this study are in the range of estimates since it is greater than 3.

TABLE 6							
Von Bertalanffy parameters (L $_\infty$, K, t $_0$ and Ø') of Sander lucioperca at different localities							
т 114	τ. () 17	4	<u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u>	A 41		

Locality	L _∞ (cm)	K	t ₀	Ø'	Author
Germany	86.00	0.2	-0.63	3.09	[74]
Tunisia	66.00	0.53	-0.24	3.36	[14]
German coastal waters, Baltic Sea	141.3	0.085	-1.354	2.88	[75]
Turkey (Lake Eğirdir)	95.4	-0.084	1.563	2.88	[76]
Turkey (Lake Eğirdir)	156.95	-0.045	2.622	3.04	[77]
Iranian Coastal Waters, Caspian Sea	55.05	0.15	-2.59	2.65	[78]
Southern Finland	69.56	0.10	-0.12	2.63	[79]
French Reservoir	96.8	0.03	-4.38	2.44	[51]
Algeria (Ghrib Dam)	125.72	0.13	-0.89	3.31	[72]
Algeria (Bouhamdane Dam)	48.30	0.63	-0.22	3.16	Present study

This heralds rapid growth of the local population and indicates good sampling and uniform selection of *S. lucioperca* specimens at the Bouhamdane dam. The differences between the values of the growth performance index estimated by the authors can be explained by: sampling data, sample sizes, at the sampling period (seasonal variation), hydroclimatic and environmental conditions dominant [81].

The difference in growth parameters across regions is likely explained by differences in environmental conditions, such as water, temperature, quantity and abundance of food [82]. According to [83], the growth rate is influenced by variations in salinity and water temperature, as well as fish feeding habits.

[84] was shown that a salinity of 2 to 5g.L⁻¹ significantly increased the growth of pikeperch. Water temperature has a direct impact on the physiology of fish fauna growth and reproduction [85] in [86].

The change in growth rate between males and females is influenced by sexual maturity. The reversal of the growth rate between males and females in our study (K = 0.66 and 0.57 respectively and Φ' =3.18 and 3.08) at the limit of sexual maturity can be explained by the difference in metabolism between the two sexes such as the difference in oxygen consumption [87] and/or the difference in the level of excess energy between reproduction and somatic growth [88].

The growth of pikeperch depends on the richness of the environment in food and abiotic factors, the optimum of its growth is located at a temperature ranging from 20 to 28°C. The growth of pikeperch is slowed around September because of the pre-maturation of the gonads [16]. According to a study done in Tunisia by [89], it has been shown that females show a higher growth in length than that of males. This importance is even higher with age. This difference in growth between the two sexes is that females feed more than males, because their needs are high in energy essential for the proper functioning of their metabolic and reproductive function.

The difference in growth between the two sexes allows females to reach larger sizes than males for the same ages [90]. Growth was faster in females [91, 92] or males [93]. However, there are cases where there is no significant difference in growth between the two sexes [94].

Fitting the growth parameters to the growth model of Von Bertalanffy [49] shows that the values of asymptotic weights for females ($P_{\infty}=773.80g$) are higher than those for males ($P_{\infty}=744.52g$). According to some authors, females grow faster than males [85, 86].

Our results indicate that pikeperch exhibits rapid growth of young individuals. According to Von [49], the growth of animals is very rapid in the young, it becomes slower and slower with age. These results are consistent with several authors for various populations of both marine and freshwater fish [95, 96, 97, 81].

Regarding the relative growth or lenght/total weight relationship in *Sander lucioperca* in the Bouhamdane dam is of the minor allometry type in the total population with b=2.75, in males b=2.53, indicating an increase in the size of individuals faster than that of weight; However, this same relationship shows isometry in females with b=3.08.

Values of b equal to 3 indicate that the fish is developing isometrically, which means that the lenght and weight increase proportionally. The comparison of b values with those obtained by other authors is summarized in (Table 7); we note differences from one region to another.

Both parameters of the lenght/weight relationship are very sensitive to size composition, sampling period, sex and maturity [98, 99].

TABLE 7 Parameters for length-weight relationship of Sander lucioperca at different localities (a: intercept: b: allometric coefficient)

Author	location	a	b	Allometry
[101]	Finland (Lake Vanajanselkä)	0.0076	3.04	Isometric
[100]	Romania (Lake Razim)	0.0058	3.14	Majorant
[102]	France (Castillon reservoir)	4.9×10 ⁻⁶	3.07	Isometric
[103]	France (Treignac reservoir)	4.87×10 ⁻⁶	3.05	Isometric
[107]	Turkey (Hirfanli Dam Lake)	10×10 ⁻⁶	3.07	Majorant
[76]	Turkey (Lake Eğirdir)	0.006	3.148	Majorant
[77]	Turkey (Lake Eğirdir)	0.022	2.742	Minorant
[78]	Iranian Coastal Waters, Caspian Sea	-0.0206	2.85	Minorant
[79]	Southern Finland	0.00217	3.371	Majorant
[63]	Tunisian reservoirs	5×10 ⁻⁶	3.06	Majorant
[51]	French Reservoir	1.91×10-9	3.25	Majorant
[102]	Turkey (Lake Marmara)	0.0091	2.996	Isometric
[72]	Algeria (ghrib dam)	0.0033	3.237	Majorant
Present study	Algeria (Bouhamdane Dam)	0.0188	2.7504	Minorant

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



Sander lucioperca in the Bouhamdane dam shows a minor allometry, on the other hand, In Romania (Lake Razim), [100] (b=3.14), and in Algerians (Ghrib dam), [72] (b=3.23) considered respectively, that the relative growth is higher in the total population. In Finland (Lake Vanajanselkä) [101], in France (Castillon reservoir) [102] and (Treignac reservoir) [103], in Turkey (Lake Marmara) [104]) reported that weight increases at the same rate as sander size.

These variations in the type of allometry from one region to another could be attributed to differences in age, maturity, sex, environmental conditions [40] and parasitic pathologies are all factors that can affect the value of b [42, 105, 40, 106].

The study of the length-weight relationship generally meets two objectives in fisheries: the determination of the weight of individuals whose size we know or vice versa and the description of shapes, overweight and its variations during growth.

These parameters are of practical interest in the problems of rational exploitation of animal populations where it is important, to obtain maximum yield, to know how to translate lenght into weight or weight into size and to have an easily calculable parameter that characterizes the overweight of specimens and its evolution during the year or their life [81].

CONCLUSION

In light of the results obtained from the study of reproductive biology and population growth of *Sander lucioperca* populating the Bouhamdane dam (wilaya of Guelma) during a sampling year (from November 2019 to October 2020) it can be concluded that:

• The Sander lucioperca is an annual groupsynchronous layer.

• The exploitable stock of *Sander lucioperca* contains more males than females.

• Analysis of the gonado-somatic index made it possible to determine the reproductive period. According to our results, the peak of the GSI is recorded in March.

• The analysis of the monthly evolution of LSI in both sexes shows that it evolves in parallel with GSI, this allows us to inspire that *Sander lucioperca* is a fatty fish and that it can have the necessary reserves for its sexual maturation from the muscles. The liver intervenes only in the transformation of these reserves towards the gonads during the breeding period.

• The condition factor is used to quantify the overweight of the fish; thus, a high K means a better condition of the fish. In our study, condition factor K means that both sexes have a similar development of overweight throughout the year. • In this study, the value of the allometric coefficient of the length-weight relationship indicates a decrease in allometry for males and both sexes combined (b=2.535 and b=2.7504 respectively). Whereas, females have isometric allometry (b=3.083). In this case, the linear growth of *S. lucoperca* in the Bouhamdane Dam is faster than the weight growth in males and at the same rate in females.

REFERENCES

- Meddour, A., Rouabah, A., Meddour-Bouderda, K., Loucif, N., Remili, A., Khatal, Y. (2005) Experiments on the artificial reproduction of *Sander lucioperca*, Hypophthalmichthys molitrix and Aristschthys nobilis in Algeria. Revue Sciences & Technologie C. 23, 63-71.
- [2] Minister of Fisheries and Halieutic Resources. (2008) Report on the Master Plan for the Development of Fishing and Aquaculture Activities. 2025 horizon. buv.isfad-gn.org/universitaire/6_MPOVPA/04_Médecine vétérinaire et production animale/002_aquaculture/schema_directeur_peche_FR.pdf
- [3] Kara, M.H. (2012) Freshwater fish diversity in Algeria with emphasis on alien species. European Journal of Wild 1 e Research. 58(1), 243-253.
- [4] Deelder, C., Willemsen, J. (1964) Synopsis of biological data of pike-perch *Lucioperca lucioperca* (Linnaeus 1758), Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- [5] Lappalainen, J., Dörner, H., Wysujack, K. (2003) Reproduction biology of pickperch (*Sander lucioperca* L.) – a review. Ecology of Freshwater Fish. 12(2), 95-106.
- [6] Winemiller, K.O., Rose, K.A. (1992) Patterns of life-history diversification in North-American fishes - Implications for population regulation. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 49, 2196-2218.
- [7] Goubier, J. (1977) Sexual maturity of the pikeperch (*Lucioperca lucioperca* L.). Bulletin Français de Pisciculture. 264, 113-120.
- [8] Zivkov, M., Petrova, G. (1993) On the pattern of correlation between the fecundity, length, weight and age of pikeperch *Stizostedion lucioperca*. Journal of Fish Biology. 43, 173–182.
- [9] Lehtonen, H., Hansson, S., Winkler, H. (1996) Biology and exploitation of pikeperch, *Stizostedion lucioperca* (L.), in the Baltic Sea area. Annal. Zoologt. Fennici. 33, 525-535.
- [10] Raikova-Petrova, G., Zivkov, M. (1998) Maturity, spawning and sex ratio of pike perch, *Stizostedion lucioperca* (L.), in two Bulgarian reservoirs as compared to other European habitats. Journal of Applied Ichthyology. 14(1-2), 31-35.

- [11]Copp, G.H., Wesley, K.J., Kovac, V., Ives, M.J., Carter, M.G. (2003) Introduction and establishment of the pikeperch *Stizostedion lucioperca* (L.) in Stanborough Lake (Hertfordshire) and its dispersal in the Thames catchment. The London Naturalist. 82, 139-153.
- [12] Saulamo, K., Lappalainen, J., Lehtonen, H. (2005) Biological characteristics of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca*, during spawning migration in a Baltic Bay. Fisheries Management and Ecology. 12, 131-136.
- [13] Heikinheimo, O., Pekcan-Hekim, Z., Raitaniemi, J. (2014) Spawning stock- recruitment relationship in pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca*, in the Baltic Sea, with temperature as environmental effect. Fisheries Research. 155, 1-9.
- [14] Toujani, R. (1998) Pike-perch (*Stizostedion lucioperca* L.) in the Sidi-Salem reservoir (Tunisia): Biology and population dynamics. Doctoral dissertation, University of Claude Bernard. Lyon I. Pp190.
- [15] Toujani, R., Missaoui, H., Romdhane, M.H. (2000) Sexual cycle of female pike-perch *Stizostedion lucioperca* (L., 1758 Pisces, Percidae) in the Sidi Salem dam. Bulletin de l'INSTM N° 27. Sous presse.
- [16] Poulet, N. (2004) The pike-perch Sander lucioperca (L.): Biology, behaviour and population dynamics in the Camargue (Bouches du Rhône, France). Doctoral dissertation, University of Toulouse III, France. Pp 301.
- [17] Bouamra, A. (2017) Dynamics of the population of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (Linnæus, 1758), in an Algerian lake system (Doctoral dissertation, Faculty of Biological Sciences). University of Science and Technology Houari Boumedianne. Algeria. Pp 153.
- [18] Lowerre-Barbieri, S.K., Brown-Peterson, N.J., Murua, H., Tomkiewicz, J., Wyanski, D.M., Saborido-Rey, F. (2011) Emerging issues and methodological advances in fisheries reproductive biology. Marine and Coastal Fisheries Dynamics, Management, and Ecosystem Science. 3, 32–51.
- [19] West, G. (1990) Methods of assessing ovarian development in fishes. Review of Marine and Freshwater Research. 41, 199–222.
- [20] Gunderson, D.R. (1997) Trade-off between reproductive effort and adult survival in oviparous and viviparous fishes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 54, 990–998.
- [21] Cubillos, L.A., Claramunt, G. (2009) Lengthstructured analysis of the reproductive season of anchovy and common sardine off central southern Chile. Marine Biology. 156, 1673–1680.
- [22] Vicentini, R.N., Araujo, F.G. (2003) Sex ratio and size structure of Micropogonias furneiri (Desmaarest, 1823) Perciformes, Sciaenidae) in Sepetiba bay, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Biology. 3, 559-566.

- [23] Fechhelm, R.G., Griffiths, W.B., Wilson, W.J., Gallaway, B.J., Bryan, J.D. (1995) Intra- and interseasonal changes in the relative condition and proximate body composition of broad whitefish from the Prudhoe Bay Region of Alaska. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 124, 508-519.
- [24] Laurec, A., Le Guen, J.C. (1981) Dynamic of marine populations exploited. Tome I, concepts and models. National Centre for Ocean Exploitation. Scientific and Technical Reports. 45, Pp 118.
- [25] Meunier, F.J. (1988) Determination of individual age in Osteichthyans using skeletochronology History and methodology. Acta Oecologica. 9(3), 299-329.
- [26] Phillipart, J.C. (1971) Age and growth of the dace *Leuciscus leuciscus* (L) in the the Ourthe river and Berwinne stream. Annales de la Société royale zoologique et malacologique de Belgique. 1-2.
- [27] Phillipart, J.C. (1977) Contribution to the hydrobiology of the Ourthe. Population dynamics and production of four Cyprinidae fish species: *Barbus barbus* (L.), *Chondrostoma nasus* (L.), *Leusiscus cephalus* (L.) and *Leusiscus leusiscus* (L). Doctoral dissertation in Zoological Science, University of Liège. Pp.225.
- [28] Panfili, J., Ximenes, M.C. (1994) Assessment of age and growth of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in continental environments: methodologies, validation, application in the Mediterranean and comparisons in Europe. Bulletin français de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture. 335, 43-66.
- [29] Lalèyè, P. (1995) Comparative ecology of two species of Chrysichthys, siluriform fishes (Claroteidae) of the lac Nokoué-lagune lagoon complex of Porto-Novo in Benin. Doctoral dissertation, University of Liège (Belgium). Pp.152.
- [30] Panfili, J., De Pontual, H., Troadec, H., Wright, P. (2002) Manual of fish sclerochronology. Ifremer-ird co-edition. Pp.464.
- [31] Santana, R.C., Do, P.T., Santikunaporn, M., Alvarez, W.E., Taylor, J.D., Sughrue, E.L., Resasco, D.E. (2006) Evaluation of different reaction strategies for the improvement of certain number in diesel fuels. Fuel. 85, 643–656.
- [32] Chen, Y., Hunter, M., Vadas, R., Beal, B. (2003) Developing a growth- transition matrix for the stock assessment of the green sea urchin (Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis) off Maine. Fishery Bulletin. 101, 737-744.
- [33] Linnaeus, C. (1758) Systems of Nature, Ed. X. (The systems of nature go through three realms of nature, according to classes, orders, genera, and species, with characters, differences, synonyms, and locations. Volume I. The tenth edition, reformed.) Holmiae. 1(i-ii), 1-824.

- [34] National Agency for Integrated Water Resources Management Constantinois-Seybousse-Mellegue River Basin Agency (2016). Report on the analysis of the hydrological year (2015-2016) of the Hammam Debagh dam. Pp 13.
- [35]Kartas, F., Quignard, J.P. (1984) The fecundity of teleost fish. Marine Environment Biology Collection.5th Ed, Masson. Pp.121.
- [36] Roche, H., Buet, A., Ramede, F. (2003) Ecophysiological characteristic of a Eels population of Camargue exposed to illegal population with persistent organic pollutants. Review of Ecology (Terre Vie). 58, 103-126. In French.
- [37] Nunez, R.J. (1985) Contribution to the study of biology of the sole *Solea vulgaris* Quensel. Ultrastructural and physiological approach. Thesis 3rd cycle. Bordeaux University. I,3. In French.
- [38] Bougis, P. (1952) Hepatosomatic report and gonadosomatic report in *Mullus barbatus* L. Bulletin of the Zoological Society of France 74(6): 326-330.
- [39] Gomiero, L.M., Braga, F.M. (2005) The condition factor of fishes from two river basins in Sao Paulo state, Southeast of Brazil. Acta Scientiarum. 27, 73-78.
- [40] Bagenal, T.B., Tesch, F.W. (1978) Age and growth. In: Methods for assessment of fish production in fresh waters. 3rd edition. Bagenal T. (ed), Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK. 101-136.
- [41] Gayanilo, Jr. F.C., Sparre, P., Pauly, D. (2005) FAO-ICLARM Stock Assessment Tools II (FISAT II). Revised version. User's Guide. FAO Computerized, Information Series Fisheries, Rome, Italy. Pp 168.
- [42] Le Cren, E.D. (1951) The length-weight relationship and seasonal cycle in gonad weight and condition in the perch (*Perca fluviatilis*). Journal of Animal Ecology. 20(2), 201-219.
- [43] Ricker, W.E. (1975) Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 191, 1-382.
- [44] Froese, R. (2006) Cube law, condition factor and weight–length relationships: history, metaanalysis and recommendations. Journal of Applied Ichthyology. 25, 241–253.
- [45] Pauly, D. (1979) Theory and management of tropical multispecies stocks: a review with emphasis on the Southeast Asian demersal fisheries. ICLARM Studies and Reviews. 1, 1-35.
- [46] Munro, J.L., Pauly, D. (1984) Once more on growth comparison in fish and invertebrates. Fishbyte. 2(1), 1-21.
- [47] Schwartz, D. (1992) Statistical methods for physicians and biologists. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Fisheries Oceanography. In French. 51, 51-54.

- [48] Ecoutin, J.M., Albaret, J.J., Trape, S. (2005) Length-weight relationships for fish populations of a relatively undistributed tropical estuary: the Gambia. Fisheries Research. 72, 347-351.
- [49] Von Bertalanffy, L. (1938) Aquantitative theory of organic growth (inquiries on growth laws II). Human Biology. 10(2): 181-213.
- [50] Goubier, J. (1975) Biogeography, Biometry and Biology of the pike-perch Lucioperca lucioperca (L.), Osteichthyenn Percidae. Doctoral dissertation, Claude Bernard University, Lyon. Pp.259.
- [51] Argillier, C., Barral, M., Irz, P. (2012) Growth and diet of the pikeperch Sander lucioperca (L.) in two french reservoirs. Archives of Polish Fisheries. 20, 191-200.
- [52] Balik, İ., Çubuk, H. (2001) The some reproduction characteristics of pikeperch (*Stizostedion lucioperca* L., 1758) and carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L., 1758) populations in Karacaören I dam lake. S.D.Ü. Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi, 5(2), 15-24.
- [53] M'hetli, M. (2001) The pike-perch Stizostedion lucioperca (Linnaeus, 1758) teleost Percidae. Allochthonous fish: biological study and attempt to optimise rearing criteria. Doctoral dissertation, in biological sciences, University of Tunis II, tunisie. Pp.173.
- [54] Özyurt, C.E., Kiyaga, V.B., Mavruj, S., Akamca, E. (2011) Spawning, Maturity Lengt and Size Selectivity for Pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) in Seyhan Dam Lake. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances. 10, 545-551.
- [55] Durif, C., Elie, P., Dufour, S., Marchelidon, J., Vidal, B. (2000) Analysis of morphological and physiological parameters during preparation for downstream migration in European eels (*An-guilla anguilla*) from Grand-Lieu lake (Loire Atlantique). Cybium. 24, 63-74.
- [56] Lamková, K., Šimková, A., Palíková, M., Jurajda, P. and Lojek, A. (2007) Seasonal changes of immune competence and parasitism in chub (Leuciscus cephalus), a fresh water cyprinid fish. Parasitology Research. 101(3), 775-789.
- [57] Lahaye, J. (1972) Sexual cycles of some flatfish from the Brittany coast. Review of the work of the Institute of Maritime Fisheries. 36(2), 191-207.
- [58] Kone, T. (2000) Diet and reproduction of a lagoon tilapia (Sarotherodon melanotheron Rüppell, 1852) in the Bia river and the Ayamé dam lake (Ivory Coast). Doctoral dissertation. Katholieke Universiteit Leuven (Belgium).. Pp 253.
- [59] Encina, L., Granado-Lorencio, C. (1997) Seasonal changes in condition, nutrition, gonad maturation and energy content in barbel, Barbus sclateri, inhabiting a fluctuating river. Environmental Biology of Fish. 50(1), 75-84.



- [60] Wang, N., Mandiki, S.N.M., Henrotte, E., Bouyahia, A., Mairesse, G., Rougeot, C., Melard, C., Kestemont, P. (2009) Effect of partial or total replacement of forage fish by a dry diet on the quality of reproduction in pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca*. Aquaculture Research. 40, 376-383.
- [61]Baroiller, J.F. (1998) The environmental determinism of sex in gonochoric fish. Bulletin Francais de la Peche et de la Pisciculture 133, 51-59.
- [62] Élie, P., Schlumberger, O. (2008) Fish in natural French lakes; Ecology of species and evolution of populations. Quae edition. Pp. 224.
- [63] M'Hetli, M., Ben Khemis, I., Hamza, N., Turki, B., Turki, O. (2011) Allometric growth and reproductive biology traits of pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* at the southern edge of its range. Journal of Fish Biology. 78(2), 567-579.
- [64] Ben Ammar, I. (2014) Comparative approach of environmental determinism of the onset of the reproductive cycle of five temperate freshwater fish. Animal biology. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Lorraine) Pp 144.
- [65] Boutitie, F. (1984) The apron Zingel asper L. (Percidae), a rare fish threatened with extinction (Biology, Distribution, Habitat). DEA Lyon. Claude Bernard University Lyon1 Pp 27.
- [66] Hermelink, B., Wuertz, S., Rennert, B., Kloas, W., Schulz, C. (2013) Temperature control of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) maturation in recirculating aquaculture systems – induction of puberty and course of gametogenesis. Aquaculture. 400-401, 36-45.
- [67] Kucharczyk, D., Kestemont, P., Mamcarz, A. (2007) Artificial Reproduction of Pikeperch. Polish Ministry of Science, Olsztyn, Poland. Pp 80.
- [68] Jepsen, N., Koed, A., Okland, F. (1999) The movements of pikeperch in a shallow reservoir. Journal of Fish Biology. 54, 1083-1093.
- [69] Koed, A., Mejlhede, P., Balleby, K., Aarestrup, K. (2000) Annual movement and migration of adult pikeperch in a lowland river. Journal of Fish Biology. 57, 1266-1279.
- [70] Keith, P., Allardi, J. (2001) Atlas of the freshwater poisons of France. National Museum of Natural History, Paris. Natural Heritage 47, 1-387.
- [71]Goubier, J. (1969) Acclimatisation of the pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* L.) in French waters. Verh. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. 18, 1147–54.
- [72] Bouamra, A., Belaifa, B., Chaoui, L., Kara, M.H., Arab, A. (2017) Age and growth of Pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* (Percidae) in the Ghrib reservoir(North west Algeria). Revue d'Écologie. 72(1), 83-93. hal-03532797.

- [73] Alp, A., Balik, S. (2000) Growth conditions and stock analysis of the carp (*Cyprinus carpio*, Linnaeus 1758) population in Gölhisar Lake.Turkish Journal of Zoology: Vol. 24: No. 3, Article
 9. Available at: https://journals. tubitak.gov.tr/zoology/vol24/iss3/9
- [74] Pauly, D. (1978) A preliminary compilation of fish length growth parameters. Ber. Inst. Meereskd. Christian-Albrechts-Univ. Kiel. (55), 1-200.
- [75] Hahlbeck, E., Müller, H. (2003) Results of the investigations of pike-perch carried out in the German coastal waters of the Baltic Sea from 1992 to 2002. Informationen Fischwirtsch Fischereiforsch. 50(2).
- [76] Balik, I., Çubuk, H.,Özkök, R., Uysal, R. (2004) Size Composition, Growth Characteristics and Stock Analysis of the Pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (L. 1758), Population in Lake Iğirdir. Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences. 28(4), 715-722.
- [77] Izci, L., Kuşat, M. (2006) Some Popilation Parameters of Pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* (L., 1758)) In Lake Eğirdir. Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi. 10(2), 167-172.
- [78] Abdolmalaki, S., Iwona Psuty, I. (2007) The effects of stock enhancement of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) in Iranian coastal waters of the Caspian Sea. ICES Journal of Marine Science. 64, 973-980.
- [79] Milardi, M., Lappalainen, J., Malinen, T., Vinni, M., Ruuhijärvi, J. (2011) Problems in managing a slow-growing pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* (L.) population in Southern Finland. Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems. (400), 12.
- [80] Baijot, E., Moreau, J., Bouda, S. (1994) Hydrobiological and fisheries aspects of reservoirs in the Sudano-Sahelian zone. The case of Bukina Faso). Wageningen, Holand: CTA and European Commission, Pp 250.
- [81] Belhoucine, F. (2012) Study of the growth and reproduction biology of a teleost fish, the hake (*Merluccius merluccius* L., 1758), and its use as a biological indicator of heavy metal pollution (Inc, Lead and Cadmium) in Oran Bay (Algeria). Doctoral dissertation in Environ-mental Sciences, University of Oran Ahmed Ben Bella Pp. 275.
- [82] Mert, R., Bulut, S. (2014) Some biological properties of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L., 1758) introduced into Damsa Dam Lake, Cappadocia Region, Turkey. Pakistan Journal of Zoology. 46(2), 337-346.
- [83] Deniz, I. (2012) Age and growth properties of *Carassius gibelio* (Cyprinidae) living in Aksu River Estuary (Antalya-Turkey). Rev. Hydrobiol. 5(2), 97-109.

LEB

- [84] Ložys L., Arbačiauskas K., Repečka R. (2003) Seasonal migrations of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) from fresh to brackish waters. In vitro studies of salinity effect on pikeperch YOY. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea CM 2003/R: 06. Environmental Science, Biology.
- [85] Gerdeaux, D. (1985) Statistics on exceptional whitefish fishing in the French waters of Lake Geneva in 1984. Note on whitefish growth. Report Institut de Limnologie, I.L.20/85, 10p.
- [86] Pourriot, R., Meybeck, M. (1995) General limnology. Ecology collection, Paris. 25, 389-402.
- [87] Pauly, D. (1994) On the sex of fish and the gender of scientists: essays in fisheries science. Chapman & Hall, London. Pp.250.
- [88] Rijnsdorp, A.D., Ibelings, B. (1989) Sexual dimorphism in the energetics of reproduction and growth in North Seaplaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*, L). Journal of Fish Biology. 35, 401-415.
- [89] Turki, O, M'hetli, M., Cheriki, A ,Kraïem, M.M. (2009) Characterization and phenotypic and biological variation in the two sexes of pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* (L., 1758) (Teleostei, Percidae) in the Nebhana reservoir (Central Tunisia). INSTM Bulletin: Marine and Freshwater Sciences, Tunis, 36, 75-85.
- [90] Godinho, M.L., Afonso, M.H., Morgado, C. (2001) Age and growth of hake *Merluccius merluccius* Linnaeus, 1758 from the Northest Atlantic (ICES Division IXa). Boletin Instituto Español de Oceanografia. 17, 255-262.
- [91] Gerdeaux, D. (1986) Ecology of roach (Rutilus rutilus L.) and pike-perch (Lucioperca lucioperca L.) in Lake Créteil from 1977 to 1982. Study of roach ligulose. Pièrre and Marie Curie University, Paris VI. Pp.161.
- [92] Willemsen, J. (1977) Population dynamics of percids in lake Ijssel and some smaller lakes in the Netherlands. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 34(10), 1710-1719.
- [93]Giovinazzo, G., Carosi, A., Dörr, A.J.M., Lorenzoni, M., Petesse, M.L., Mearelli, M. (1999) Growth of *Stizostedion lucioperca* (Linnaeus, 1758) in the middle reaches of the River Tiber. ETP Quaderni. 28, 169-173.
- [94] Lehtonen, H. (1983) Stocks of pike-perch (*Sti-zostedion lucioperca* L.) and their management in the Archipelago Sea and the Gulf of Finland. Finnish Fisheries Research. 5, 1-16.
- [95] Recassens, L., Lombarte, A., Morales, N.B., Torres, G.J. (1998) Spatiotemporal variation in the population structure of the European hake in the new Mediterranean. J. Fish. Biol. Edition 53, 387-401.

- [96] Piňeiro, C., Sainza, M. (2003) Age estimation, growth and maturity of the European hake (*Mer-luccius merluccius* Linnaeus, 1758) from Iberian Atlantic waters. ICES Journal of Marine Science. 60, 1086-1102.
- [97] M'hadhbi, L., Boumaiza, M. (2008) Study of the relative growth of the barbel: *Barbus callensis* (Cyprinidae) in the Joumine dam reservoir (North Tunisia) Analele Științifice ale Universității "Al. I. Cuza" Iași, s. Biologie animală, Tom LIV. 245–258.
- [98] Freon, P. (1988) Responses and adaptation of West African Clupeidae stocks to environmental and farm variability: Analysis and reflection based on the example of Senegal. Doctoral dissertation in Science, University of Aix Marseille II. Pp.287.
- [99] Sinovcic, G. (2003) The length-weight relationship of anchovy, *Engraulis encrasicolus* (L.) in the eastern Adriatic Sea. Acta. Adriat. 44, 183-191.
- [100] Staras, M., Cernisencu Navodaru, I.I. (1993) Contributions to the state of knowledge and exploitation of walleye (*Stizostedion lucioperca*) in Lake Razim. Danube. Analele Stiintifice ale Institutului-Delta Dunarii. 255-258.
- [101] Salo, H. (1988) Zander fishing and catching in the Vanajanselkä in 1985. (Pike-pearch fishery and the potential catch in the Lake Vanajanselkä. Hämeen kalastuspiirin kalastustoimisto. Tiedotus no 4:1-55. Finland. (Publication of the Häme Fisheries District).
- [102] Argillier, C., Cadic, N., Schlumberger, O., Barral, M. (2000) Retenue de Castillon - Etude ichtyologique et diagnose rapide - Cemagref -Unité Ressources Ichtyologiques en Plans d'Eau, Montpellier, France. Pp. 65.
- [103] Argillier, C., Barral, M., Irz, P. (2003) Croissance et alimentation du sandre Sander lucioperca (L.) dans deux réservoirs français. Cemagref – Unité. Ressources Ichtyologiques en Plans d'Eau, Montpellier, France. 11, 99-114.
- [104] Ilhan, A., Sarı, H.M. (2015) Length-weight relationships of fish species in Marmara Lake, West Anatolia, Turkey. Croatian Journal of Fisheries. 73(73), 30-32.
- [105] Tesch, W. (1971) Age and growth. In: Fish Production in Fresh Waters.Blackwell Scient. Pub., Oxford, 2ème Edition. 98-130.
- [106] Wootton, R.J. (1998) Ecology of Teleost Fishes. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Fish and Fisheries Series, no. 24, Dordrecht, The Netherlands. Pp 386.
- [107] Ablak, Ö., Yilmaz, M. (2004) Growth Properties of Pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* L., 1758) living in HirfanlÝ Dam Lake. Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences. 28, 455-463.

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



Received:08.10.2023Accepted:28.10.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Rezaiguia Wafa

Laboratory of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems Mohamed Cherif Messaadia University Souk-Ahras 41000 – Algeria

e-mail: wafa.rezaiguia@univ-annaba.dz



PHYSICOCHEMICAL, BIOCHEMICAL AND MICROBIOLOGICAL QUALITY OF DRIED AND SALTED CAMEL MEAT (KADID) FROM THE SOUTHWESTERN REGIONS OF ALGERIA

Elhassan Benyagoub^{1,2,*}, Abdelouahab Mammeri³

¹Architecture and Environmental Heritage Laboratory (Archipel), Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar, 08000, Bechar, Algeria
 ²Faculty of Natural and Life Sciences, Department of Biology, Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar, 08000, Bechar, Algeria
 ³Laboratory of Economic Studies and Local Development in the South-West (L.E.S-LO.D), Faculty of Economic and Commercial Sciences and Management Sciences, Department of Economy, Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar, 08000, Bechar, Algeria

ABSTRACT

This study aims to assess the physicochemical, biochemical, and microbiological quality of dried and salted camel meat, a traditional product of the inhabitants of southern Algeria.

A total of 8 test samples of dried and salted camel meat from three regions in southwestern Algeria, against two other control samples (i.e 10 samples in total), were subjected to a series of analyses for some physicochemical and biochemical parameters (pH, sodium chloride content, total solid content, moisture content, ash content, waterholding capacity, protein content, fat content, total sugar content, and detection of antibiotic residues), and microbiological parameters (TAMF, fungal flora, total and fecal coliforms, fungal flora, SRC, Bacillus spp, and pathogenic bacteria such as coagulase-positive staphylococci, Listeria monocytogenes, Pseudomonas spp, and Salmonella spp), following official and reference methods.

The physicochemical results showed that the pH and titratable acidity of the dried and salted camel meat samples were acidic with values ranging from 5,14 to 5,72; and 3g/L to 3,63g/L, respectively. The analyzed samples had sodium chloride content ranging from 0,09g/L to 3,31g/L, (6,46% to 25,34%) moisture content, (3,86% to 38,58%) ash content, (162,5% to 267,7%) water-holding capacity, against (0,15g/L; 0,12g/L); (25,34%; 76,75%); (5,78%; 4,73%); (162,52%; 99,33%) for the control samples, which are laboratory-prepared dried camel meat, and fresh camel meat sold in Bechar city, respectively. However, biochemical parameters showed a protein content ranging from 21,7% to 36%, (4,9% to 23,3%) fat content, and (20mg/L to 76,51mg/L) total sugar content, with no antibiotic residues.

The microbiological results showed a TAMF load ranging from 4,02 to 6,46 Log_{10} CFU/g, and 2,48 to 5,21 Log_{10} CFU/g for total coliforms, where 33% of the samples were contaminated with fecal coliforms. All samples analyzed were free of pathogenic bacteria, namely coagulase-positive

staphylococci, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Pseudomonas* spp, and *Salmonella* spp. *Bacillus cereus* was detected in one sample (C), while the isolated CoNS species were identified as follows : *S. saprophyticus*, and *S. epidermidis*.

From previous studies revealing various recipes for preparing dried and salted meat in the southwestern regions studied, this meat by-product presents very interesting physicochemical, biochemical, and hygienic characteristics at the nutritional level compared to fresh meat, which not only contributes to its preservation but also improves its sensory quality.

KEYWORDS:

Camelus dromedarius, Dried and salted camel meat (Kadid), microbiological quality, physicochemical and biochemical parameters, Southwestern Algeria

INTRODUCTION

Camels (Camelus dromedarius) are one of the most important sources of meat in the desert since they can withstand extreme temperatures and food scarcity conditions, they are also, a means of transportation and have been used as medicines for diverse ailments since ancient times [1-3]. To this day, meat has remained an important source of nutrients in Algeria. It is an excellent food whose consumption is only hindered by its high cost (beef and lamb meat), unlike camel meat which is less expensive compared to other red meats, allowing low-income families to have access to red meat at a lower price [4]. In arid and semi-arid regions of the world, camel meat is a very important food source for Sudan, Somalia, and Mauritania [5]. In the southern regions of Algeria, camel meat is considered the most consumed compared to other types such as beef and lamb [6-8].

Due to its moisture content and proteins of high biological value [9], camel meat is an essential food for a balanced food ration for the population of

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin

FEB

southern Algeria [10]. Camel meat is healthy and nutritious as it contains low fat and cholesterol contents (especially young camels) as well as being a good source of minerals and is used to remedy various diseases [2, 3, 10-12]. For this, camel meat has become a popular alternative to other red meats [2]. However, the nutritional quality of meat constitutes a favorable environment for microbial development [13], as the hygienic quality of meat depends, on the one hand, on contamination through operators' hands, tools, and work plans during slaughtering and cutting operations, and on the other hand, the development and growth of microbial contaminants during conservation, storage, and distribution [14, 15]. To remedy this constraint, several generation-to-generation preservation methods have been developed [16].

The use of traditional methods of preserving meat dates back to prehistoric times, where salting, drying, etc., were done to preserve its microbiological quality by slowing down the proliferation speed of microbial contaminants and improving the sensory and nutritional qualities of meat by excluding intrinsic and extrinsic alteration mechanisms [17]. Traditional meat products are highly sensory quality foods, usually with high nutritional value, produced on a small scale, using ingredients and procedures from ancient times [18, 19].

Several research studies have been conducted on the quality of camel meat at the national and international levels. However, dried and salted camel meat (kadid, also known as El Guedid) as a byproduct has not been broadly reviewed to date. The study aims to evaluate the physicochemical, biochemical, and microbiological characteristics of dried and salted camel meat samples from three different regions in southwestern Algeria (Bechar, Beni Abbes, and Tindouf).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study aims to evaluate the physicochemical, biochemical, and microbiological characteristics of some samples of dried and salted camel meat (Kadid) from the Sahraoui camel breed, prepared using traditional methods in the southwestern regions of Algeria, as described by Benyagoub and Bessadet [19], against two control samples. The different parameters analyzed were performed at Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar (Algeria).

Sampling. A total of ten (10) samples were analyzed (Table 1, Figure 1), of which eight (8) samples were dried and salted camel meat against two control samples (fresh camel meat 'TF' as unprocessed meat, and dried camel meat 'TS' prepared in the laboratory).

Sample preparation for physicochemical and microbiological analyses. Before performing the various analyses, the samples were ground using an electric shopper, and then the ground sample of dried and salted camel meat obtained was placed in a sterile stomacher bag (Figure 2). According to national regulations [20, 21], 0,1% peptone-salt solution was used as a diluent in the preparation of the stock suspension and decimal dilutions of the samples.

Physicochemical analysis. The physicochemical parameters analyzed are given in Table 2.



(b): Control sample of dried camel meat prepared in the laboratory (TS).





FIGURE 2 Ground sample of dried and salted camel meat (Original, 2023).

Bacteriological analysis. The bacteriological parameters analyzed are given in Table 3.

Bacterial identification. The isolated bacteria from selective media were subjected to several tests for identification according to standard microbiological methods as described by Benyagoub et al. [10]; Tille [41]; and Benyagoub et al. [42].

Interpretation of physicochemical and bacteriological analysis results. Since there are no thresholds related to physicochemical parameters in national regulations, we compared the results obtained with those reported by other scientific studies. Dried and salted camel meat and fresh meat samples were assessed based on the maximum limits for 'mechanically separated meat' and 'meat preparation' products given by the national regulation [43].

Detection of antibiotic residues. The agarwell diffusion method was used for the detection of antibiotic residues. Escherichia coli ATCC 25922 and Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 25923 were used as reference bacterial strains on Mueller Hinton agar medium (MHA), where three techniques were used, first, the wells made on MHA were filled with 50µL of stock solution of dried camel meat, while the second was done by placing a piece of dried meat on MH agar incubated with the reference strains cited above [44, 45], and third, antibiotic test kit based on colloidal gold immunochromatography the technology used for detecting antibiotic residues from tetracyclines, beta-lactams, includind cephalexin.

Samples	Kadid preparation area	history of dried and salted camel meat. Date of preparation	Drying
Sumpres	proparation area		time
Α	Lahdeb (Bechar province)	28 Oct – 6 Nov 2022	09 days
		at ambient temperature	
В	Igli (Beni Abbes province)	4 - 19 Dec 2022 at ambient temperature	15 days
С	Tindouf province	22 - 31 Dec 2022 at ambient temperature	09 days
D	Bechar El-Djadid (Bechar prov-	5 – 17 Jan 2023	12 days
	ince)	at ambient temperature	
Ε	Timoudi (Beni Abbes province)	29 Nov – 8 Dec 2022 at ambient temperature	09 days
F	Abadla (Bechar province)	10 – 19 Jan 2023 at ambient temperature	09 days
G	Ouakda (Bechar province)	10 – 19 Nov 2022 at ambient temperature	09 days
Η	Blue area (Bechar province)	27 Nov – 9 Dec 2022 at ambient temperature	12 days
TS	Dried camel meat prepared in the	20 – 23 Feb 2023 at 25°C	03 days
	laboratory as a control sample		
TF	Fresh camel meat as a control	/	/
	sample (Bechar El Djadid market)		

 TABLE 1

 mnling and preparation bistory of dried and salted camel meat

TS: Control sample of dried camel meat prepared in the laboratory; TF: Fresh camel meat as control sample; Source: Own study.



Physicochemical	Analytical method or	References
parameters	device used	
pH (°C)	pH meter	JORA n.23 [22]
Titratable acidity	Titrimetry method (Indicator method)	AOAC [23]
Sodium chloride content (g/L)	Argentometric titration method (Mohr's method)	Soderberg [24]
Water-holding capacity of meat	The gravimetric method with application of external force (Centri-	Honikel [25]
(WHC %)	fuge at 6500rpm for 20min)	Huff-Lonergan [26]
Moisture content (%)	Direct drying method at 105°C (Thermogravimetric	JORA n.1 [27]
Total solid content (TSC %)	approach)	
Ash content (total minerals) (%)	Dry ashing procedures using muffle a furnace set at 550°C for 6	Miller-Ihli [28]
	hours	Soderberg [24]
Lipid content (%)	Soxhlet extraction method using petroleum ether	Soderberg [24]
	(Gravimetric method)	JORA n.33 [29]
Protein content (%)	Kjeldahl method for total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) determination	Soderberg [24]
		JORA n.37 [30]
Total sugar content (mg/L)	Colorimetric method	Dubois et al. [31]
		Soderberg [24]

TABLE 2Physicochemical analysis of camel measurement

TABLE 3

Bacteriological analysis of camel meat.									
Bacterial parame- ters	Culture media	Bacterial isolation technique	Temperature and incubation time	References					
TAMF	Plate Count Agar	Spread plate technique	30 and 22°C for 72 hours	JORA n.65 [32]					
Coliforms	VRBL	Pour plate technique	30°C for 24 to 48 hours (Total coliforms) 44°C for 24 to 48 hours (Fecal coliforms)	JORA n.72 [33]					
Coagulase-positive staphylococci (CoPS)	Baird-Parker agar	Spread plate technique	37°C for 24 hours	JORA n.68 [34] JORA n.14 [35]					
Sulfite-reducing Clos- tridia (SRC)	Meat-liver agar	Anaerobic culture tube	46°C for 24 to 48 hours	JORA n.51 [36]					
Fungal flora	-Rose-Bengal chlorampheni- col agar (RBC) -Sabouraud 4% chloram- phenicol dextrose agar	Spread plate technique	25°C for 3 to 5 days	JORA n.48 [37] JORA n.52 [38]					
Salmonella spp	-Selective enrichment media: RVB, and SCB. -Hektoen agar, and SS agar	Enrichment on selective broth medium, and isola- tion on selective agar me- dium (streak plate tech- nique)	41,5 and 37°C for 24 hours (Enrichment step). 37°C for 24 hours (Iso- lation on agar)	JORA n.44 [39]					
Listeria monocyto- genes	-Selective broth media: Half Fraser broth, and Fraser broth -Selective agar media: PALCAM Listeria agar	Enrichment on selective broth medium, and isola- tion on selective agar me- dium (streak plate tech- nique)	37°C for 24 hours	Benyagoub et al. [10]					
Bacillus spp	Mossel (MYP)	Pour plate technique	37°C for 24 to 72 hours	Rachedi et al. [40]					
Pseudomonas spp	Cetrimide-Nalidixic acid agar	Spread plate technique	$36 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 24 hours	Benyagoub et al. [10]					

VRBL: Violet Red Bile Lactose Agar; MYP: Mannitol Egg Yolk Polymyxin Agar; RVB: Rappaport-Vassiliadis broth; SCB: Selenite Cystine Broth; SRC: Sulfite-reducing Clostridia; RBC: Rose-Bengal chloramphenicol; TAMF: Total Aerobic Mesophilic Flora; SS agar: *Salmonella-Shigella* agar.

In this study, across the 23 antibiotics tested, we mainly focused on the five (5) antibiotics recommended by the Ceva Santé Animale Association as drugs for use in antibiotic therapy of animals : Penicillin (P 10 μ g), Amoxicillin (AMX 10 μ g), Oxytetracycline (TE 30 μ g), Erythromycin (E 15 μ g), and Co-trimoxazole (SXT 25 μ g) [10].

According to the CLSI [46] guidelines, inhibitory zone diameters in (mm) produced around

the antibiotic discs after incubation at 37°C for 18 to 24 hours were interpreted as sensitive, intermediate, or resistant.

Data analysis. The results of different experiments were expressed as the average value of two replicates. For microbiological analysis results, all colonies were counted and expressed in (n Log_{10} CFU/g and n CFU/g) depending on the microbial



parameter analyzed. The data were prepared using Excel 2016 software, in order to be more ready for processing in R statistical software (R statistics package 2023 version 4.3.1). Descriptive variables and differences in physicochemical and microbiological results between the test and control samples (two groups) were carried out using Student's t-test. While the level of significance was set at (p<0,05).

RESULTS

Physicochemical and microbiological analysis. The physicochemical and microbiological analysis results are shown in Tables 4, 5, and Figure 3.

TABLE 4
Physicochemical analysis results of dried and salted camel meat samples.

Samples	рН	TA (g/L)	Sodium chloride content (g/L)	WHC (%)	Moisture content (%)	TSC (%)	Ash content (% DW)	Lipid content (%)	Protein content (%)	Total sugar content (mg/L)	Detection of anti- biotic residues
Α	5,43	3,4	1,3	199	22,8	77,2	13,7	23	24,24	59,16	Qualitative
В	5,36	3,45	3,31	267,05	6,46	93,54	38,58	22,68	36,17	73,04	test :
С	5,14	3,63	0,09	208	14,05	85,95	3,68	76,43	3,06	28,24	All fresh/ dried
D	5,59	3,2	0,65	248	10,64	89,36	9,54	19,11	31,4	21,3	and salted camel
E	5,24	3,5	0,97	232	11,32	88,68	9,98	23,31	28	28,95	
F	5,26	3,56	0,68	226,83	10,73	89,27	9,56	15,1	28,87	32,66	meat samples
G	5,34	3,47	1,35	214,08	13,52	86,48	15,52	4,97	26,83	76,51	analyzed are
Н	5,4	3,43	0,49	265	8,9	91,1	7,12	12,08	32,52	50,6	free of the fol-
Min value	5,14	3,2	0,09	199	6,46	77,2	3,68	4,97	3,06	21,3	lowing antibiot-
Max value	5,59	3,56	3,31	267,05	22,8	93,54	38,58	76,43	36,17	76,51	ics
Mean value	5,34	3,45	1,1	232,5	12,3	87,7	13,46	24,58	26,39	46,31	(TE, AMX, P,
TS	5,45	3,38	0,15	162,52	25,34	74,66	5,78	7,63	21,73	20	E, and SXT)
TF	5,72	3	0,12	99,33	76,75	23,25	4,73	3,51	18	16,68	
Sig. level	0,301 ^{NS}	0,386 ^{NS}	0,026*	0,169 ^{NS}	0,372 ^{NS}	0,372 ^{NS}	0,069*	0,045*	0,147 ^{NS}	0,0078*	NS

A to H: Dried and salted camel meat (test samples); TS and TF: Control samples (TS: Fresh camel meat/ TF: Dried camel meat); TA: Titratable acidity; TSC: Total solid content; WHC: Water-holding capacity; TE: Tetracycline; AMX: Amoxicillin; P: Penicillin; E: Erythromycin; SXT: Co-trimoxazole; DW: Dry weight; Sig. level: Significant level; NS: No significant; * = Significant at p<0,05; Min value: Minimum value; Max value: Maximum value; Source: Own study.

Microbiological analysis results of dried and salted camel meat samples.											
Samples		MF cFU/g) 30°C		forms CFU/g) FC	Staph (n Log ₁₀ CFU/g)	SRC (spores/ 20mL)	FF (n Log ₁₀ CFU/g)	Sal (per 25g)	LM (per 25g)	<i>Bacillus</i> spp (n Log ₁₀ CFU/g)	Pseudomonas spp (CFU/g)
Α	4,32	4,27	<1	<1	<1	<1	2,48	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
В	4,23	4,02	2,48	<1	2,11	<1	3,45	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
С	6,4	6,46	4,68	3,7	4,12	21	4,66	-ve	-ve	3,23	-ve
D	4,4	4,56	2,84	<1	3,53	<1	3,5	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
E	5,18	6,48	3,19	<1	2,44	17	4,12	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
F	4,49	4,44	3,15	1,48	4,08	12	3,59	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
G	5,07	5,16	1,5	<1	4,42	09	4,17	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
н	4,75	4,72	3,08	2,15	4,27	12	3,81	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
Min value	4,23	4,02	<1	<1	<1	<1	2,48	/	/	<1	/
Max value	6,4	6,48	4,68	3,7	4,42	21	4,66	/	/	3,23	/
Mean value	4,85	5,01	2,61	0,92	3,12	8,87	3,72	/	/	0,40	/
JORA n.39	5.	,7	1	2,7-	CoPS (2,7-	1	1	-ve	/	1	/
[43]				3,7	3,7)						
TS	4,48	4,55	5,21	<1	4,38	2	2,95	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
TF	4,33	4,37	3,25	<1	6,57	<1	2,48	-ve	-ve	<1	-ve
Sig. level	0,126 ^{NS}	0,153 ^{NS}	0,311 ^{NS}	0,107 ^{NS}	0,230*	0,033*	0,046*	NS	NS	0,350 ^{NS}	NS

 TABLE 5

 Microbiological analysis results of dried and salted camel meat samples.

A to H: Dried and salted camel meat (test samples); TS and TF: Control samples (TS: Fresh camel meat/ TF: Dried camel meat); FF: Fungal flora; Sal: *Salmonella* spp; LM: *Listeria monocytogenes*; Staph: Staphylococci; SRC: Sulfite-reducing Clostridia; *L. monocytogenes*: *Listeria monocytogenes*; TAMF: Total Aerobic Mesophilic Flora; CoPS: Coagulase-Positive Staphylococci; JORA: Official Journal of People's Democratic Republic of Algeria; -ve: Negative culture of presumed isolate on selective medium; Sig. level: Significant level; NS: No significant; * = Significant at p<0,05; Min value: Minimum value; Max value: Maximum value; For SRC, 20ml of stock solution is equivalent to 2g of dried and salted camel meat sample; <1: No bacterial growth; / : No specific bacterial load; Source: Own study.





FIGURE 4 Agar-well diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar medium (Original, 2023). S.A.: *Staphylococcus aureus*; E.C.: *Escherichia coli*; (a): Sample H; (b): Sample F; (c): Sample G.







Illustration of the bacteriological analysis of dried and salted camel meat (Original, 2023).

(a): Suspected presence of Listeria bacteria on Palcam agar; (b): Staphylococci strains on Baird-Parker agar (Sample B); (c): Staphylococci strains on Baird-Parker agar (Sample D); (d): Fecal coliforms on MacConkey agar (Sample B); (e): Total and fecal coliforms on MacConkey agar (Sample D); (f): Total coliforms on MacConkey agar (Sample TF); (g): Sulfite-reducing Clostridia (Sample G); (h): TAMF on PCA medium (Sample TS); (i): Suspected presence of Salmonella sp on SS agar; (j): Suspected presence of Bacillus spp on Mossel agar (Sample F); (k): Suspected presence of Bacillus spp on Mossel agar (Sample C); (1): Fungal flora of PDA medium; (m): Tube coagulase test; (n): TAMF on PCA medium (Sample C); (o): Sulfite-reducing Clostridia (Sample TF); (p): TAMF on PCA medium (Sample E); (q): API 20E multitest (Sample TF); (r): Microscopic appearance of Bacillus spp (Gram stain); (s): Voges-Proskauer and other tests for staphylococcal isolates.

Samples	Salmonella spp	L. monocytogenes	Bacillus spp	Coagulase-posi- tive staphylococc (CoPS)	
A	-ve (Kluyvera spp)	-ve	-ve	-ve (CoPS) -ve (CoNS)	
В	-ve (Enterobacter cloacae)	-ve	-ve		
С	-ve (Serratia odorifera ; Escherichia coli)	-ve	+ve (<i>Bacillus</i> <i>cereus</i>) Mann (-); Lecith (+)	-ve CoPS	
D	-ve (Enterobacter sakazakii)	-ve	-ve	+v CoNS, VP+ (
Ε	-ve (Enterobacter sakazakii)	-ve	-ve	saprophyticus,	
F	-ve (Citrobacter freundii ; Escherichia coli)	-ve	-ve	S. epidermidis	
G	-ve (Enterobacter cloacae)	-ve	-ve		
Н	-ve (Serratia fonticola ; Escherichia coli)	-ve	-ve		
TS	-ve (Enterobacter aerogenes)	-ve	-ve	-	
TF	-ve (Enterobacter sakazakii)	-ve	-ve		

TABLE 6

CoPS: Coagulase-Positive Staphylococci; CoNS: Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci; -ve: Negative culture of presumed isolate on selective medium; +ve: Positive culture of presumed isolate on selective medium; S. saprophyticus: Staphylococcus saprophyticus; S. epidermidis: Staphylococcus epidermidis; VP+: Positive Voges-Proskauer test; Mann (-) : Negative mannitol fermentation; Lecith (+): Positive lecithinase test (Nagler's Reaction); Source: Own study.

Bacterial identification. Various biochemical identification tests made it possible to confirm the absence of presumed pathogenic bacteria, while the identification results of the isolated bacteria are shown in Table 6.

Detection of antibiotic residues. The qualitative test for the detection of antibiotic residues carried out using the agar-well diffusion method showed no inhibitory effect on the growth of E. coli and S. aureus for all samples analyzed compared to



the antibiotic susceptibility testing using antibiotic disks (Table 7, and Figures 4, 5 and 6).

In addition, the antibiotic test kit showed no trace of antibiotics in the stock solution of dried and salted camel meat samples (Figure 7). This can be explained by the absence of inhibitory agents including antibiotic residues (Tetracyclines, beta-lactams, includind cephalexin).

Antibiotic susceptibility testing results for reference bacterial strains showed that *E. coli* was resistant to co-trimoxazole, imipenem, ampicillin, amoxicillin, cefoxitin, tetracycline, and amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, while *S. aureus* was resistant to penicillin, oxacillin, cefoxitin, erythromycin, and tetracycline.



(b) FIGURE 5

Diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar medium (Original, 2023). (a): *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 25923. (b): *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922.



(a) Escherichia coli ATCC 25922

(b) Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 25923

FIGURE 6 Antibiotic susceptibility testing using the disc diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar medium (Original, 2023).





FIGURE 7 Antibiotic test kit results (Original, 2023).

TABLE 7	
Multidrug-resistant profiles of the tested reference bacterial strains	•

Reference bacterial strains	Antibiotics			
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	TE-FOX-AMC-IPM-SXT-AMP-AMX & Susceptible to FOS-C-AK-CN-NET-CAZ			
S. aureus ATCC 25923	E-TE-P-FOX-OX & Susceptible to SXT-C-OFX-RA-CIP-CN-LEV-VA-CD			
Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid; P 10µ 25µg: Co-trimoxazole; CN 10µg: C Ofloxacin; OX 5µg: Oxacillin; C Ampicillin; AK 30µg: Amikacin	reus: Staphylococcus aureus; ATCC: American Type Culture Collection; AMC 30µg: 1g: Penicillin; AMX 25µg: Amoxicillin; TE 30µg: Tetracycline; E 15µg: Erythromycin; SXT Gentamicin; FOS 50µg: Fosfomycin; CIP 5µg: Ciprofloxacin; RA 5µg: Rifampin; OFX 5µg: C 30µg: Chloramphenicol; LEV 5µg: Levofloxacin; IPM 10µg: Imipenem; AMP 10µg: n; FOX 30µg: Cefoxitin; VA 30µg: Vancomycin; NET 30µg: Netilmicine; CAZ 30µg: n; VA 30µg: Vancomycin; Source: Own study.			

DISCUSSION

Physicochemical and biochemical analyses. The pH value is an important indicator for assessing meat quality which has an impact on some factors such as meat tenderness and shelf life of the product [3].

N

The dried and salted camel meat samples analyzed showed pH values ranging from 5,14 to 5,59, and total titratable acidity ranging from 3,2g/L to 3,63g/L against pH of 5,72 and 5,45, and total titratable acidity values of 3 and 3,38g/L for TF and TS as control samples, respectively.

Benyoucef and Bouzegag [8]; Kadim et al. [12]; Benaissa [17]; Ould El hadj et al. [47]; Smili et al. [48], and Babiker and Yousif [49] reported that the pH of fresh camel meat decreases over time and moves from a pH of 6 (4 hours after slaughter) to pH values ranging from of 5,47 to 5,73 after 24 hours, respectively. These values were found to be less acidic compared to the pH of other animal species as reported by Hamani et al [50] for beef (5,58–5,74), resulting from differences in muscle fiber types, lower muscle glycogen in the meat, decreased level

of muscle glycolytic enzymes (gluconeogenesis), metabolism of the muscles, linked to the age of the animal, the breed and muscle type [3, 8, 48, 51-53]. Benlacheheb et al. [54] reported that pH can also decrease during the drying period, and then remain almost unchanged during the rest of the ripening period.

The results obtained for sodium chloride content showed values ranging from 0,09g/L to 3,31g/L, with an average value of 1,105g/L. The chloride sodium content of dried and salted camel meat samples recorded significant differences (p < 0.05) between the test and control samples (Table 4). Benlacheheb et al. [54] reported that dried and salted meat, known as El Gueddid, showed high salt content. In this study, except for sample (C), the recorded values for sodium chloride exceed those given by Amimour and Santouh [55] which were 0,11mg/L and 0,5mg/L. This difference is mainly due to the use of different amounts of salt during the salting operation of the samples. These results are in line with the report of Benyagoub and Bessadet [19] that the concentration of minerals in processed meat increased with the addition of salts and seasonings.

It should be noted that salting extends the shelf life of foods. By absorbing a large amount of free water, salt increases osmotic pressure, reduces water activity (Aw), and therefore makes the survival of microorganisms difficult [16, 56, 57].

Water absorption capacity is the ability to hold water against gravity and includes bound water, hydrodynamic water, capillary water, and physically trapped water [58]. The amount of water associated with proteins is closely related to their amino acid profile and increases with the number of charged residues [59], conformation, pH, temperature, ionic strength, and protein concentration [60, 61]. According to Smili et al. [48], water-holding capacity and pH seem highly interdependent, as phenomena associated with muscle acidification, post-mortem proteolysis, and sarcolemma alteration contribute to water release.

Amimour and Santouh [55] reported a WHC rate of 450% for the dried camel meat analyzed. This is a very high rate compared to the results obtained, which range from 199% to 267,05% with an average value of 232,49%. These results suggest that the composition and structure of dried camel meat samples, including carbohydrate content and protein distribution, may influence their ability to absorb water. This can have effects on the texture and quality of the meat by-product (Kadid). The amount of moisture content in the meat, variations in fat content, the binding ability of meat proteins, and the pH of the muscle influence the water-holding capacity and water activity of the meat [12, 62].

Although it does not provide any energy value to the food, water plays a very important role that affects the structure, appearance, and taste of foods, and their susceptibility to degradation, so its determination is therefore very important. The shelf life of a product depends on the amount of water it contains [63].

The water content of the analyzed samples varied from 6,46% to 22,8% with an average value of 12,3%, where sample (A) and control sample (TS) recorded significant water content (22,8% and 25,34%), respectively. According to Benlacheheb et al. [54], the physicochemical characteristics of El Gueddid showed that the moisture content decreased in the product during the drying period (low water activity). Amimour and Santouh [55] reported low moisture content in dried and salted camel meat (0,48% – 0,64%). The data provided by Muhammad et al. [9] on similar products prepared with camel meat such as *Kilishi* and *soye* showed moisture content of 10,3% and 36,91%, respectively.

The decrease in moisture content is due not only to the drying of the meat but also to the effect of salt added during the preparation of the dried meat [19]. The resulting moisture loss tends to concentrate the nutrients in the final products [9]. The moisture content plays a vital role in the processing Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



performance, shelf life, and quality characteristics of camel meat [3].

The results of our previous studies [10] and those obtained by Abd El-Hady et al. [2]; Muhammad et al. [9]; Ould El hadj et al. [47]; Babiker and Yousif [49], and Fakolade et al. [62] showed that the average moisture content in fresh camel meat was 79%, 73,89%, 76,77%, 75,98%, 75,64%, and 76,01%, respectively, which is similar to the result of this study. This amount of water makes this meat vulnerable to several microbial alterations [47] and thus requires preservation.

The low moisture content in Kadid is due, firstly, to the drying process that removes a large amount of water, and secondly to salting, which plays an important role in reducing water activity in foods (Salting out effect) [19].

According to Benyoucef and Bouzegag [8], the dry matter content of fresh camel meat increases with the age of the animal (23% to 25,2%). This supports the result we obtained (23,25%), and after drying, the dried and salted camel meat samples experienced an increase in dry matter by removing water (77,2% to 93,54%).

The ash content results in the samples analyzed were variable from one sample to another, a high content is recorded for sample B (38,58%), while the other samples showed that the ash content ranged from 3,68% to 15,52%. According to Nganguem [64], the total ash content of food makes it possible to estimate the level of minerals it contains. The results obtained exceed the data on ash content reported by Muhammad et al. [9] for similar products prepared with camel meat, namely Kilishi and soye (4,7% and 3,4%), respectively. The results reported by Ould El hadj et al. [47]; Fakolade et al. [62]; Babiker and Yousif [49]; Kamoun [65]; Bouras and Moussaoui [66], and Abd El-Hady et al. [2] showed that fresh camel meat contains an ash content ranging from 1,01% to 1,21%. While values ranging from 0,95% to 6,7% were reported for dried beef by Hamani et al. [50].

The high ash content in Kadid can be attributed to the salts and ingredients added during the preparation of this product [19, 67].

It should be noted that the ash content in foods can vary depending on several factors, such as production methods, and ingredients used. The amount of ash in a food can also be affected by the presence of minerals found naturally in animal tissues.

Based on dry weight (DW), the dried camel meat samples analyzed had a fat content ranging from 4,9% to 23,3% which is lower than the results reported on similar products prepared with camel meat, namely *Kilishi* and *soye* (24,7% and 29,1%), respectively [9]. While on a fresh weight (FW) basis, Kadim et al. [12]; Benaissa [17], and Babiker and Yousif [49] reported that fresh camel meat is relatively lean, containing only 0,92% to 1,01% fat.

The results given by Ould El hadj et al. [47], and Babiker and Yousif (1990) [49] showed that camel meat contains an average fat content of 1,49% and 1,41%, while Abd El-Hady et al. [2], and Kamoun [65] reported finding a value of 2,63% and 2,6%, respectively. The fat content of dried and salted camel meat samples recorded significant differences (p<0,05) between the test and control samples (Table 4).

These differences in fat content can be due to several factors, such as the difference in the method of sampling in the first place (i.e. depending on the part from which the sample was taken), feeding conditions of the animals, and husbandry practices. It should also be noted that fat content can vary depending on different parts of the meat (e.g. lean versus fatty cuts), the age of the animal, the breed, and the processing and preparation techniques used. For this, it is recommended to take these variations into account when evaluating the fat composition of camel meat [12, 17].

Samples of dried and salted camel meat showed a protein content ranging from 21,7% to 36%. These results are rather high compared to the results reported by Abd El-Hady et al. [2], Muhammad et al. [9], Kadim et al. [12], Babiker and Yousif [49], Fakolade et al. [62], Kamoun [65], and Bouzgag [68], which were between 16% and 22% (FW) protein on a fresh weight basis. It should be noted that the protein content in camel meat can vary depending on several factors, such as the age of the animal, diet, breeding conditions, and processing methods [8, 10, 19].

The total sugars content in dried and salted camel meat ranges from 0,385% to 1,53% (20mg/L – 76,51mg/L). Ould El hadj et al. [47] reported a total sugar content of 1,2%. The sugar total content of dried and salted camel meat samples recorded significant differences (p<0,05) between the test and control samples (Table 4).

The presence of total sugars in meat can be attributed to several factors. First, sugars may be naturally present in camel meat, either due to the animal's metabolism or diet. Some sugars can be present in muscle tissues as a source of energy for the animal [47]. Furthermore, sugars may be added during the Kadid preparation process, marinating, or seasoning stage. Sauces or ingredients used to flavor meat may contain added sugars, which may increase the total sugar content. Factors such as preparation method, shelf life, storage conditions, temperature, moisture content, and the presence of enzymes can affect the breakdown of sugars and therefore their concentration in meat [69, 70].

According to Si et al. [3], and Suliman et al. [52], the chemical composition and quality characteristics of camel meat vary according to age, sex, muscle type, breed type, feeding conditions, and site on the carcass.

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin

FEB

The results of the detection of antibiotic residues through various qualitative tests showed that all samples analyzed were free of antibiotic residues. This is probably due to compliance with strict withdrawal periods (21 days) recommended by veterinarians after antibiotic treatment to ensure that milk, and meat are kept out of the food supply (banning camel slaughter and milking), and is also consistent with WHO guidelines on the use of antimicrobials in food-producing animals [71]. This reinforces the strong trend of camel meat as one of the safe foods with multiple health claims [5, 72, 73].

Antibiotic susceptibility testing of reference bacterial strains on MH agar was used as a comparison tool to determine the nature of antibiotic residues present in the sample. Despite the negative qualitative results for antibiotic residues, the results of antibiotic susceptibility testing were similar to previous studies [74, 75].

Microbiological analysis. Dried and salted camel meat samples were subjected to microbiological analysis against two control samples according to national regulations.

The microbiological analysis results indicate that the total flora for three samples (C, E, and G) exceeds the load recommended by the national and international standard set at 5 Log_{10} CFU/g. The aerobic plate count is a measure of the microbial quality of the meat. Any exceeding of this load could be a spoilage indicator [10, 76].

From the results obtained for TAMF and fungal flora loads, the samples showed a TAMF loading ranging from 4,02 to 6,48 Log_{10} CFU/g where samples C, F, G, and H revealed a higher loading of total aerobic bacteria compared to that reported by Hamad [77] who recorded a microbial load of 1,79 Log_{10} CFU/g of camel carcass at El Oued slaughterhouse. The results of the fungal flora of dried and salted camel meat samples recorded significant differences (p<0,05) between the test and control samples (Table 5).

This microbial load can arise for several reasons, namely : slaughtering conditions and the method of skinning camels, the conditions for transporting meat samples and preparing dried meat [55].

The results of the search and enumeration of coliform counts revealed a fecal coliform load ranging from 1,48 to 3,7 Log_{10} CFU/g, where 7 samples including the control samples were fecal coliforms-free, while one sample (C) exceeded the threshold set by national regulations. This is a significant contaminant load compared to data reported by Hamad [77], who recorded an overall total coliform contamination load of 0,84 Log_{10} CFU/g in camel carcasses.

Contamination of carcasses appears to be inevitable during slaughter operations, especially during evisceration, by workers' hands, equipment,

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



water used, or by possible rupture of the gastric reservoir [78].

According to our results, 7/10 (i.e. 70%) of the samples were free of fecal coliform 'EC'. However, samples C, F, and H were contaminated with an *E. coli* load of 3,7; 1,48, and 2,15 Log₁₀ CFU/g, respectively. A load that falls within the limit set by national regulations [43] requires an acceptable limit level (m) i.e. 2,69 Log₁₀ CFU/g and a risk contamination level (M) not exceeding 3,7 Log₁₀ CFU/g. Hamad [77], revealed a contamination level of 0,5 Log₁₀ CFU/g for camel carcass.

Fecal coliform contamination indicates poor hygienic conditions and refers in particular to fecal contamination and thus defects occurring during evisceration or unsanitary behavior of handlers during the preparation of Kadid [19, 79].

Sulfite-reducing anaerobes are generally Clostridia, whose spores are found in outdoor environments and during the slaughter of animals. They are considered as test bacteria to evaluate the health quality of foodstuffs of animal origin. They are sometimes used as an indicator of fecal contamination, which is the cause of food infections [80], but their presence does not always indicate this origin [81].

According to the results obtained, 6/10 (i.e. 60%) of the samples were contaminated with sulfitereducing Clostridia spores loads ranging from 2 to 21 spores/20mL (the volume of sample analyzed is equivalent to 2g of dried and salted camel meat), with no Bacillus spp except for sample C which had a B. cereus load of 3,23 Log₁₀ CFU/g most likely due to the low quality of Dhane (traditional butter) added to the ground camel meat according to the preparation recipe followed by families in the province of Tindouf (Far southwestern Algeria) [19]. For statistical analysis, dried and salted camel meat samples recorded significant differences (p<0,05) for the SRC parameter between the test and control samples (Table 5). Amimour and Santouh [55]; Hamad [77], and Boudadi et al. [82] reported the absence of sulfite-reducing Clostridia spores. Since meat drying is often done outdoors, this could justify contamination with sulfite-reducing Clostridia spores which are indicators of telluric contamination [83, 84, 85].

The fecal contamination detected was probably a result of a lack of hygiene in handling, and storage conditions [10, 86].

Staphylococci present a real risk to the consumer when the load in the product is very high, but also poses a potential risk when the contaminated product is stored in conditions that allow their spread [78]. Their presence may indicate poor storage conditions in terms of handling and hygiene of handlers because they are bacteria frequently found on the skin and mucous membranes of humans [87, 88].

The isolation and identification results of staphylococci revealed contamination of the analyzed samples with *S. saprophyticus*, and *S. epidermidis* as coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS) with loads ranging from 2,11 to 4,42 Log₁₀ CFU/g, compared to a load of 6,57 Log₁₀ CFU/g for the TF control sample. This bacterial load supports the finding of Benyagoub et al. [10], and Benlacheheb et al. [54], where staphylococci and lactic acid bacteria were the most abundant microorganisms in the product.

Staphylococci results of dried and salted camel meat samples recorded no significant differences (p>0,05) between the test and control samples (Table 5).

This depends not only on the initial contamination levels and the temperature conditions under which the carcasses are stored [89] but also on the preparation of the dried meat. These results support the data reported by Amimour and Santouh [55]; Hamad [77], and Boudadi et al. [82] who noted the absence of coagulase-positive staphylococci.

Loads of coliforms and CoNS showed a significant decrease or even the absence of these bacterial contaminants in some samples of dried and salted camel meat compared to fresh camel meat. This supported the findings of Benlacheheb et al. [54], where any coliforms already present at low loads will then be eliminated after the post-salting stage of the process.

The results of the search for pathogenic bacteria showed that all samples were free of *Salmonella* and *L. monocytogenes*, where the isolated bacterial strains were identified as follows : *Kluyvera* spp, *Enterobacter cloacae*, *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacter sakazakii*, *Serratia fonticola*, *Serratia odorifera*, *Citrobacter freundii*, and *Enterobacter aerogenes*. This met the recommendation of national regulations [43] that require its absence in 25g of meat.

The results also showed the absence of *Pseudomonas* spp. These results are similar to previous data on fresh camel meat [10, 90] where the method of preparing this traditional product, the ingredients, the drying stage, and the availability of natural antagonists against pathogenic species could be factors contributing to the elimination of these pathogens [10, 19, 91, 92].

Except for the FF and SRC parameters, no significant differences (p>0,05) were recorded for all other microbial parameters (TAMF, coliforms, staphylococci, *Salmonella* spp, *L. monocytogenes*, *Bacillus* spp, and *Pseudomonas* spp) between the test and control samples (Table 5).

It should be noted that some of the bacterial parameters analyzed in this study do not have a specific bacterial load reported in the national regulation. However, this regulation [43] indicates that a sample is considered toxic if the bacterial load of the sulfite-reducing anaerobic bacteria, and

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



Bacillus cereus is equal to or greater than 5 Log_{10} CFU per gram or mL of sample tested.

Although some of the samples analyzed were contaminated with coliforms falling within the maximum limit set by national regulations, with no pathogenic bacteria, the product had good preservation ability and could contribute to food security and food safety in arid regions, because from the point of view of economic profitability, camel meat presents a competitive advantage compared to other meats due to their low production cost [73].

Limitation and suggestions. This study was limited by analyzing some samples of dried and salted camel meat prepared in three provinces located in southwestern Algeria. We suggest analyzing other samples from the southern provinces of Algeria, where different camel breeds are available and their meat could affect the quality of dried and salted camel meat. Furthermore, the detection of antibiotic residues was limited by qualitative testing. These data need to be further confirmed using HPLC analysis.

CONCLUSION

The analyzed dried and salted camel meat samples showed interesting physicochemical and biochemical characteristics, as the method of preparing this type of meat product not only contributed to the good preservation of the product (storage at room temperature) but also ensured the promotion of its nutritional and sensory quality. The absence of pathogenic bacteria namely : *S. aureus* (CoPS), *Pseudomonas* spp, *L. monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella* spp, as well as the negative result for antibiotic residues, indicates that the hygienic quality of the analyzed samples complies with national regulations.

Improving the quality of this product depends not only on the stages of its preparation but also on the quality of the raw material, for which pre- and post-mortem factors must be carefully monitored from the slaughterhouse to the butchers.

This product and many others form part of a rich cultural heritage of southern Algeria, which must be preserved and enhanced on an industrial scale, to become one of the pillars of food security in arid regions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff of Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar for providing the facilities and materials required for this study. **Declarations. Funding.** This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Availability of data and materials. All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

Standard of reporting. STORBE guidelines were followed.

Ethical approval. This study complies with national ethical standards.

REFERENCES

- Abdel Gader, A.M., Alhaider, A.A. (2016) The unique medicinal properties of camel products: A review of the scientific evidence. J. Taibah Univ. Med. Sci. 11(2), 98–103.
- [2] Abd El-Hady, E.A., Alfheeaid, H.A., Abd El-Razik, M.M., Althwab, S.A., Barakat, H. (2022) Nutritional, Physicochemical, and organoleptic properties of camel meat burger incorporating unpollinated Barhi date fruit pulp. Int. J. Food Sci. 2022, 11. Article ID 4581821.
- [3] Si, R., Na, Q., Wu, D., Wu, X., Ming, L., Ji, R. (2022) Effects of age and muscle type on the chemical composition and quality characteristics of bactrian camel (*Camelus bactrianus*) meat. Foods, 11(7), 1021.
- [4] Brahimi, Z., Senoussi, A., Faye, B. (2020) Camel meat marketing and camel meat marketplace in the Algerian northern Sahara – case of the region of Souf. Emir. J. Food Agric. 32(4), 319–327.
- [5] Bougherara, H., Dib, A.L., Boukhechem, S., Bouaziz, A., Kadja, L., Ghougal, K., Oubira, I., Chari, Z., Kerrour, N.S., Lamri, M., Lakhdara, N., Bererhi, E. (2023) Valorization of camel meat and meat products in the world and in Algeria. Biol. Life Sci. Forum. 22, 11.
- [6] Gebre-Mariam, A. (1991) Livestock and economic differentiation in North East Ethiopia: The Afar case. Nomadic Peoples, White Horse Press. 29, 10–20.
- [7] Abouheif, M.A., Abdo, G.M., Basmaeil, S.M., Alsobayel, A.A. (1989) Identification of the preference patterns of different breeds of sheep for consumption in Saudi Arabia. Asian-Australas J. Anim. Sci. 2(2), 129–132.
- [8] Benyoucef, M.T., Bouzegag, B. (2006) Results of study on the quality of the meat of two camel breeds (Targui and Sahraoui) in Ouargla and Tamanrasset-Algeria. Alger. Ann. Agron. 27(1–2), 37–53.



- [9] Muhammad, B.F., Mahmud, A.B., Mustapha, A. (2011) Effect of processing method on composition and consumer acceptability of camel (*Camelus dromedarious*) meat and beef. Nige. J. Anim. Prod. 38(1), 135–144.
- [10] Benyagoub, E., Ahmed Lali, M., Lamari, N. (2022) Quality of fresh camel meat (*Camelus dromedarius*) sold at retail houses in Bechar city (Southwest of Algeria): Physicochemical and hygienic approaches. Asian J. Dairy Food Res. 41(3), 264–271.
- [11] [Kadim, T., Mahgoub, O. (2008) Effect of age on quality and composition of one-humped camel longissimus muscle. Int. J. Postharvest Technol. Innov. 1(3), 327–336
- [12]Kadim, I.T., Mahgoub, O., Al-Marzooqi, W., Khalaf, S.K., Raiymbek, G. (2013) Composition, quality and health aspects of the dromedary (*Camelus dromedarius*) and bactrian (*Camelus bacterianus*) camel meats: A review. Agric. Mar. Sci. 18, 7–24.
- [13] Fguiri, I., Ayeb, N., Arroum, S., Dbara, M., Hammadi, M., Khorchani, T. (2021) Defrosting camel meat and microbiological quality Viande Prod. Carnés. 1–4. Article ID: VPC-2021-3742.
- [14] Jouve, J.L. (1990) Food microbiology and meat sectors. Viande Prod. Carnés. 11, 207–213.
- [15] Cartier, P., Moevi, I. (2007) Update on the quality of carcasses and meat from large cattle. Edition. Interbev, Paris-France. Pp.70.
- [16] Berkel, B.M.V., Boogaard, B.V.D., Heijnen, C. (2005) Smoking. *In*: Preservation of fish and meat, Goffau-Markusse, M. (Ed.), Agrodok-series 12.86 (3rd edn.), Edition. Agromisa foundation, Wageningen, Netherlands, p.90. Retrieved from: http://www.agromisa.org/wp-content/uploads/Agrodok-12-Preservation-of-fish-andmeat sample.pdf. (Accessed date: 30/10/2023)
- [17] Benaissa, A. (2011) Study of the microbiological quality of camel and sheep meat preserved according to different methods. Master's thesis, Merbah Kasdi University of Ouargla (Algeria). Pp.61.
- [18] Laranjo, M., Talon, R., Laukova, A., Fraqueza, M.A., Elias, M. (2017) Traditional meat products: Improvement of quality and safety. J. Food Qual. 2017, 2873793.
- [19] Benyagoub, E., Bessadet, C. (2023) A survey on dried and salted camel meat (Kadid): A traditional meat by-product of southern Algeria. NutraFood. 2, 528–536.
- [20] Ministry of Commerce (2006) Order of December 25, 2005 making the sampling and sample preparation method mandatory for testing meat and meat products. J.O.R.A. 27, Pp.28.
- [21] Ministry of Commerce (2014) Order of May 28, 2014 making the method of sample preparation, stock suspension and decimal dilutions mandatory for microbiological analysis. J.O.R.A. 38, Pp.30.

- [22] Ministry of Commerce (2006) Order of January 15, 2006 requiring a method for measuring the pH of meat and meat products. J.O.R.A. 23, Pp.26.
- [23] AOAC. Official Method of Analysis. (2000) Acidity (titratable) of fruit products using indicator method. Fruits and fruit products. Association of Official Agricultural Chemists. Pp.11.
- [24] Soderberg, D. (1999) Meat and meat products. General referee reports. J. AOAC Int. 82(2), 434–438.
- [25] Honikel, K.O. (1998) Reference methods for assessment of physical characteristics of meat. Meat Sci. 49(4), 477–457.
- [26] Huff-Lonergan, E. (2006) Water-holding capacity of fresh meat. American Meat Science Association Fact Sheet, Pork Information Gateway, p.8. https://porkgateway.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/water-holding-capacity-of-freshmeat.pdf. (Accessed date: 25/10/2023)
- [27] Ministry of Commerce (2006) Order of October 19, 2005 requiring a method for determining the moisture content in meat and meat products. J.O.R.A. 1, Pp.28.
- [28] Miller-Ihli, N.J. (1992) Chromium. *In*: Hazardous metals in the environment. Stoeppler M (Ed). Techniques and instrumentation in analytical chemistry (Germany). 12, 373–404.
- [29] Ministry of Commerce (2006) Method for determining total fat content in meat and meat products. J.O.R.A. 33, Pp.32.
- [30] Ministry of Commerce (2006) Order of April 26, 2006 making the method for determining the total nitrogen content in meat and meat products mandatory. J.O.R.A. 37, Pp.23.
- [31] Dubois, M., Gilles, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Rebers, P.A., Smith, F. (1951) A colorimetric method for the determination of sugars. Nature. 168, 167.
- [32] Ministry of Commerce (2019) Order of September 11, 2019 making the horizontal method mandatory for the enumeration of microorganisms by counting colonies at 30°C using the spread plate technique. J.O.R.A. 65, Pp.27.
- [33] Ministry of Commerce (2017) Order of October 5, 2017 making the horizontal method mandatory for the enumeration of coliforms using colony-count technique. J.O.R.A. 72, Pp.24.
- [34] Ministry of Commerce (2014) Order of May 21, 2014 mandating the method for the enumeration of coagulase-positive staphylococci '*Staphylococcus aureus* and other species'. J.O.R.A. 68, Pp.31.
- [35] Ministry of Commerce (2015) Order of July 31, 2014 mandating the method using rabbit plasma and fibrinogen agar medium for the enumeration of coagulase-positive staphylococci. J.O.R.A. 14, Pp. 34.

- [36] Ministry of Commerce (2013) Order of July 29, 2012 making the horizontal method mandatory for the enumeration of sulfite-reducing bacteria growing under anaerobic conditions. J.O.R.A. 51, Pp.28.
- [37] Ministry of Commerce (2015) Order of June 2, 2015 making the horizontal method mandatory for the enumeration of yeasts and molds by counting colonies in products with a water activity greater than 0,95. J.O.R.A. 48, Pp.31.
- [38] Ministry of Commerce (2015) Order of August 4, 2015 making the horizontal method mandatory for the enumeration of yeasts and molds by counting colonies in products with a water activity of 0,95 or less. J.O.R.A. 52, Pp.31.
- [39] Ministry of Commerce (2017) Order of February 5, 2017 mandating the horizontal method of searching for *Salmonella* spp. J.O.R.A. 44, Pp.24.
- [40] Rachedi, K., Bekhouche, S., Boughachiche, F., Zerizer, H. (2021) Microbiological control of foodstuffs served in collective catering. Alger. J. Nutr. Food Sci. 1(3), 22–30.
- [41] Tille, M.P. (2018) Bailey & Scott's diagnostic microbiology, 14th ed. Elsevier. Pp.1136.
- [42] Benyagoub, E., Benchaib, S.M., Zaalan, A., Bendada, F. (2018) Prevalence and isolation of pathogenic strains responsible for some infections in Bechar's community. Bangladesh J. Med. Sci. 19(3), 404–413.
- [43] Ministry of Commerce (2017) Interministerial order of October 4, 2016 setting the microbiological criteria for foodstuffs. J.O.R.A. 39, Pp.32.
- [44] French Agency for Food Safety (Agence Française de Sécurité Sanitaire des Aliments AFSSA) (2003) Detection of residual antibiotic activity in muscles. The four plate test. Ref. LMV/90/01, version 4.
- [45] Baazize-Ammi, D., Dechicha, A.S., Tassist, A., Gharbi, I., Hezil, N., Kebbal, S., Morsli, W., Beldjoudi, S., Saadaoui, M.R., Guetarni, D. (2019) Screening and quantification of antibiotic residues in broiler chicken meat and milk in the central region of Algeria. Rev. Sci. Tech. – Off. Int. Epiz. 38(3), 863–877.
- [46] Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (2020) Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing M100, 30th edn. CLSI, Wayne Pennsylvania, US. Pp.258.
- [47] Ould El hadj, M.D., Bouzgag, B., Bouras, A., Moussaoui, S. (2002) A comparative study of some chemical and physicochemical characteristics among individuals Sahraoui species at different ages. Rech. Agron. 6(10), 95–102.
- [48] Smili, H., Gagaoua, M., Becila, S., Ider, M., Babelhadj, B., Adamou, A., Picard, B., Ouali, A., Boudjellal, A. (2014) Camel meat drip loss. Viande Prod. Carnés. 1–9. Article ID: VPC-2014-30-5-5.

- [49] Babiker, S.A., Yousif, O.Kh. (1990) Chemical composition and quality of camel meat. Meat Sci. 27, 283–287.
- [50] Hamani, Z., Baboulla, D., Mehdani, H. (2019) A comparative microbiological study of beef preserved in two ways: freezing and drying 'traditional method'. Proceedings of the 1st International Seminar on Biology, 6–8 December 2015 at Bechar (Algeria), Appl. Biol. Sahar. Areas. 3(S1), 66.
- [51] Boudjellal, A., Becila, S., Coulis, G., Herrera-Mendez, C.H., Aubry, L., Lepetit, J., Harhoura, K., Sentandreu, M.A., Ait-Amar, H., Ouali, A. (2019) Is the pH drop profile curvilinear and either monophasic or polyphasic ? Consequences on the ultimate bovine meat texture. Afr. J. Food Sci. Res. 7(1), 1–10.
- [52] Suliman, G.M., Alowaimer, A.N., Hussein, E.O.S., Ali, H.S., Abdelnour, S.A., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Swelum, A.A. (2019) Chemical composition and quality characteristics of meat in three one-humped camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) breeds as affected by muscle type and post-mortem storage period. Animals. 9(10), 834.
- [53]Kaneko, G. (2021) Impact of pre-mortem factors on meat quality: An update. Foods. 10(11), 2749.
- [54] Benlacheheb, R., Becila, S., Sentandreu, M.A., Hafid, K., Boudechicha, H-R., Boudjellal, A. (2019) El Gueddid, a traditional Algerian dried salted meat: Physicochemical, microbiological characteristics and proteolysis intensity during its manufacturing process and ripening. Food Sci. Technol. Int. 25(4), 347–355.
- [55] Amimour, M., Santouh, I. (2013) Study of the physicochemical and microbiological quality of dried and salted camel meat 'El kedid'. Master's thesis, University of Jijel (Algeria). Pp.63.
- [56] Girard, J., Valin, C. (1988) Meat and meat product technology. Edition. Lavoisier, France. Pp.280.
- [57] Roux, J-L. (1994) Food preservation: Compare methods and techniques. Edition. Tec & Doc, Lavoisier, France. Pp.752.
- [58] Moure, A., Sineiro, J., Dominguez, H., Parajó, J.C. (2006) Fonctionality of oilseed protein products: A review. Food Res. Int. 39(9), 945– 963.
- [59] Kuntz, I.D.Jr., Kauzmann, W. (1974) Hydratation of proteins and polypeptides. Adv. Protein Chem. 28, 239–345
- [60] Damodaran, S. (1997) Food protiens: An overview. *In*: S. Damodaran S (Ed), Food protiens and their applications, 1st Ed. Taylor & Francis, New York. Pp.24.
- [61] Kinsella, J.E. (1979) Functional properties of soy proteins. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 56(3), 242– 258.

- [62] Fakolade, P.O., Afolabi, K.D., Ekeocha, A.H., Olajide, R. (2014) Comparative assessment of the quality of Kundi, dried meat products produced using traditional and improved methods. J. Agric. Prod. Technol. 3, 8–14.
- [63] Pearson, D. (1976) Chemical Analysis of Foods. 7th Edition, Edinburgh, Churchhill Livingstone, New York, USA. Pp.575.
- [64] Nganguem, M. (2010) A physicochemical approach to te preservation power of salt: the case of the salting of *Pseudotolithus senegalensis*. Editions Universitaires Européennes (EUE). Pp.80.
- [65]Kamoun, M. (1995) Camel meat: Production, quality aspects and processing capabilities. International Center for Advanced Mediterranean Agronomic Studies (CIHEAM). Options Méditerranéennes. Series B. 13, 105–130.
- [66] Bouras, A., Moussaoui, S. (1995) Contribution to the physicochemical and biochemical characterization of camel meat 'Sahraoui population'. Agricultural engineer thesis, INFS/AS Ouargla (Algeria). Pp.40.
- [67] Fakolade, P.O., Omojola, A.B. (2008) Proximate, pH value and microbiological evaluation of 'Kundi' (dried meat) product from beef and camel meat. Proceedings conference on International Research on Food Security, Natural Resource Management and Rural Development, University of Hohenheim (Germany). October 7–9.
- [68] Bouzgag, B. (2002) Contribution to the characherization of meat production for two breed of camels 'Sahraoui and Targui' through surveys in two southern regions 'Ouargla and Tamanrasset'. Master's thesis, National Higher School of Agronomy (ENSA), Algiers (Algeria). Pp.112.
- [69] Nethra, P.V., Sunooj, K.V., Aaliya, B., Navaf, M., Akhila, P.P., Sudheesh, C., Mir, S.A., Shijin, A., George, J. (2023) Critical factors affecting the shelf life of packaged fresh red meat – A review. J. Meas. Food. 10, 100086.
- [70] Abril, B., Bou, R., Garcia-Pérez, J.V., Benedito, J. (2023) Role of enzymatic reaction in meat processing and use of emerging technologies for process intensification. Foods. 12(10), 1940.
- [71] Aidara-Kane, A., Angulo, F.J., Conly, J.M., Minato, Y., Silbergeld, E.K, McEwen, S.A., Collignon, P.J. (WHO guideline Development Group) (2018) World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines on use of medically important antimicrobials in food-producing animals. Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control. 7, 7.
- [72] Baba, W.N., Rasool, N., Selvamuthukumara, M., Maqsood, S. (2021) A review on nutritional composition, health benefits, and technological interventions for improving consumer acceptability of camel meat: an ethnic food of Middle East. J. Ethn. Foods. 8, 18.

- [73] Djenane, D. (2023) Camel meat, a meat of the future? Viande Prod. Carnés. 3911, 1–10. Article ID: VPC-2023-3911.
- [74] Benyagoub, E. (2022) Monitoring some physicochemical and bacteriological parameters and sensory analysis of *Juniperus phoenicea* L. leaves-supplemented goat milk: A southwestern Algerian traditional flavored and fermented product. Asian J. Dairy Food Res. 41(2), 132–141.
- [75] Razni, D., Rouisset, L., Benyagoub, E. (2019) Chemical indices and antibacterial properties of some essential oils of *Apiaceae* and *Lauraceae* spices in southwest of Algeria. Asian J. Dairy Food Res. 38(2), 105–113.
- [76] Tegegne, H.A., Berhanu, A., Getachew, Y., Serda, B., Nolkes, D., Tilahun, S., Sibhat, B. (2019) Microbiological safety and hygienic quality of camel meat at abattoir and retail houses in Jigjiga city, Ethiopia. J. Infect. Dev. Ctries. 13(3), 188–194.
- [77] Hamad, B. (2009) Contribution to the study of bacterial and fungal surface contamination of camel carcasses at El Oued slaughterhouse. Master's thesis, Mentouri University of Constantine (Algeria). Pp.76.
- [78] Oumokhtar, B., Berrada, H., Ameur, N., El Fakir, S. (2008) Microbiological analysis of minced beef marketed in Fes, Morocco. Technol. Lab. 12, 4–10.
- [79] Basel, M.R., Richter, E.R., Banwart, J.G. (1983) Monitoring microbial numbers in food by density centrifugation. App. Environ. Microbiol. 45(3), 1156–1159.
- [80] Joffin, C., Joffin, J-N. (2003) Food microbiology. Ed. Centre régional de documentation pédagogique CRDP de Bordeaux, France. Pp.210.
- [81] Catsaras, M. (1991) Food hygiene in the armed forces. Role of the veterinary biologist. Bull. Acad. Vét. France. 64, 375–384.
- [82] Boudadi, S., Bouldjadj, N., Kedjbour, S. (2013) Study of the physicochemical and microbiological quality of dried and salted beef 'El kadid'. Master's thesis, University of Jijel (Algeria). Pp.51.
- [83] Benyagoub, E., Ayat, M., Dahan, T., Smahi, K. (2013) Level of control of the hygienic quality of camel milk (*Camelus dromedarius*) in South West Algeria and its impact on security. Peak J. Food Sci. Technol. 1(4), 53–60.
- [84] Benyagoub, E., Ayat, M. (2015) Biochemical, physicochemical and microbiological properties of camel raw milk marketed in Bechar city (South-west of Algeria) hygienic and safe consumers approach. Microbes Health. 4(1), 14–18.

- [85] Briand, P. (2007) Opinion of the French food safety agency on the request to create reference documents on microbial flora, which could be, used as process hygiene indicators. Maisons-Alfort, French Agency for Food Safety (AFSSA). Pp.8.
- [86] Benyagoub, E., Ayat, M., Belarbi, D. (2014) Microbiological control of UHT sterilized milk and milk products and effects on consumers' health in Western Algeria. Microbes Health, 3(1), 21–24.
- [87] Trémolières, J., Serville, Y., Jacquot, R., Dupin, H. (1980) Nutrition basics. Séries. Manuel d'alimentation humaine. Tome 1: Les bases de l'alimentation. Edition. E.S.F, Paris-France. Pp.553.
- [88] Barthe, C., Cardinal, P. (2002) Food microbiology: Guidelines for interpreting analytical results. 3rd Ed. Edition. Quebec centre for food and animal health inspection (CQIASA), Quebec, Canada. Pp.52.
- [89] Alvarez, C., Koolman, L., Whelan, M., Moloney, A. (2022) Effect of pre-saughter practises and early post-mortem interventions on sheep meat tenderness and its impact on microbial status. Foods. 11(2), 181.
- [90] Bendada, F.A., Abdellah, M., Benyagoub, E., Ahmed Lali, M., Lamari, N. (2022) Analysis of microbiological risks and effects of refrigeration on the evolution of the bacteriological and the physicochemical quality of camel meat from Bechar (South-Western Algeria). South Asian J. Exp. Biol. 12(2), 148–156.
- [91] Rahimi, E., Ameri, M., Kazemeini, H.R. (2010) Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter* species isolated from raw camel, beef, lamb, and goat meat in Iran. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 7(4), 443–447.
- [92] Abrhaley, A., Leta, S. (2018) Medicinal value of camel milk and meat. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 46(1), 552–558.

Received:	02.12.2023
Accepted:	13.12.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Elhassan Benyagoub

Architecture and Environmental Heritage Laboratory (Archipel) Mohammed Tahri University of Bechar Bechar 08000 – Algeria

e-mail: benyagoub.elhassan@univ-bechar.dz benyagoubelhassan@gmail.com



THE BENEFIT EFFECT OF SALICYLIC ACID ON PHYSIO-BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERS OF FABA BEAN (Viciafaba L.) UNDER LEAD STRESS

Naima Layachi^{1,2}, Zine Kechrid^{2,*}

¹Laboratory of Organic Chemistry and Interdisciplinary, Mohamed Cherif Messaadia University, Souk-Ahras, Algeria ²Laboratory of Biochemistry and Microbiology Application, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Sciences, BadjiMokhtar University, Annaba, Algeria

ABSTRACT

Lead (Pb) is a widespread toxic heavy metal that usually causes deleterious effects on plant growth and development. Salicylic acid (SA) is a natural signaling molecule, which participates in the regulation of physiological processes in plants such as growth, photosynthesis and other metabolic processes .A protective role of salicylic acid is well known under abiotic stress conditions. Therefore, the objective of this study was undertaken to evaluate the effect of different concentrations of salicylic acid(0.5, 1mM) a promising plant development regulatory substance in alleviating the deteriorative effect of lead at 50 µM on faba bean(Vicia faba L.). The results revealed that Pb stressed faba bean plants. In oter words, Pb supplementation decreased the growth characteristics (plant height, root length, root and shoot fresh weights) and photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, carotenoids). Meanwhile, it increased malondialdehyde(MDA), Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂),osmotic solutes(proline and total soluble sugars) and antioxidant enzymes activities including ascorbate peroxidase and catalase. However, the data provided evidence that SA reduced the deleterious effect of Pb stress on faba bean plants. So, it might play a key role in providing stress tolerance by stimulation of the enzymatic antioxidant system as a stress protection mechanism.

KEYWORDS:

Viciafaba .L, lead, salicylic acid, antioxidants, osmotic, malondialdehyde

INTRODUCTION

Like all living beings, plants are immobile in their nature, and they are frequently expoed to various abiotic and biotic stresses, of which heavy metals stress represents one of the most damagining abiotic stress.Lead (Pb), a heavy metal with characteristic toxic actions, has attracted considerable attention for its widespread distribution and potential risk to the environment [1]. it gets easily absorbed and accumulated in various parts of the plant.The high accumulation of Pb in plant causes negative effects on nutrient uptake, photosynthesis, redoxbalance,antioxidant enzymes, respiration, membrane permeability, and protein synthesis [2, 3]. In addition, Pb toxicity in plants can cause phenotypic changes, including reduction in the root length, blackening of roots, plant growth retardation, yellowing of leaves, and disturbance of water balance [4].

Based these negative effects, plants have developed different adaptive mechanisms, and enzymatic antioxidants system plays important role in this challenge. For example, ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and catalase (CAT) help regulate cellular redox homeostasis at safe levels

[5,6,7].However, under Pb stress, excessive production reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide anion (O^-), hydroxyl ion (OH) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) disturbs this redox equilibrium [8], where ROS rapidly attack and oxidize biomolecules such as proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, leading to plant cell death and growth retardation [9,10]. Clearly, plant response to Pb stress is a key research problem,and a viable and cost-effective method to eliminate Pb from the environment is needed.

Phytohormones have gained much attention over the last two decades due to their wide use in plants against many abiotic stresses[11]. Among them, salicylic acid (SA) is a very simple phenolic compound plays an important role in induction of plant defense against a variety of abiotic stresses through morphological, physiological and biochemical mechanisms. The positive effects of salicylic acid in mitigating stress are attributed to nutrient uptake improve, photosynthesis repair, membrane protection, it can interplays also with ROS signal pathways and reduces the effects oxidative stress[12,13].Many studies indicated that SA alleviates heavy metal toxicity such as Hg, Cd and Pb in plants [14,15,16,17,18].In addition, the signalling



roles of SA depend on many factors, including application mode, the exogenous and endogenous levels of SA and plant species [19].

The faba bean or broad bean, *Vicia fabaL.*, is considered one of the oldest leguminous crops in the world. Globally, it is the third most important feed grain legume [20]. Its highly nutritional seeds are a crucial source of proteins, fiber, vitamins, minerals and carbohydrates for human consumption. According to the agricultural requirements, the main fields of interest in faba bean cultivation are yield improvement, disease resistance, abiotic stress tolerance and seed quality [21].

Thus, the present study was carried out to explore the potential role of SA in the mitigation of Pb toxicity.So, several parameters related to growth (plant height, root length, root and shoot fresh weights), photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, carotenoids), oxidative stress (MDA andH₂O₂), antioxidant system (CAT and APX activities), osmotic solutes(Pro, TSC)were evaluated upon exposing faba bean plants to Pb stress with and without SA treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Material and Growth Conditions. The present study was carried out at the department of biology. Mohamed Cherif Messaadia university Souk-Ahras, Seeds of Viciafaba .L were germinated in the dark at 25°C for 7 days.After germination, plants were transferred to separated containers for hydroponics. Three-liter pots were used, containing ten plants each. Plants were grown in a controlled climate room at 24±2 °C and 50 % relative humidity, with a photoperiod of 16 h and a light intensity of 150µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The hydroponic medium consisted of Hoagland nutrient solution [22]. The medium was continuously aerated (100 ml min⁻¹) and replaced every 3 days. At three-leave stage, the seedlings were treated by different concentrations of lead (Pb)as lead nitrate (PbNO₃) and salicylic acid (SA). The treatments were comprised of (i) 0 mM SA + 0 μ M Pb (control), (ii) 0.5 mM SA + 0 μ M Pb, (iii) 1 mM SA + 0 m Pb, (iv) 0 mM SA $+ 50\mu$ M Pb, (v) 0.5 mM SA + 50 μ M Pb and (vi) 1 mM SA + 50 μ M Pb.The experiment was laid out in a completely randomized design with three replicates. Finally, the plant leaves were collected for analysis after 14 days of application of Pb and/or SA.

Analytical methods. Growth parameters determination. The plants were washed, fresh weight was determined using sensitive electrical balance and roots and shoots separated. Root and shoot lengths were measured by using meter scale.

Chlorophyll and carotenoid determination. Contents of assimilation pigments (chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, carotenoids) were determined infresh weight of leaves by sample homogenization with 80% acetone. The absorbance was measured at 663 nm for chlorophyll a, 645 nm for chlorophyll b and 470 nm for carotenoids. Pigments contents were calculated using the equations of Lichtenthaler and Wellburn (1983) [23].

Osmotic solutes determination. The proline in leaves was estimated by the method of Bates *et al.* (1973). [24].The absorbance was measured spectrophotometerically at 520 nm and toluene was used as blank. The method of Bradford (1976) [25]. was employed for the estimation of protein in leaves. The absorbance was measured at 595 nm using bovine serum albumin as blank.The soluble sugars were determined by the method of Schields and Bunnet (1960) [26]. using anthrone in sulfuric acid.

Lipidperoxidationmeasurement. The level of lipid peroxidation was measured by estimating malondialdehyde (MDA, a product of lipid peroxidation) depending on the method of Heath and Packer (1968) [27]. Leaf samples (0.5 g) were homogenized in 3mL 5% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and the homogenate was centrifuged at $10000 \times g$ for 10min. Then, the supernatant (1mL) was mixed with 4mL thiobarbituric acid (TBA) reagent (0.5% of TBA in 20% TCA), heated in a water bath at 95°C for 30min andquickly cooled by transferring in ice bath. After that, MDA content was measured by observing the difference in absorbance at 532nm using an extinction coefficient of 155mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹ and expressed as nmol of MDAg⁻¹ FW.

Hydrogen peroxide content estimation. Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) levels were determined according to Sergiev *et al.* (1997) method. [28]. Leaf tissue (0.5 g) was homogenized in an ice bath with 5 mL 0.1% (w/v) TCA. Subsequently the homogenate was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 15 min and 0.5 mL of the supernatant was added to 0.5 mL potassium phosphate buffer (10 mM, pH 7.0) and 1 mL potassium iodide (KI) (1 M). The absorbance of the supernatant was measured at 390 nm, the concentration of H₂O₂ was obtained using a standard curve and expressed as μ mol g⁻¹ FW.

Enzymes extraction and activities determination. Leaves (0.5g, fresh weight) were homogenized in 50 Mm potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.6. Then, the homogenized samples were centrifuged at $12000 \times g$ for 20 min and the supernatant crude extract was used for the estimation of both catalase (CAT) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activities [29]. CAT activity was determined as a decrease in absorbance at 240 nm for 3 min following decomposition of H₂O₂ [30]. The reaction mixture 3 ml contained 50mM phosphate buffer pH 7.2, 15 mM H₂O₂and 100 µl of crude enzyme extract. Enzyme



was quantified using the extinction coefficient 39400 M⁻¹cm⁻¹. Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity was determined following the decrease of ascorbate and measuring the change in absorbance at 290 nm for 3 min in 3 ml of a reaction mixture containing 50 Mm potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.2, 0.5 Mm ascorbic acid, H₂O₂ and 100 μ l of crude enzyme extract [31]. Enzyme was quantified using the extinction coefficient 2800M⁻¹cm⁻¹.

Statistical analysis. The results presented are the means \pm standard error of three replicates (n = 3). The results were statistically confirmed by analysis of variance (ANOVA). Tukey's HSD test was applied to find means are significantly different from each other at $p \le 0.05$ level using Minitab 16Statistical Software.



FIGURE 1

Effect of salicylic acid on the Root Length (A), Shoot Length(B), Fresh Weight Root (C) and Fresh Weight Shoot (D)of Faba bean (*Vicia faba*.L).Plantswere grown under lead stress condition. Error bars = Standard error of means (S.E.M.), Different letters superscript indicate a significant difference at p ≤ 0.05.





FIGURE 2

Effect of salicylic acid on chlorophyll a (A), chlorophyll b (B) and carotenoids (C) of Faba bean (*Vicia faba*.L). Plants were grown under lead stress condition. Error bars = Standard error of means (S.E.M.), Different letters superscript indicate a significant difference at $p \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

Growth parameters. Lead significantly reduced all the detected growth parameters in the faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) compared as compared to control plants (Figure 1). However, SA treatment ameliorated the growth parameters. The combination of Pb stress with SA led to a significant growth improvement compared to the Pb treatment alone. This increase remained important for the plants treated with 0.5 mM SA, which demonstrated an increases



30.27%, 26.56%, 33.85%, 29.89%, for the root length, shoot length, fresh weight root and fresh weight shoot respectively compared to the Pb plants.

Photosynthetic pigments. Lead stress affected the content of photosynthetic pigments in Vicia faba *L*.Chlorophyll a,Chlorophyll b and carotenoid contents, which were decreased by 52.16%, 19.53%, and 20.45% under Pb toxicity (Figure 2A,B,C). The combination of pb stress with SA treatment at 0.5 mM led a significant improvement in the content of all photosynthetic pigments parameters compared to Pb application.

Malondialdehyde(MDA) and Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) contents. Under Pb stress, the accumulation of MDA and H₂O₂ were increased in the leaves of plants (Figure 3 A, B), However, application of SA (0.5 and 1mM) inhibited the accumulation of MDA andH₂O₂ and the effects were augmented more significant with 1mM SA than 0.5 mM SA .Application of 0.5mM SA and 1mM SA reduced MDA by 17.45%, 35.84% andH₂O₂by25.72%, 38.94%respectively, compared to Pb application.



FIGURE 3

Effect of salicylic acid on MDA content (A) and H₂O₂ content (B) of Faba bean (*Vicia faba*.L). Plants were grown under lead stress condition. Error bars = Standard error of means (S.E.M.), Different letters indicate a significant difference at p ≤ 0.05.





FIGURE 4

Effect of salicylic acid on proline content(A) and total soluble sugars content(B) of Faba bean (*Vicia faba*.L). Plants were grown under lead stress condition. Error bars = Standard error of means (S.E.M.), Different letters indicate a significant difference at p ≤ 0.05.

Osmolytes Contents. Under unstressed conditions, the accumulation of osmolytescontents (Proline and total soluble sugars) were increased depending to the levels of SA (Figure 4 A,B). In other words, application of 0.5mM and 1mM SA increased Pro (48.99%, 85.83%) and TSC (27.65%, 46.36%) respectively, compared to control plants. Meanwhile, under Pb stress, plants showed higher levels of proline and total soluble sugars. The addition of SA further increased proline and total soluble sugars. In other words, application of 0.5 mM and 1mM SA enhanced the levels of proline by 12.4% and 22.51% and total soluble sugars by 15.06% and 19.58% respectively as compared to Pb alone.

Antioxidant Enzymes Activity. Under unstressed conditions, the antioxidant enzymes activities (CAT and APx) were enhanced according to the levels of SA (Figure 5 A,B)). In other words, Application of 0.5 mM and 1mM SA increased the activity of APx by (18.03%, 25.25%) and CAT by (20.79%, 37.23%) respectively, compared to control plants. Pb stress in plants enhanced the activity of antioxidant enzymes and the application of AS enhanced antioxidant enzymes activities further. The variations were most notable with 1mM SA for all enzymes activities. In that case the activity of APx was risen by (21,45%, 42,95%)and the activity of CAT was augmented by (32.25%, 40,97%) respectively, in plants either treated with 0,5 mM or 1mM SA, compared to plants treated with Pb separately.

DISCUSSION

Lead (Pb) is an example of a hazardous heavy metal, which it can be easily absorbed and accumulated in different plant tissues and organs [32]. The findings indicated that under Pb stress, all the detected growth parameters were significantly reduced in the faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) compared to the untreated control plants. These findings are similar to those documented in several plant species, such as wheat [33]., Kidney Bean [34]., and mustard plants [35]. This reduction in growth could be attributed in part to the obstruction in nutrient uptake from the



roots due to interference of absorbed Pb with metabolic and biochemical processes associated with normal growth and development of the plants [36,37].

Application of SA improved growth parameters by mitigating adverse effects of Pb [38,39,40,41].SA induces cell division within the apical meristem of seedling resulting in increased plant growth [42]. In addition, application of SA might be beneficial in improving plant growth or in alleviating the toxic effects of Pb by restoring of hydraulic conductance and stimulating of antioxidant response.

Photosynthetic pigments are crucial components of photosynthesis and play important role in plant growth and the yield of dry matter. In this investigation, Pb stress resulted in a significant reduction of chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and carotenoid content in the leaves of faba bean plant. There is an explanation that Pb exerts a negative effect on photosynthesis by disrupting the ultrastructure of chloroplasts and preventing the synthesis of essential pigments, prevents the Calvin cycle and the electron transport chain, and induces a CO₂ deficiency by closing the stomatal pores [43]. The reduction in photosynthetic pigments under Pb stress might be also attributable to MDA accumulation or it probably due to the photosynthesis inhibition and the interaction of Pb with the sulfhydryl group in the enzymes involved in chlorophyll biosynthesis. Furthermore, Pb there by impeding the absorption of essential elements, such as Mg, Fe, or the substitution of divalent cations with this metal.

However, it was clear found that the application of SA improved the accumulation of photosynthetic pigments under Pb stress condition. SA plays an interesting role for reducing chlorophyll degradation by regulating antioxidant molecules synthesis, suppressing genes involved in the senescence process, up-regulating chlorophyll biosynthesis genes, and down-regulating chlorophyll degradation genes [44].



FIGURE 5

Effect of salicylic acid on ascorbate peroxidase (A) and catalase (B) activities of Faba bean(*Vicia faba*.L). Plants were grown under lead stress condition. Error bars = Standard error of means (S.E.M.), Different superscript letters indicate a significant difference at p ≤ 0.05.



To cope with abiotic stress, plants accumulate certain compatible solutes whic are known as osmolytes such as soluble sugars and proline to protect the cellular machinery. The higher accumulation of proline under Pb stress was attributed to enhanced activities of proline biosynthesis enzymes,(ornithine aminotransferase and pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase), as well as due to inhibition of proline degradation enzymes,(proline oxidase and proline dehydrogenase) [45]. Moreover, our study showed that SA stimulates proline accumulation and total soluble sugars in Pb stressed plants. Increasing the amount of proline and sugars in the plants would lead to resistance of leaf water loss and increase plant growth during stress. On the other hand, The accumulation of proline in the plant reduces damage to the membrane and proteins[46]. Proline, in addition to osmotic regulation, regulates cell pH, regulates oxidation and regeneration, and considers as a source of carbon and reduced nitrogen.[47].

The oxidative reactions induce a series of reactions that it lead to membrane peroxidation. The faba bean plants in this experiment had a high MDA and H2O2levels under Pb-stress treatment, which could result in the breakdown of plant cells under the ROS directly attack the biomolecules and polyunsaturated fatty acids including linoleic and lenolenic. Then, it forms complex mixture of lipid hydroperoxides and decreases the permeability of the membranes. The results confirmed the previous findings that Pb toxicity in plants increases lipid peroxidation and H₂O₂ production [48]. However, SA treatment inhibited MDA accumulation and H₂O₂, which it might be due to increased levels of proline, the accumulation of total soluble sugar, and increased antioxidant enzymes activities, as these inhibit ROS overproduction [49,33].

Plants have a defensive system of antioxidants to protect against ROS. These antioxidants play a pivotal role in the alleviation of abiotic stresses. For instance, CAT is a heme-containing enzyme and reduces the overproduction of H₂O₂ under oxidative stress through converting H₂O₂ into H₂O, whereas APX, the first enzyme of the AsA-GSH cycle, catalyzes H₂O₂ by utilizing AsA as an electron donor [50]. The findings indicated that CAT and APX activities increased when faba bean plants were exposed to Pb stress. In that case, the increased activity of these enzymes caused a tolerance rise of the faba bean plant to Pb by modulating the relative quantities of ROS. Interestingly, application of SA further increased these enzymes activities under Pb toxicity. These results might be related to the binding of SA with enzyme protein. Alamri et al. (2018) reported that SA can directly scavenge generated ROS and/or indirectly induce the redox potential of antioxidant enzymes.

In conclusion, Pb stress affected growth, pigment contents and other physiobiochemical attributes and antioxidant responsesof faba bean (*Vicia fa-baL*.). Whereas, application of SA solution contributed to a reduction of the injurious effect of Pb on the previous parameters. Thus, the protective role of SA mainly includes the stimulation of antioxidant enzyme activities, reducing the level of lipid peroxidation and regulation of osmotic adjustment through the accumulation of osmotic solutes (Proline, total soluble sugars) in Pb-stressed plants. It was also found that the effectiveness of SA in inducing Pb stress tolerance depends upon the concentration of SA supplemented.

REFERENCES

- Aliasgharpour, M. (2020) Trace elements in human nutrition (II) an update. International Journal of Preventive Medicine. 11(1), 11-12.
- [2] Shahid, M., Dumat, C., Pourrut, B., Sabir, M., Pinelli, E. (2014a) Assessing the effect of metal speciation on lead toxicity to Vicia faba pigment contents. J. Geochem. Explor. 144, 290-297.
- [3] Tang, L., Hamid, Y., Liu, D., Shohag, M.J.I., Zehra, A., He, Z. (2020) Foliar application of zinc and selenium alleviates cadmium and lead toxicity of water spinach–Bioavailability/cytotoxicity study with human cell lines. Environ. Int. 145, 106122.
- [4] Sharma, P., Dubey, R.S. (2005) Lead toxicity in plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology. 17, 35-52.
- [5] Afzal, J., Wang, X. ,Saleem, M., Sun, H., Hussain, S., Khan, I. (2021) Application of ferrous sulfate alleviates negative impact of cadmium in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Biocell. 45, 1631-1649.
- [6] Amna, B., Ali, M., Azeem, A., Qayyum, A., Mustafa, G., Ahmad, M.A. (2021) Bio-fabricated silver nanoparticles: A sustainable approach for augmentation of plant growth and pathogen control. Sustainable Agriculture Reviews. 53, 345-371.
- [7] Yasmin, H., Bano, A., Wilson, N.L., Nosheen, A., Naz, R., Hassan, M.N. (2021) Drought tolerant Pseudomonas sp. showed differential expression of stress responsive genes and induced drought tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Physiol. Plant. 174, 13497.
- [8] Ma, J., Saleem, M.H., Ali, B., Rasheed, R., Ashraf, M.A., Aziz, H., Ercisli, S., Riaz, S., Elsharkawy, M.M., Hussain, I, Alhag, S.K., Ahmed, A.E., Vodnar, D.C., Mumtaz, S., Marc, R.A. (2022) Impact of foliar application of syringic acid on tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) under heavy metal stress-insights into nutrient uptake, redox homeostasis, oxidative stress, and antioxidant defense. Front Plant Sci. 13, 950120.



- [9] Finkel, T., Holbrook, N.J. (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature. 408, 239-247.
- [10] Kaminiski, K.A., Bonda, T.A., Korecki, J., Musial, W.J. (2002) Oxidative stress and neutrophil activation the two keystones of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int. J. Cardiol. 86, 41-59.
- [11] Sytar, O., Kumari, P., Yadav, S., Brestic, M., Rastogi, A. (2019) Phytohormone priming: Regulator for heavy metal stress in plants. J. Plant Growth Regul. 38, 739-752.
- [12] Herrera-Vásquez, A., Salinas, P., Holuigue, L. (2015) Salicylic acid and reactive oxygen species interplay in the transcriptional control of defense genes expression. Front Plant Sci. 6,171.
- [13]Xu, E., Brosché, M. (2014) Salicylic acid signaling inhibits apoplastic reactive oxygen species signaling. BMC Plant Biology. 14, 155.
- [14] Safari, F., Akramian, M., Salehi-Arjmand, H., Khadivi, A. (2019) Physiological and molecular mechanisms underlying salicylic acid-mitigated mercury toxicity in lemon balm (Melissa officinalis L.). Ecotoxic Environ. Safety.183, 109542.
- [15] Wang, C.S., Wang, P., Hou, J., Qian, J., Ao, Y., Lu, J., Li, L. (2011) Salicylic acid involved in the regulation of nutrient elements uptake and oxidative stress in Vallisneria natans (Lour.) Hara under Pb stress. Chemosphere. 84, 136-142.
- [16] Wei, T., Lv, X., Jia, H., Hua, L., Xu, H., Zhou, R., Zhao, J., Ren, X., Guo, J. (2018) Effects of salicylic acid, Fe (II) and plant growth-promoting bacteria on Cd accumulation and toxicity alleviation of Cd tolerant and sensitive tomato genotypes. J. Environ. Manag. 214, 164-171.
- [17] Kohli, S.K., Handa, N., Sharma, A., Gautam, V., Arora, S., Bhardwaj, R., Alyemeni, M.N., Wijaya, L., Ahmad, P. (2018) Combined effect of 24-epibrassinolide and salicylic acid mitigates lead (Pb) toxicity by modulating various metabolites in *Brassica juncea* L. seedlings. Protoplasma. 255, 11-24.
- [18] Guo, J., Zhou, R., Ren, X., Jia, H., Hua, L., Xu, H., Lv, X., Zhao, J., Wei, T. (2018) Effects of salicylic acid, Epi-brassinolide and calcium on stress alleviation and Cd accumulation in tomato plants. Ecotoxic. Environ. Saf. 157, 491-496.
- [19]Khan, M.I.R., Fatma, M., Per, T.S., Anjum, N.A., Khan, N.A. (2015) Salicylic acid-induced abiotic stress tolerance and underlying mechanisms in plants. Front Plant Sci. 6, 462.
- [20] Singh, A.K., Bhatt, B.P., Upadhyaya, A., Kumar, S., Sundaram, P.K., Singh, B.K., Chandra, N., Bharati, R.C. (2012) Improvement of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) yield and quality through biotechnological approach: a review. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 11, 15264-15271.

- [21] Gnanasambandam, A., Paull, J., Torres, A., Kaur, S., Leonforte, T., Li, H., Zong, X., Yang, T., Materne, M. (2012) Impact of molecular technologies on faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) breeding strategies. Agronomy. 2,132-166.
- [22] Hoagland, D.R., Arnon, D.J. (1959) The waterculture method of growing plants without soil. Calif. Agric. Exp. Stn. Circ. 347, 26–29.
- [23] Lichtenthaler, H.K., Welburn, A.R. (1983) Determinations of total carotenoids and chlorophylls "a" and "b" of leaf extracts in different solvents. Biochem. Soc. Transact. 11, 591-597.
- [24] Bates, L., Waldan, L., Teare, M. (1973) Rapid determination of free proline under water stress studies. Plant and Soil. 39, 205-207.
- [25] Bradford, M.M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72, 248-254.
- [26] Schields, R., Burnett, W. (1960) Determination of protein bound carbohydrate in serum by a modified anthrone method. Anal. Chem. 32, 885-886.
- [27] Heath, R.L., Packer, L. (1968) Photoperoxidation in isolated chloroplasts. I. Kinetics and stoichiometry of fatty acid peroxidation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 125(1), 189-198.
- [28] Sergiev, I., Alexieva, V., Karanov, E. (1997) Effect of spermine, atrazine and combination between them on some endogenous protective systems and stress markers in plants. Comptes Rendus de l'Académie Bulgare des Sciences. 51, 121-124.
- [29] Loggini, B., Scartazza, A., Brugnoli, E., Navari-Izzo, F. (1999) Antioxidative defense system, pigment composition and photosynthetic efficiency in two wheat cultivars subjected to drought. Plant Physiology. 119, 1091-1099.
- [30] Cakmak, I., Horst, W. (1991) Effect of aluminium on lipid peroxidation, superoxide dismutase, catalase and peroxidase activities in root tip of soybean (*Glycine max*). Plant Physiology. 83, 463-468.
- [31] Nakano, Y., Asada, K. (1981) Hydrogen Peroxide is scavenged by Ascorbate-specific Peroxidase in Spinach Chloroplasts. Plant Cell and Physiology. 22, 867-880.
- [32] Nas, F.S., Ali, M. (2018) The effect of lead on plants in terms of growing and biochemical parameters: a review. MOJ Eco. Environ. Sci. 3(4), 265-268.
- [33] Alamri, S.A.D., Siddiqui, M.H., Al-Khaishany, M.Y., Ali, H.M., Al-Amri, A., AlRabiah, H.K. (2018) Exogenous application of salicylic acid improves tolerance of wheat plants to lead stress. Adv. Agric. Sci. 6, 25-35.

EB

- [34] Hashem, H.A., El-Sherif, N.A. (2019) Exogenous jasmonic acid induces lead stress tolerance in Kidney Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) by changing amino acid profile and stimulating antioxidant defense system. Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. 12(3), 345-353.
- [35] Hasanuzzaman, M., Matin, M.A., Fardus, J., Hasanuzzaman, M., Hossain, M.S., Parvin, K. (2019) Foliar application of salicylic acid improves growth and yield attributes by upregulating the antioxidant defense system in *Brassica campestris* plants grown in lead-amended soils. Acta Agrobot. 72(2), 1765
- [36] Verma, S., Dubey, R.S. (2003) Lead toxicity induces lipid peroxidation and alters the activities of antioxidant enzymes in growing rice plants. Plant Science. 164, 645-655.
- [37] Chen, J., Zhu, C., Li, L.P., Sun, Z.Y., Pan, N.B. (2007) Effects of exogenous salicylic acid on growth and H₂O₂⁻ metabolizing enzymes in rice seedlings under lead stress. J. Environ. Sci.19(1), 44-49.
- [38] Sahu, G.K., Kar, M., Sabat, S.C. (2002) Electron transport activities of isolated thylakoids from wheat plants grown in salicylic acid. Plant Biology. 4, 321-328.
- [39] Venkatesh, J., Park, S.W. (2014) Role of Lascorbate in alleviating abiotic stresses in crop plants. Botanical Studies. 55, 38.
- [40] Rahmani, I., Ahmadi, N., Ghanati, F., Sadeghi, M.M. (2015) Effects of salicylic acid applied pre- or post-transport on post-harvest characteristics and antioxidant enzyme activity of gladiolus cut flower spikes. New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science. 43, 294-305.
- [41]Liu, Z., Ding, Y., Wang, F., Ye, Y., Zhu, C. (2016) Role of salicylic acid in resistance to cadmium stress in plants. Plant Cell Reports. 35, 719-731.
- [42] Shakirova, F.M., Bezrukova, M.V., Yuldashev, R.A., Fatkhutdinova, R.A., Murzabaev, A.R. (2013) Involvement of lectin in the salicylic acid–induced wheat tolerance to cadmium and the role of endogenous ABA in the regulation of its level. Doklady Biological Sciences. 448, 49-51.
- [43] Ahmad, M.S.A., Hussain, M., Ijaz, S., Alvi, A.K. (2008) Photosynthetic performance of two mung bean (Vignaradiata) cultivars under lead and copper stress. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 10, 167-172.
- [44] Altaf, M.A., Shahid, R., Ren, M.X., Altaf, M.M., Khan, L.U., Shahid, S., Jahan, M.S. (2021) Melatonin Alleviates Salt Damage in Tomato Seedling: A Root Architecture System, Photosynthetic Capacity, Ion Homeostasis, and Antioxidant Enzymes Analysis. Sci. Hortic. 285, 110145.

- [45] Misra, N., Saxena, P. (2009) Effect of salicylic acid on proline metabolism in lentil grown under salinity stress. Plant Sci. 177, 181-189.
- [46] Mehta, S.K., Gaur, J.P. (1999) Heavy-metal-induced proline accumulation and its role in ameliorating metal toxicity in *Chlorella vulgaris*. New Phytologist. 143, 253-259.
- [47] Rosa, M., Prado, C., Podazza, G., Interdonato, R., González, J.A., Hilal, M., Prado, F.E. (2009) Soluble sugars-metabolism, sensing and abiotic stress: A complex network in the life of plants. Plant Signaling Behavior. 4, 388-393.
- [48] Shahid, M., Dumat, C., Pourrut, B., Silvestre, J., Laplanche, C., Pinelli, E. (2014^b) Influence of EDTA and citric acid on lead-induced oxidative stress to *Viciafaba*roots. J. Soils Sediments. 14, 835-843.
- [49] Zouari, M., Ahmed, C.B., Zorrig, W., Elloumi, N., Rabhi, M., Delmail, D., Rouina, B.B., Labrousse, P., Abdallah, F.B. (2016) Exogenous proline mediates alleviation of cadmium stress by promoting photosynthetic activity, water status and antioxidative enzymes activities of young date palm (*Phoenix dactyliferaL.*). Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 128, 100-108.
- [50] Garg, N., Manchanda, G. (2009) ROS generation in plants: boon or bane?. Plant Biosyst. 143, 81-96.

Received:	05.12.2023
Accepted:	13.12.2023

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Zine Kechrid

Laboratory of Biochemistry and Microbiology Application BadjiMokhtar University Annaba – Algeria

e-mail: kechridzine@yahoo.fr



A Amel, A. Amel, C. Amel, M.	3355 3332 3355	Amrani, L. K. Ayache, A.	3343 3317
B Baali, B. Bairi, A. Belkebir, H. M.	3343 3343 3317	Benyagoub, E. Bouacha, M. I. Boumelik, A.	3370 3317 3317
C Chahinez, A. Chang, CY.	3293 3305	Chen, YH.	3305
D David, R.	3332	Djilali, B.	3293
E Eddine, O. S.	3355		
H Hamida, Y. I. Hayat, D.	3343 3293	Hsu, HT.	3305
K Kawter, D.	3293	Kechrid, Z.	3387
L Layachi, N. Lee, CH. Leila, M.	3387 3305 3332	Li, Y. Lu, YJ.	3305 3305
M Mammeri, A. Mohamed, K.	3370 3355	Mohamed, T. Mounira, R.	3332 3355
N Nadjette, K.	3355	Nouha, K.	3355
S Shie, JL. Smili, C.	3305 3343	Soual, R.	3343
W Wafa, R.	3355		
Y Yuan, MH.	3305		

SUBJECT INDEX

A air pollutant Algae Blooms	3305 3317		3387 3343
B Biochemical parameters bio-insecticides	3343 3332	Bouhamdane Dam	3355
C Camelus dromedarius CCP Chemical pesticide	3370 3293 3332	Chlorophyll Coastline	3317 3317
D Dried and salted camel meat (Kadid)	3370	Drimia maritima	3343
F fertility	3332	Food	3293
G Google Earth Engine	3317	Growth	3355
H HACCP Hematological parameters	3293 3343	Hygiene	3293
I insecticide	3332		
L lead	3387		
M malondialdehyde meals microbiological quality	3387 3293 3370	Microbiological risks Monitoring	3293 3317
N Nanorod molecular sieve	3305		
O Octahedral manganese cryptomelanes osmotic	3305 3387	Oxidative stress	3332, 3343
P photo-thermal-catalytic reaction photo-thermo-catalyst	3305 3305	physicochemica Phytochemistry	3370 3343
R rats	3332	Reproduction	3355
S salicylic acid <i>Sander Lucioperca</i> Southwestern Algeria	3387 3355 3370	Summer suspended matter	3317 3317
T thermoelectric material	3305		

V Viciafaba .L

3387Von Bertalanffy parameters3355

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



FEB – GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

General

FEB accepts original papers, review articles, short communications, research abstracts from the entire sphere of environmental-chemistry,-biology,microbiology,- technology, -biotechnology andmanagement, furthermore, about residue analysis/ and ecotoxicology of contaminants.

Acceptance or no acceptance of a contribution will be decided, as in the case of other scientific journals, by a board of reviewers. Papers are processed with the understanding that they have not been published before (except in form of an abstract or as a part of a published lecture, review or thesis);that they are not under consideration for publication elsewhere; that their publication has been approved by all coauthors, if any, as well as- tacitly or explicitly- by the responsible authorities at the institute where the work has been carried out and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in either the same or another language, without the consent of the copyright holders.

Language

Papers must be written in English. Spelling may either follow American (Webster) or British (Oxford) usage but must be consistent. Authors who are less familiar with the English language should seek assistance from proficient colleagues in order to produce manuscripts that are grammatically and linguistically correct.

Size of manuscript

Review articles should not exceed 30 typewritten pages. In addition up to 5 figures may be included. Original papers must not exceed 14 typewritten pages. In addition up to 5 figures may be included. Short-Communications should be limited to 4 typewritten pages plus not more than 1 illustration. Short descriptions of the authors, presentation of their groups and their research activities (with photo) should together not exceed I typewritten page. Short research abstracts should report in a few brief sentences (one-fourth to one page) particularly significant findings. Short articles by relative newcomers to the chemical innovation arena highlight the key elements of their Master and PhDworks in about I page.

Book Reviews are normally written in-house, but suggestions for books to review are welcome.

Preparation of manuscript

Dear authors,

FEB is available both as printed journal and as online journal on the web. You can now e-mail your manuscripts with an attached file. Save both time and money. To avoid any problems handling your text please follow the instructions given below:

When preparing your manuscripts have the formula K/SS (Keep It Simple and Stupid) in mind. Most word processing programs such as MS-Word offer a lot of features. Some of them can do serious harm to our layout. So please do not insert hyperlinks and/or automatic cross-references, tables of contents, references, footnotes, etc.

1. Please use the standard format features of your word processor (such as standard.dot for MS Word). 2. Please do not insert automatisms or secret link-ups between your text and your figures or tables. These features will drive our graphic department sometimes mad.

3. Please only use two fonts for text or tables

"Times New Roman" and for graphical presentations "Arial".

4. Stylesheets, text, tables and graphics in shade of grey

5. Turn on the automatic language detection in English (American or British)

6. Please - check your files for viruses before you send them to us!!

Manuscripts should be uploaded on our website prt-parlar.de

Thank you very much!

Fresenius Environmental Bulletin



STRUCTURE OF THE MANUSCRIPT

Title page: The first page of the manuscript should contain the following items in the sequence given: A concise title of the paper (no abbreviations). The names of all authors with at least one first name spelled out for every author. The names of Universities with Faculty, City and Country of all authors.

Abstracts: The second page of the manuscript should start with an abstract that summarizes briefly the contents of the paper (except short communications). Its length should not exceed 150-200 words. The abstract should be as informative as possible. An extended repetition of the paper's title is not considered to be an abstract.

Keywords: Below the Summary up to 6 key words have to be provided which will assist indexers in cross-indexing your article.

Introduction: This should define the problem and, if possible, the frame of existing knowledge. Please ensure that people not working in that particular field will be able to understand the intention. The word length of the introduction should be 150 to 300 words.

Materials and methods:

Please be as precise as possible to enable other scientists to repeat the work.

Results: Only material pertinent to the subject must be included. Data must not be repeated in figures and tables.

Acknowledgements: Acknowledgements of financial support, advice or other kind of assistance should be given at the end of the text under the heading "Acknowledgements". The names of funding organisations should be written in full.

References: Responsibility for the accuracy of references rests with the authors. References are to be limited in number to those absolutely necessary. References should appear in numerical order in brackets and in order of their citation in the text. They should be grouped at the end of the paper in numerical order of appearance. Abbreviated titles of periodicals are to be used according to Chemical or Biological Abstracts, but names of lesser known journals should be typed in full. References should be styled and punctuated according to the following examples:

ORIGINAL PAPERS:

l. Author, N.N. and Author, N.N. (Year) Full title of the article. Journal and Volume, first and last page.

BOOK OR PROCEEDING:

2. Surname, N., Surname, N.N., Surname, N.N., Surname, N. (Year) Title of the contribution. In: Title of the book or proceeding. Volume, Publisher, City, first and last page

DOCTORAL THESIS:

3. Author, N.N. (Year) Title of the thesis, University and Faculty, City

UNPUBLISHED WORK:

Papers that are unpublished but have been submitted to a journal may be cited with the journal's name followed by "in press". However, this practice is acceptable only if the author has at least received galley proofs of his paper. In all other cases reference must be made to "unpublished work" or "personal communication".

Discussion and Conclusion: This part should interpret the results in reference to the problem outlined in the introduction and of related observations by the author/s or others. Implications for further studies or application may be discussed. A conclusion should be added if results and discussion are combined.

Corresponding author: The name of the corresponding author with complete postal address